Aus dem Institut für Arbeits-, Sozial- und Umweltmedizin der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf Direktor: Univ.-Prof. Dr. med. Peter Angerer

How to increase acceptance of digital mental health services among students and future healthcare providers?

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Public Health der Medizinischen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

> vorgelegt von Pia Hüter 2024

Als Inauguraldissertation gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

gez.: Dekan: Prof. Dr. med. Nikolaj Klöcker Erstgutachter: Prof. Dr. sc. hum. Adrian Loerbroks Zweitgutachterin: Prof. Dr. med. Dr. PH. Andrea Icks

Parts of this dissertation were published:

Braun, P., Schwientek, A.K., Angerer, P., Guthardt, L., Icks, A., Loerbroks, A., & Apolinário-Hagen, J. (2023). Investigating information needs and preferences regarding digital mental health services among medical and psychology students in Germany: A qualitative study. *Digital Health*, *9*, 20552076231173568. doi: 10.1177/20552076231173568

Braun, P., Drüge, M., Hennemann, S., Nitsch, F. J., Staeck, R., & Apolinário-Hagen, J. (2022). Acceptance of e-mental health services for different application purposes among psychotherapists in clinical training in Germany and Switzerland: Secondary analysis of a cross-sectional survey. *Frontiers in Digital Health*, *4*, 840869. doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2022.840869

Braun, P., Atik, E., Guthardt, L., & Schückes, M., & Apolinário-Hagen, J. (2023). Barriers and facilitators to a blended cognitive behavioral therapy (bCBT) program for depression and anxiety based on experiences of university students: A qualitative study. *JMRI Formative Research*, *7*(1), e45970. doi: 10.2196/45970

Zusammenfassung

Studierende weisen besonders häufig Symptome psychischer Erkrankungen wie Angststörungen und Depressionen auf. Oft bleiben diese jedoch unbehandelt aufgrund fehlender Ressourcen, langer Wartezeiten oder begrenzter Flexibilität standardisierter Verfahren. Die jüngsten Fortschritte im Bereich der digitalen Gesundheit, einschließlich der Entwicklung von digitalen Gesundheitsangeboten für psychische Erkrankungen, bieten hier innovative Lösungen für die oben genannten Zugangsprobleme. Trotz der gut dokumentierten Wirksamkeit solcher Angebote bleibt ihre Akzeptanz aufgrund mangelnder Kenntnis oder allgemeiner Skepsis jedoch sowohl bei Patient:innen als auch bei Gesundheitsfachkräften begrenzt. Zur Behebung mangelnden Wissens, wurden akzeptanzfördernde Interventionen wie zielgruppenspezifische Informationsstrategien vorgeschlagen. In dieser kumulativen Dissertation werden verschiedene methodologische Ansätze angewendet, um Faktoren zu erforschen, die die Akzeptanz solcher digitalen Gesundheitsangebote sowohl fördern als auch behindern können, um darauf basierend Informationsstrategien für potenzielle Nutzer:innen (d.h. Studierende) und zukünftige Gesundheitsfachkräfte zu entwerfen. Die erste qualitative Studie (Studie 1) zielte darauf ab, Informationspräferenzen zu digitalen Gesundheitsangeboten unter n = 21 Medizin- und Psychologiestudierenden aus der Perspektive von Nutzer: innen explorativ zu erforschen. In der quantitativen Studie (Studie 2) wurde der Fokus auf die Rolle der zukünftigen Verordner:innen gesetzt, indem die Akzeptanz verschiedener digitaler Gesundheitsangebote für unterschiedliche Anwendungszwecke unter n = 216 Psychotherapeut:innen in Ausbildung untersucht wurde. In der dritten Studie wurden die Daten aus Interviews mit n = 102 Studierenden herangezogen, die als Patient:innen an einem verzahnten Psychotherapie-Programm teilnahmen. Der Fokus lag hier auf der Exploration von Faktoren, die mit der Nutzung eines digitalen Gesundheitsangebots für Depressionen und Angststörungen assoziiert sein könnten. Insgesamt legen die Ergebnisse nahe, dass Studierende und zukünftige Gesundheitsfachkräfte noch begrenztes Wissen über sowie Erfahrungen mit digitalen Gesundheitsangeboten haben. Trotzdem zeigt sich eine positive Einstellung und Offenheit für die Nutzung solcher Angebote. Um die jeweiligen Zielgruppen zu erreichen, scheinen Bildungsumgebungen wie Universitäten oder Ausbildungseinrichtungen am geeignetsten zu sein. Die Ergebnisse der drei Studien liefern eine wichtige Grundlage, um basierend auf identifizierten personen- und interventionsspezifischen Faktoren akzeptanzfördernde, zielgruppengerechte Interventionen zu entwerfen und zu implementieren.

Summary

University students are especially susceptible to be experiencing symptoms of common mental disorders (CMDs), such as anxiety and depression. However, they often do not seek treatment due to limited resources of psychological counseling, long waiting times or limited flexibility of standardized programs. Recent progress in digital health, including the establishment of digital mental health services (dMHSs), provide innovative approaches to the handling of CMDs. However, despite their well-documented effectiveness, their adoption remains limited due to a lack of awareness and general skepticism among both patients and healthcare professionals (HCPs). To close this knowledge gap, acceptance-facilitating interventions (AFIs) such as recipient-targeted information strategies have been proposed to provide trustworthy information targeting doubts, possibly increasing acceptance and actual uptake of dMHSs. Within this cumulative dissertation, various methodological approaches are applied to explore factors that could both facilitate as well as impede the dissemination and uptake of dMHSs to design effective information strategies for both potential users (i.e. students) and future HCPs. The first qualitative study (study 1) aimed at exploring information preferences on dMHSs among N = 21 future HCPs (i.e., medical and psychology students) as potential users, while the quantitative study (study 2) investigated the intention to use various dMHSs for different application purposes and explored which predictors best determine the intention to use dMHSs among N = 216 psychotherapists in clinical training as potential future prescribers and recommenders of dMHSs. The third study qualitatively evaluated factors that might be associated with the use of a dMHS for mild to moderate depression and anxiety symptoms in N = 102 students that participated in a bCBT program. Overall, the results suggest that students and future HCPs still have limited knowledge about as well as experiences with dMHSs, but they reported positive attitudes and claimed to be open towards the use of dMHSs. To reach the respective target groups, educational environments, such as university or clinical training settings, appear to be the most appropriate. By exploiting person- (i.e., facilitating conditions, effort expectancy, performance expectancy, social influence and concerns) and intervention-specific factors (i.e., features, usability and developmental background of dMHSs) that are associated with dMHSs' acceptance among users and providers, the results of the three studies lay an important foundation to design and implement recipient-targeted AFIs.

List of abbreviations

AFIs	Acceptance-Facilitating Interventions
bCBT	blended Cognitive Behavioural Therapy
CMDs	Common Mental Disorders
СВТ	Cognitive Behavioural Therapy
DCEs	Discrete Choice Experiments
dMHSs	digital Mental Health Services
DTx	Digital Therapeutics
EHRs	Electronic Health Records
EPIS	Exploration, Preparation, Implementation, and Sustainment framework
HCPs	Healthcare Providers
iCBT	internet-based Cognitive Behavioural Therapy
ISO	International Organization for Standardization
VR	Virtual Reality

Table of contents

1	Intro	duction	1
1	1.1	Conceptualization of common mental disorders	1
1	1.2	Conceptualization of digital health	2
	1.2.1	Legal framework for digital health in Germany	3
	1.2.2	Conceptualization of digital mental health services	4
1	1.3	Acceptance of digital mental health services	5
1	1.4	Acceptance-facilitating interventions	7
1	1.5	Aims of dissertation	9
2	Pub	lications	11
2	he	vestigating information needs and preferences regarding digital mental ealth services among medical and psychology students in Germany: A alitative study	11
2	ar	cceptance of e-mental health services for different application purposes nong psychotherapists in clinical training in Germany and Switzerland: econdary analysis of a cross-sectional survey	29
2	pr	arriers and facilitators to a blended cognitive behavioral therapy (bCBT) ogram for depression and anxiety based on experiences of university udents: A qualitative study	45
3	Disc	ussion	60
3	3.1	Summary of results	60
	3.1.1	Attitudes towards dMHSs	62
	3.1.2	Facilitators and barriers across groups	63
3	3.2	Strengths and limitations	75
3	3.3	Practical implications and future research	77
	3.3.1	Users' perspective	78
	3.3.2	Future healthcare providers' perspective	79
4	Con	clusion	83
5	Refe	erences	84
6	Ack	nowledgments	95

1 Introduction

1.1 Conceptualization of common mental disorders

According to the World Health Organization (2021), almost one billion people live with a common mental disorder (CMD). CMDs are associated with significant disruptions in thinking, emotional regulation or behavior (2), impacting the physical and mental well-being as well as the social lives of those affected (3). Consequently, CMDs represent a major public health issue owing to factors such as challenges in treatment and rising prevalence (4,5). Among CMDs, depression and anxiety disorders remain the leading causes of this burden worldwide (5–7). Symptoms of an anxiety disorder include excessive worry associated with generalized or situation-specific responses to perceived threats over a period of at least six months (8). A depressive episode is defined by the presence of depressed mood, lack of energy and diminished interest in activities, which sometimes come with physical symptoms such as sleeping difficulties or psychosomatic pain that last for more than two weeks (8,9).

A significant majority of symptoms emerge by early adulthood (10). Consequently, adults aged 18-24 seem to be more likely to be experiencing symptoms of depression and anxiety than their older counterparts (11,12). University students are especially susceptible to the development of anxiety and depression disorders. A recent meta-analysis by Li et al. (13) showed a high prevalence of anxiety and depression symptoms of 39% and 33,6% respectively. Similar results can be seen when looking specifically at Germany, where every third student feels emotionally exhausted according to a survey conducted in 2023 by the opinion research institute Forsa on behalf of on one of the largest national statutory health insurances, the Techniker Krankenkasse (14). Additionally, more students report to receive antidepressants according to this survey, which represents a significant increase of 30% in comparison to 2015. Significant challenges that affect students' health and academic performance appear to stem from psychological instability, often linked to major life transitions, stress, employment uncertainties and general financial worries (11,15–17). This could have resulted in a notable increase in the demand for counselling services and therapy (18).

However, psychological counselling services at student servicess are often limited and many universities struggle to keep up with the high demand (19), which might also explain the significant increase of antidepressant prescription (14). For instance, at the Technical University of Berlin, there are only three psychologists for 35.000 students (20), even though a ratio of 250-to-1 is recommended (21). This is accompanied by long waiting times (22) and also limited flexibility, because students have to adapt to the opening hours of the student services centers or take up a place that has become free at short notice, which is many times not possible due to their busy time schedules (23,24). Additionally, students often do not seek treatment due to unawareness of services, failure to recognize a need, or discomfort related to visiting a therapist (25,26), while the stigma around mental health issues seems to be even higher among medical students (27,28).

Digital approaches have been proposed as alternatives or supplements to traditional mental health services in order to provide extensive, accessible, flexible, and effective psychological support for students facing challenges (29,30). Recent progress in digital health, including the establishment of mental health apps or telemedicine services, provide new and promising approaches to the handling of CMDs.

1.2 Conceptualization of digital health

The strategic support of the European Union within the framework of the "eHealth Action Plan 2012-2020" has contributed to digital health receiving a remarkable amount of attention (31). In general, digital health can be understood as a combining element that includes all use of information and communication technologies in the field of health (32,33). Digital health services can be classified into five categories: sources (e.g., information databases, online rating portals or directory of physicians), economy (e.g., online pharmacies, electronic billing of services), cross-linking (e.g., networking of stakeholders through electronic health records, sharing of research data), mobile health (health apps for mobile devices), and care (e.g. telemedicine) (32,34). Furthermore, the field of digital health has branched out into specialized areas such as digital mental health, which involves the utilization of digital tools e.g., for the prevention, self-management, counseling, therapy, or rehabilitation of CMDs (32).

The advancing digitalization in the healthcare system has enabled and accelerated widespread access to high-quality healthcare, even in underserved or rural areas (35,36). Furthermore, it has simplified communication between healthcare providers (HCPs) and the potential to provide much-needed relief and support for HCPs, easing their daily tasks and responsibilities (37). For patients, it aims to empower them to become more engaged when e. g. focusing on their mental health. By providing digital tools and resources, affected individuals are enabled to make well-informed decisions and actively manage their symptoms in an empowered manner. In Germany, the Federal Ministry of Health has put in place the required legal framework to significantly promote the process of digital transformation starting with the Act on secure digital communication and applications in the healthcare system, the E-Health Act, in 2015. Since then, many laws have been passed with the goal to consistently enhance healthcare services throughout the country across various levels (38).

1.2.1 Legal framework for digital health in Germany

Germany has been trying to drive the digital transformation in the healthcare sector for several years, including the integration of technology and data-driven solutions to enhance patient care, improve efficiency, reduce costs, and promote innovation. Through the advancements in technology, the healthcare sector seems to have undergone a significant paradigm shift. At first, the E-Health Act has laid an important legal foundation by establishing the first framework for setting up telematics infrastructure and introducing medical applications (38). Through the establishment of electronic health records (EHRs), which is the central element of networked healthcare, HCPs can access patient records instantly, which allows for more informed decision-making, better care coordination, and reduced paperwork (39-41). The suggested infrastructure facilitates the storage of medical patient data either on central servers or on electronic medical data card. One of the primary objectives of the implementation is to promote patient-centered medicine while enhancing the standardization, efficiency, and transparency of medical treatment procedures (41). With regard to hospitals, the digitalization has advanced through the Hospital Future Act which was also passed to pave the way for a digital care structure in Germany. Specifically, the Federal Ministry of Health has presented the prospect of up to 4.3 billion for this purpose, enabling hospitals to invest in digitalization projects and in their information technology security (42).

Corresponding framework conditions to treat patients independent of time and location have been introduced at latest since the Digital Healthcare Act, which aims improve healthcare provision through digitalization and innovation (43). Specifically, the prescription of reimbursable digital therapeutics (DTx), such as medical apps, by physicians and psychotherapists, has been initiated but also telemedicine approaches and access to a safe healthcare data network (43). In general, these digitally provided services can be applied for different application purposes, including the prevention and

aftercare of CMDs, but also as a flexible, low-threshold treatment addition or even substitute.

1.2.2 Conceptualization of digital mental health services

Digital mental health services (dMHSs) are services that are internet-delivered via web browser or mobile phone apps to support patients with mental health problems (44). In general, digital solutions enable patients to track their health and share their health data such as sleep patterns or physiological symptoms with HCPs, which can e.g. empower them to take a more active role in the management of their CMDs (45-47). Additionally, they allow for remote psychological consultations and follow-ups and therefore even patients in underserved regions suffering from CMDs can have access to healthcare (48). They lower the threshold for help-seeking and provide healthcare that is evidence-based to a large number of individuals, and represent in cost-efficient solutions (49). In addition to for the considerable scalability, advantages of dMHSs include the flexibility entailing the option to participate at one's own pace and to use the help at any time as well as the possibility of anonymous participation so that the risk of stigmatization can be reduced (50). Generally, dMHSs are characterized by great heterogeneity and range from self-help psychoeducation programs (51,52) over chats (53,54) and blended cognitive behavioral therapy (bCBT) programs (55-57) to virtual reality (VR) interventions (58,59) that are applied along the entire patient journey (44,60). They can be either unguided or delivered with the support of HCPs (guided), e.g., blended with face-to-face treatment (61). Frequently, guided dMHSs are grounded in internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy (iCBT), where users engage in a structured electronic treatment program while receiving synchronous or asynchronous support from a therapist through email, texts, or calls (62). Overall, dMHSs have demonstrated their effectiveness e.g. in reducing symptoms of stress, eating disorders, social and academic functioning as well as depression and anxiety among students (26,63–65). Specifically, a systematic review among this target group could show that the majority of interventions delivered via a digital platform, such as mobile phones, websites, VR systems or blended formats were at least partially effective (33,37%) or effective (42,47%). However, half of the studies did not present any acceptance outcomes and only 4,4% examined a broad implementation of dMHSs on college campuses (66).

Despite the well-documented effectiveness of dMHSs for the prevention, treatment and aftercare of CMDs (29), their adoption remains limited in countries that are still at an early stage of integrating digital health into healthcare systems like Germany (67). Even though Germany has initiated several Acts to lay the foundation for digitalization in the healthcare sector, Germany ranks second-to-last in regards to the digital health development when compared internationally with 16 other countries and thus has a long rung ahead to join the more advanced countries (68). As to confirm, the adoption and uptake rates of dMHSs in the country is still limited and only increase at a relatively slow pace (69,70), while digital solutions have not yet become part of routine healthcare (67). In total, only 16,4% of HCPs participating in a recent study have prescribed DTx in Germany in 2023 (71), while there seems to be special development potential in rural areas, where only 5% of physicians and psychotherapists have prescribed DTx (72). Furthermore, only around 800.000 personal EHRs ("elektronische Patientenaktie", ePA) and just 4.1 million electronic prescriptions have been activated since their introduction in 2021, which represents a relatively small amount regarding the total number of people with a statutory health insurance in Germany (73.7 million) (73). Accordingly, the significance of understanding the factors that impact the implementation of dMHSs in order to design strategies and policies targeting the effective and extensive dissemination by addressing obstacles in its adoption has been emphasized (74).

1.3 Acceptance of digital mental health services

An increasing number of health facilities, such as hospitals and medical practices, are in the process of deploying digital healthcare services, and although their advantages in improving healthcare are documented, the value of such solutions heavily depends on their acceptance and successful implementation (75), making HCPs' and patients' acceptance of digital health a fundamental requirement to make an impact on healthcare (76). This underscores the importance of exploring and understanding how patients and HCPs respond to the emergence of new technologies.

In general, the acceptance of digital healthcare solutions such as dMHSs can be defined as the intention to use these services and, according to the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT), serves as a direct predictor of the actual usage (77). The UTAUT model is a widely recognized framework in the field of technology acceptance research (78). Introduced as an integration of various prior models, UTAUT aims to explain and predict a person's intention to adopt and use technology (79). Even though it was originally developed for the work context, it has been successfully validated and modified for use in digital healthcare (80). The model implicates that there are four factors that influence technology acceptance: performance expectancy, which represents the perceived usefulness of the technology, effort expectancy implying the perceived ease of use, social influence as in the influence of others' opinions, and facilitating conditions which include the availability of resources that are necessary for the technology's use. According to the UTAUT model these factors, along with individual characteristics (i.e., age, gender, experience, and voluntariness) collectively shape individuals' behavioral intentions and actual technology use (77). Research has shown that the perceived usefulness of new technologies tends to be the strongest predictor of acceptance (80), which implies that HCPs and patients are inclined to accept a technology when it is perceived as beneficial for their medical practice or the control of one's own health. Generally, acceptance of dMHSs seems to be even lower among HCPs in comparison to patients (80,81) which could hypothetically be explained by HCPs feeling responsible for what they prescribe or recommend to their patients and therefore engage more intensively with dMHSs (82,83).

Despite its popularity, the UTAUT model also has its limitations. To increase its explanatory power, researchers have endeavoured to extend it by incorporating variables from alternative theoretical frameworks or by investigating possible moderators (84). One important and decisive factor that has been shown to influence acceptance of dMHSs is knowledge (85,86). Accordingly, for countries with developed digital health infrastructures, greater knowledge and acceptance is reported (87). If patients and HCPs are simply not aware of digital services and their effectiveness, it seems reasonable that acceptance is still low even though the facilitating conditions such as a regulatory framework have been implemented. In accordance with the modest acceptance and uptake rates of digital services in Germany, a survey from 2021 revealed that noone out of a sample of 51 general practitioners felt very well informed about the Digital Healthcare Act, but instead 63% felt that they are poorly or very poorly informed (88). In regards to DTx, four out of five HCPs still consider information on medical apps to be at least partially insufficient (69). Additionally, a recent study by the German Stiftung Gesundheit (health foundation) revealed that 55,4% of surveyed general practitioners state that they either think poorly of DTx in general, believe that the prices seem too high or that there is simply no useful medical app for their area of clinical expertise yet (89). With 64,7%, the scepticism among psychotherapists seems to be even higher (89).

Furthermore, HCPs do not seem to be sufficiently aware of possible risks and benefits of dMHSs and only few have gained practical experience (88,90,91). Specifically, only 37% of physicians have gained at least some experience with DTx, while just 14% plan to try out such medical apps on prescription in the near future (70). Regarding education, only one out of ten surveyed HCPs received training on digital health, while only half were tailored specifically to dMHSs (92). In line, general practitioners have so far lacked well-founded information about DTx and wish for systematic further training options (93). Recent studies have shown similar results for patients (72). The conclusions are that the integration of DTx such as dMHSs into healthcare routines still suffers from a lack of awareness regarding available information resources. The absence of clear and comprehensive information seems to persist, even years after the Digital Healthcare Act came into force (72). A similar picture emerges with regard to university students. Even though universities have been expanding their range of mental health services offered by student services centers, it appears that information on these services may not effectively reach students who are in need of help (25,26).

To close knowledge gaps, acceptance-facilitating interventions (AFIs), such as recipient-targeted information strategies, have been proposed. AFIs can provide trustworthy information targeting doubts, possibly increasing acceptance, recommendations and actual uptake of digital health services among HCPs and patients (85,94– 98).

1.4 Acceptance-facilitating interventions

AFIs range from short videos to psychoeducational information material, aiming to provide comprehensive and verified information on one specific topic (99). Characteristic for AFIs is that they are built of various components, i.e. attributes, such as information on potential barriers and facilitators of dMHSs, including quality criteria (e.g., scientific evidence base, data security) or user reviews (e.g., user ratings or recommendations of patients or HCPs) transferred via different media formats (e.g., text, video) (100). For instance, in cooperation with the University UIm Baumeister et al. developed an AFI to increase acceptance of blended therapy among psychotherapists. It included a 5-minute video showing information about the dMHSs facing potential worries, a role play scene between a patient and a psychotherapist, facets of the UTAUT model as well as ways to integrate dMHSs in traditional psychotherapy (97).

Results showed that the UTAUT factors performance expectancy, effort expectancy and facilitating conditions were significantly increased in comparison to the control group who only received an attention placebo video. No effects were found on social influence. Interestingly, the AFI seemed to be specifically promising in subpopulations of initially rather skeptical psychotherapists (i.e., psychodynamic oriented psychotherapists). Regarding students as patients, a simple AFI has been shown to increase their intention to use mental health services, even though the effects were relatively small (96). In this study, the intervention group received an AFI including personalized feedback about their symptom severity, tailored psychoeducation, and information about available university and regional mental health services as components. In comparison, in a study by Lin et al., the 3-minute informative video about a specific dMHS with screenshots of the program, including information on data security, anonymity and the effectiveness of the dMHS, its advantages and the possibility to receive technical support and general assistance while using the service, was not effective with regard to acceptance, uptake rate, or adherence in a target population of patients with chronic pain (101). According to Ebert et al. (96) the mixed results can be explained by rather general approaches instead of more personalized approaches tailored to the specific needs and characteristics of respective target groups, as well as to perceived barriers and facilitators in regards to dMHSs.

In general, research has demonstrated several perceived barriers in regards to the usage of dMHSs among HCPs, including concerns about data security and privacy, concerns about building a professional relationship, low digital health literacy and lack of individualization options (94,97,102,103). Among patients, privacy concerns do also seem to represent a barrier, however, in comparison to HCPs it does not represent a major issue as long as their data remain anonymous (104). Greater acceptance is generally shown of blended treatments, such as bCBT (87), because more personalized care seems to be possible in comparison with stand-alone dMHSs (55). For students as users of dMHSs and HCPs as distributors of dMHSs, however, facilitators and barriers to the acceptance of dMHSs are not yet clear. This dissertation aims to close this research gap by giving insights into factors associated with the acceptance and usage of dMHSs to design recipient-targeted AFIs in form of information strategies.

1.5 Aims of dissertation

In summary, it seems reasonable to promote the integration of dMHSs into the German healthcare system in two different ways: on the one hand, via potential users and, on the other hand, via prescribers and recommenders of dMHSs such as HCPs. Potential users could be primarily young people like students, who, as already explained, are particularly at risk due to the relatively high prevalence rate of depression and anxiety disorders (105) and, if CMDs are chronified, will pose challenges for the healthcare system with relatively high long-term costs (106). The focus here is specifically on future physicians and psychotherapists. These are the professional groups that will recommend dMHSs or even prescribe DTx in Germany in the future and can thus spread them nationwide. Further, they are themselves at risk of developing CMDs during their professional training (13). So far, however, this target group and students in general have been neglected in technology acceptance research.

The specific aims of this dissertation were thus as follows:

- To qualitatively gain in-depth understanding of barriers and facilitators to the acceptance of dMHSs among future HCPs (i.e., medical and psychology students) as potential users of dMHSs to design AFIs
- To quantitively explore barriers and facilitators to the acceptance of dMHSs among future HCPs (i.e., psychotherapists in clinical training) as potential providers of dMHSs by applying an extended UTAUT model
- 3. To qualitatively gain in-depth understanding of barriers and facilitators to the actual usage of a dMHS among students as users of dMHss

Table 1 provides an overview of research papers that are included in this dissertation.

Study	Chapter	Study method	Focus	Reference
1	2.1	Semi-structured Interviews	Future HCPs as potential users of dMHSs	Braun et al., 2023
2	2.2	Cross-Sectional Survey	Future HCPs as potential provid- ers of dMHSs	Braun et al., 2022
3	2.3	Semi-Structured Interviews	Students as actual users of dMHSs	Braun et al., 2023

Table 1. Overview of research papers included in dissertation	on
---	----

Given the explorative nature of study 1, a qualitative design with semi-structured interviews was chosen as a first in-depth analysis to get a thorough understanding of future HCPs' information preferences and needs as users of dMHSs. For study 2, an exploratory secondary analysis based on data derived from a cross-sectional survey-

study was executed to assess the acceptance of various dMHSs for different application purposes among future HCPs psychotherapists as providers. For study 3, a qualitative design with semi-structured interviews was again chosen as part of a feasibility and effectiveness study to thoroughly explore factors that might be associated with the actual use of a dMHS in a bCBT program among students. It was intended that the results can be used to derive recipient-targeted information strategies.

Informing about dMHSs has a strong public health relevance as promoting awareness and understanding of dMHSs aligns with the broader goals of improving access to healthcare services (36), improved patient engagement and empowerment (46). It could also lead to enhanced preventive care, because provision of users and providers with information on dMHSs, could prevent the onset of CMDs and reduce the overall demand on the healthcare system (107). Additionally, integrating digital solutions can contribute to cost savings within the healthcare system, as remote patient monitoring and virtual consultations can reduce the need for in-person visits, which has the potential to optimize healthcare resources (49). Lastly, the German healthcare system has been adapting to the digital age, with regulatory frameworks evolving to support the integration of digital health solutions (43). Informing future HCPs as potential users about these developments ensures that they can gain experience, make informed decisions and take advantage of the available resources. The insights gathered from this dissertation can thus be used for the design of recipient-targeted information strategies on dMHSs to reduce skepticism and increase knowledge in both users and providers, which allows for more effective public health interventions.

Ethical approval for conducting the first qualitative study (study 1) was obtained from the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf (study number 2020-972) by principal investigator JAH. To ensure that ethical standard are met by the quantitative study (study 2), written consultation with the President of the Ethics Committee of the University of Zurich was obtained on 3 March 2020 by the principal investigator MD. The checklist to self-assess ethical safety was also completed, thus the ethical safety of the study was approved. Ethics approval for the second qualitative study (study 3) was obtained from the Ethical Board of the University of Mannheim (EK Mannheim 27-A/2021) by the principal investigator MS.

2 **Publications**

2.1 Investigating information needs and preferences regarding digital mental health services among medical and psychology students in Germany: A qualitative study



Investigating information needs and preferences regarding digital mental health services among medical and psychology students in Germany: A qualitative study

DIGITAL HEALTH Volume 9: 1-18 © The Author(s) 2023 Article reuse guidelines: sagepub.com/journals-permissions DOI: 10.1177/20552076231173568 journals.sagepub.com/home/dhj



Pia Braun¹, Ann-Kathrin Schwientek^{1,2}, Peter Angerer¹, Lisa Guthardt¹, Andrea Icks³, Adrian Loerbroks¹ and Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen¹

Abstract

Background: Since 2020, physicians and psychotherapists in Germany can prescribe digital mental health services (dMHSs). However, even future healthcare professionals (HCPs), such as medical and psychology students, remain reluctant to use dMHSs, although they are a risk group for mental health issues themselves. Reasons include scepticism and lacking awareness of dMHSs, which can be addressed by acceptance-facilitating interventions (AFIs) such as information strategies. To date, though, little is known about their information needs.

Methods: Semi-structured interviews with n = 21 students were conducted between August and September 2021. Students of legal age studying psychology or medicine at a German university could participate. Interview recordings were transcribed verbatim and content-analyzed according to Mayring, using deductive and inductive coding.

Results: Most students reported having little experience with dMHSs. Digital health has barely been raised in their study, even though it was perceived as crucial for personal needs as well as in preparation for their work as HCPs. Students favoured receiving information on and recommendations for dMHSs from their university via, e.g. social media or seminars. Among others, information about data safety, scientific evidence base and application scope were preferred. Additionally, information on costs as well as user reviews seemed to be essential components of information strategies because students were concerned that high costs or low usability would hinder uptake.

Conclusions: The results give first insights on how future HCPs would like to be informed on dMHSs. Future research should focus on systematic variations of AFIs' components mimicking real-world decision scenarios to increase the adoption of dMHSs.

Keywords

Digital health, digital health literacy, technology acceptance, mental health, medical students, psychology students

Submission date: 20 July 2022; Acceptance date: 17 April 2023

²Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Hospital rechts der Isar, School of Medicine, Technical University of Munich, Munchen, Germany ³Institute for Health Services Research and Health Economics, Centre for Health and Society, Medical Faculty, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Dusseldorf, Germany

Corresponding author:

Pia Braun, Institute of Occupational, Social and Environmental Medicine, Centre for Health and Society, Medical Faculty, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Moorenstr. 5, 40225 Düsseldorf, Germany. [7] Email: braunp@hhu.de

Creative Commons CC BY: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 License (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/) which permits any use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission provided the original work is attributed as specified on the SAGE and Open Access page (https://us.sagepub.com/en-us/nam/open-access-at-sage).

¹Institute of Occupational, Social and Environmental Medicine, Centre for Health and Society, Medical Faculty, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Dusseldorf, Germany

Introduction

Common mental disorders (CMDs), such as depression, posttraumatic disorders or anxiety disorders, remain among the top 10 leading causes of burden worldwide, while the prevalence of CMDs seems consistent.¹⁻³ However, in the wake of the COVID-19-pandemic, CMDs have increased tremendously.^{4,5} Innovation in digital health tools, including mental health apps, provide new approaches to the management of CMDs. For instance, evidence-based digital mental health services (dMHSs) have been suggested as promising options for the large-scale dissemination of interventions for the prevention and treatment of CMDs.^{6,7} Concerning prevention purposes, dMHSs, such as well-being apps or structured stress management programs, have been considered as helpful for the promotion of patient empowerment and coping strategies.⁸⁻¹⁰ In regards to the treatment of different CMDs with dMHSs, a recent systematic and comprehensive meta-review by Philippe et al. showed that 52% of research on dMHSs has involved the treatment of substance use disorders, 29% focused on mood, anxiety, and traumatic stress disorders, and less than 5% on remaining CMDs.11 In general, dMHSs are defined as services that make use of information and communication technology in the field of mental health.12 They are considered to be auspicious low-threshold tools or therapy-add-ons because of their flexible modes of delivery, low associated costs, anonymity, and low access barriers since they are location-independent.¹³⁻¹⁶ Other advantages of dMHSs include time flexibility, acceleration of the treatment process and outcome, improved therapy adherence, increased health literacy, simplified contact maintenance, and the management of symptoms of CMDs.17-19 In Germany, the "Act to Improve Healthcare Provision through Digitalization and Innovation" (Digital Healthcare Act)passed in December 2019-allows for the prescription of evidence-based dMHSs (i.e. medical apps) by physicians and psychotherapists, online video consultations, and access to a secure healthcare data network for flexible and location-independent treatment of, for example, CMDs.²⁰ The costs for the use of evidence-based dMHSs are reimbursed by statutory health insurances, covering around 73 million citizens.²¹ The German healthcare system is unique worldwide. Other countries, such as France, Belgium or Sweden, are just starting to integrate this concept into their own healthcare systems.2

In general, dMHSs have been proven to be effective regarding the prevention and treatment of CMDs, for instance in reducing symptoms of anxiety, depression, stress, eating disorder, or social and academic functioning.^{23–27} However, even though evidence supports the efficacy of many dMHSs concerning an improvement of mental health,^{16,28–31} uptake rates of dMHSs, such as medical apps, remain low.^{32,33} This can be explained by unawareness and skepticism toward dMHSs among patients and healthcare professionals (HCPs) such as psychotherapists and general practitioners, including

concerns related to data security, confidentiality, efficacy, impersonality, insufficient information, and low digital health literacy.^{8,17,18,34–39} Accordingly, Gerlinger et al. pointed out that HCPs do not feel well informed about benefits and risks of dMHSs,⁸ while other studies showed that only few of them already have practical experience with dMHSs.17,40,41 For a comprehensive dissemination of dMHSs into the healthcare system, it seems logical to educate future HCPs, such as medical and psychology students, for several reasons. First, as a consequence of the Digital Healthcare Act, HCPs will have to deal with manifold questions related to digital health in their practice, which calls for an early acquisition of digital health literacy more than ever before.²⁰ This early acquisition also seems important in regards to giving future HCPs the possibility to gain practical experience with dMHS during their studies, which has been shown to be a determinant of dMHSs' acceptance.17 Second, future HCPs will represent the gatekeepers of healthcare delivery because they are the primary source of health information for many patients, thus having a large influence on their attitude formation.⁴² Lastly and most importantly for our research interest, they are potential users of dMHSs themselves since they show high proportions of distress^{43,44} and represent a high-risk group for CMDs.⁴⁵ They report manifold attitudinal barriers to seeking help⁴⁶⁻⁵⁰ and still tend to have little knowledge about mental health services.³⁶ Attitudinal barriers include the preference to manage problems on one's own, low help-seeking intentions, expected career disadvantages, fear of stigmatization, and skepticism about the efficacy of care.46-50

To tackle these concerns and close knowledge gaps, tailored acceptance-facilitating interventions (AFIs) such as multi-component information strategies have been found to be a promising tool in educating individuals about innovative approaches, such as dMHSs.⁵¹⁻⁶⁰ For instance, Hein et al.⁶¹ could show that physicians' acceptance of health apps focusing on chronic pain was strengthened by a short educational video providing information about the content of health apps, for example, how they can be used and evidence of recent studies. Credibility and performance expectancy were the strongest predictors of acceptance, followed by skepticism.⁶¹ Among psychotherapists, Baumeister et al.⁵² found that acceptance of blended therapy might be improvable by AFIs, particularly in subpopulations that were initially rather skeptical such as psychodynamic oriented psychotherapists.

Despite the stated reasons for educating future HCPs on dMHSs and initial positive findings on the usefulness of AFIs in improving the acceptance of dMHSs, there is insufficient research on their needs and preferences regarding how and about what they wish to be informed as potential users of dMHSs.^{16,51,53} Most research has either focused on university students' preferences regarding the design of dMHSs⁶² or their attitudes toward dMHSs,⁶³ but not on how information about dMHSs should be disseminated

to targeted recipients to facilitate acceptance. Some studies provided at best few insights into the design of AFIs on dMHSs.^{54,55,64-67} For instance, Apolinário-Hagen et al.⁶⁸ investigated the influence of information with or without varying testimonials but found no change in attitudes toward dMHSs among university students, while a follow-up experiment indicated positive findings on attitudes and acceptance using optimized AFI material with testimonials.⁶⁷ Research on future HCPs as a specific student group is even scarcer. However, this is an essential first step that has not been covered by research yet, which could be one reason for the low uptake rates of dMHSs. Until today, it remains unclear how information strategies on dMHSs should be designed and disseminated to meet the preferences and needs of both uninformed and possibly distressed students that will one day become HCPs. In conclusion, an in-depth understanding on what they would like to be informed about by whom as well as on how they would like to be informed is needed to design effective AFIs on dMHSs for the early acquisition of digital health literacy.

Hence, the purpose of this study was to explore information preferences and needs on dMHSs among medical and psychology students as potential users of dMHS who are at risk to develop CMDs. At the same time, according to the Digital Healthcare Act physicians and psychotherapists are the two groups that will be allowed to prescribe medical apps in the future and thus will have a large influence on the adoption of dMHSs in Germany.²⁰ We were interested in (a) exploring design as well as content needs and preferences regarding information on dMHSs and in (b) identifying the most relevant components (i.e. attributes) and their possible levels which together constitute AFIs (i.e. information strategies) on dMHSs. An example for an attribute could be "information source," while a corresponding attribute level could be "university" or "HCPs," representing the source where the information on dMHSs for students come from.

Methods

Study design

Given the explorative nature of the study, a qualitative design was chosen as a first in-depth analysis. It is most suitable for application in areas where information seems incomplete or not yet attainable through quantitative approaches.⁶⁹ To get a thorough understanding of students' information preferences and needs related to dMHSs, we conducted semi-structured video-based individual interviews via the software Webex[™] by Cisco (Version 41.6.0.19119). The results of this study further help select and specify attributes and attribute levels for information strategies on dMHSs. The ethics committee of the Medical Faculty of the University of Duesseldorf approved the study (study number 2020-972). The study was preregistered at the Open Science Framework on August 11, 2021.⁷⁰

Sampling

Students who were 18 years and older could participate in the study if they were enrolled at a German university in medicine or psychology (bachelor's or master's program), excluding students from other health-related disciplines that will not be allowed to prescribe medical apps in the future. We followed a convenience sampling strategy, that is, for example, recruiting via social media, personal contacts or flyers and posters at universities. To ensure a wide range of characteristics, we intended to recruit participants from all over Germany. Additionally, our strategy was to recruit specifically for participants with a wide variation of characteristics (e.g. age, gender and federal states) to increase the chances of obtaining differing perspectives. Medical and psychology students who expressed interest to participate in the study were provided with more details of the study and the participant consent form. Participants who did not provide written informed consent were excluded from the study.

Data collection

Based on research literature on possible attributes of information strategies on dMHSs we developed a preliminary topic guide with eleven themes and possible follow-up questions as well as a short background questionnaire covering questions about demographics, familiarity with and readiness to use dMHSs.^{52,55–57,60,64,68,71–75} Participants who provided written informed consent were asked to complete this questionnaire before the interview. The interview guide was developed by AKS and JAH, discussed in the team (AKS, JAH, AL, PB), and pre-tested by AKS. In total, six test-interviews were performed (n=2 male, n=4 female), simulating an interview under realistic context conditions. In addition to conventional pretesting, comprehension probes was used as an element of cognitive pretesting to collect further information about the way participants understand certain questions or terms (e.g. What do you understand by the term e-mental-health?).⁷⁶ Results led to small changes in the topic guide and in the background questionnaire.

In the beginning of each interview, the term *digital mental health* as well as examples for dMHSs were introduced. Data were collected by AKS and PB from August to September 2021 until consensus on thematic saturation was achieved, that is, no substantially new content emerged from the interviews.

Online interviews were recorded as audio files with an external recorder. The audio files were transcribed by an external transcription provider and analyzed (verbatim) for content analyses. Interviews were conducted in German and quotes were translated into English by a researcher and professional translator (LG) for this publication. All procedures strictly adhered to the Declaration of Helsinki in the latest version and applicable regulations (e.g. General Data Protection Regulation, Federal Data Protection Act).

Data analysis

Qualitative content analysis was performed using the MAXQDA 2020 software (VERBI GmbH, Berlin, Germany) based on the approach of Mayring.⁷⁷ According to Mayring, categories can be either formed deductively from theory and then assigned to text passages, or inductively out of the data. Correspondingly, we applied a combination of both inductive as well as deductive coding. During interview transcript coding, main categories (attributes) were formed deductively according to the preliminary topic guide which we developed based on a literature seach..^{52,55–57,60,64,68,71–75} Within these main categories, subcategories (attribute levels) were formed inductively based on the transcripts. PB and AKS independently coded six interview transcripts. These six interviews were chosen based on the distribution of gender, federal state and study program to ensure heterogeneity. Subsequently, the category systems and text samples were compared, and discrepancies were resolved via discussion, which led to the preliminary coding scheme. PB then performed the qualitative analysis of all remaining interview transcripts according to this scheme, which was extended. After completion of the first coding round, the scheme was further reviewed and slightly modified by JAH as principal investigator as well as by AL, who is an experienced researcher in the field of qualitative data analysis.78-80 The revised coding scheme was then again applied to all transcripts in a second round of coding. As only small modifications were made during the second coding round, two coding rounds were deemed sufficient. Additional file 1 presents the final coding scheme. The conduction and reporting of findings followed the checklist of consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ)⁸¹ and further recommendations on formative qualitative research in preference elicitation.⁸² The members of the study team that were engaged in the analysis process had different professional backgrounds (i.e. medicine, psychology, public health, and epidemiology), which should ensure intersubjective transparency, replicability, and discriminatory power of the categories.83

Results

Sample description

In total, n=21 online interviews were conducted with an average duration of 31.7 minutes (range 16–55 minutes) including n=16 medical students (n=4 male students) and n=5 psychology students (n=1 male student), who participated in the study. Table 1 summarizes the main characteristics of the sample. On average, students were M=25.5 years old (standard deviation [SD]=3.86, range =20-33) and studied in five different federal states of Germany (North Rhine-Westphalia, Baden-Wurttemberg, Hesse, Bavaria, Rhineland-Palatinate). Among all students, n=11 (n=7 medical students) had already completed at

Table 1. Sample characteristics.

Variables	Mean (Min-Max, SD) or <i>n</i>
Students (n = 21)	
Interview duration in minutes	31.7 (16-55, 10.3)
Codes linked to interviews	679
Age in years	25.52 (20-33, 3.86)
Female	16
Male	5
Subject: Medicine	16
Subject: Psychology	5
Earlier completed training or studies	11
Location: North Rhine-Westphalia	7
Location: Baden-Wurttemberg	3
Location: Hesse	1
Location: Bavaria	5
Location: Rhineland-Palatinate	5

least one educational program, such as surgical technical assistant, nurse or paramedic, or study program, such as a bachelor's degree in molecular medicine or psychology, before being enrolled in their current study program.

Attitudes toward dMHSs

Generally, n = 20 of the interviewed students reported positive attitudes and said they were open toward the use of dMHSs as a preventive service if they were offered free of charge by their university. Most mentioned areas of interests were stress management, sleep difficulties, exam nerves, concentration problems, and generally overcoming fears.

Many students reported having little knowledge about or no experience with dMHSs. However, more than half of the interviewed students (n = 13) had at least heard about dMHSs, such as apps for meditation or online stress prevention programs, while only n=2 students had heard about medical apps before (i.e. dMHSs on prescription). Furthermore, students expressed that the topic of digital health had barely been mentioned in the course of medical or psychology studies, even though it was perceived as a crucial topic both for personal needs (e.g. during stressful exam periods) as well as in preparation for their future work as HCPs.

Most participants did not favor information strategies on dMHSs for personal use that were designed for medical or psychology students only. Instead, they favored information strategies on dMHSs that generally targeted students' needs, as they did not perceive any relevant difference between student groups in terms of stress and mental health problems.

Information sources

Figure 1 provides an overview over all deductively derived attributes and inductively formed levels of attributes that, in combination, could constitute an information strategy. Our results showed that an information strategy consists of an information source, information format, content preferences, and general design preferences. An example is that medical and psychology students as future HCPs could be informed by their university (information source) via social media (information format) on the scientific evidence base of dMHSs (content preference). This social media post could be written in cheerful, humorous language, designed in light blue and green colors (design preference).

University. Students mentioned different ways of how they would like to be informed, but many indicated that, in their opinion, the university is mainly responsible for information provision. Students wished to get a clear overview and recommendations for dMHSs by their university because of the large number of existing dMHSs, such as commercial mental health apps. They said that they missed guidance or counseling at their university, both from the perspective of a potential user of dMHSs as well as with respect to their planned future career as HCP. Additionally, students indicated that they would like to be informed about dMHSs right at the beginning of their studies, as a preventive service, and highlighted the importance of proactive information provision. Many students reported a lack of knowledge of existing psychological support structures available at their university.

"So, I think it would be useful to talk about this topic in general at the beginning of any study, because stress is such an important issue nowadays, no matter whether it's during your studies or in your job. And I think that everybody, including me, deals with stress in the studies, at least quite often. Which is why this is a topic that needs to be addressed more often in general. And in this context, when talking about it, it would be actually very helpful to immediately provide different services on how it could be implemented." (3730EJUG)

Furthermore, some students said that they would like digital health, including dMHSs, to be introduced as an integral part of the education of future HCPs. When asked for the preferred form of information transfer, many students favored interactive forms such as seminars as part of an elective subject.

"There are different ways of exchanging information with each other, for example presentations that can be given



Figure 1. Overview of attributes and levels.

in turn. You could maybe do a course, a minor subject, where everyone gives a small presentation on a subtopic of e-mental-health, like five or ten minutes, that would be enough, and you'd have heard about it at least, so that you're not completely on your own." (POX4QTL2)

However, some of the medical students expressed concerns about providing information on dMHSs only in an elective subject since they feared that information might get lost this way. These concerns include a limited number of electives that students can choose, restricted access to elective subjects as well as too little information in the description of each elective.

"I think corresponding elective subjects would actually be a good idea, but I also have to say that you don't really get much information on some of these subjects (...), well some of them have a small description, (...) but I don't know if some students decided not to take it, simply because they wouldn't have enough information (...) and you can also only choose a limited number of elective subjects and some of the subjects have a limited number of participants, so ultimately, the majority of students wouldn't take part probably. Exactly, so there are special services, but access is also limited." (W0366MAW)

Instead, some students expressed the idea of digital health being introduced as an integral subject of their studies or as a compulsory seminar, for example, for all freshmen. Furthermore, students reported several other possibilities to get informed by their universities including services from the student representatives, the student services center, student working groups or the deanship.

Healthcare professionals. Students mentioned HCPs as another trustworthy source of information regarding dMHSs because they were often seen as primary and trustworthy source since they provide their patients with reliable information. However, some students stated they would feel uncomfortable asking HCPs for advice as they would often seem annoyed or stressed. Additionally, some students showed general low help-seeking intentions because of expected career disadvantages, which still appears to be a widespread reason for not seeking support at HCPs or health insurances.

"Health insurance might also be an option, but somehow... well, it could be said—and I have also noticed this with my fellow students—that they were having some problems in their studies, and they were like: Alright, I won't go to a doctor or a psychologist now, because I know that I can't practice some professions if I receive certain diagnoses. And I don't know in what way they are worried in advance maybe, so that they might hesitate to use the services. So, I think I'd prefer the most anonymous way, like using google or the internet." (57VOPFC7) Some students reported that they could imagine that the exchange with other HCPs as information source for medical innovations such as dMHSs might become more important once they are in that role themselves.

Internet search. If interviewees already had experience with dMHSs, they most often mentioned own internet search as their initial information source. In accordance, when asked how they would now search for support in stressful phases, for example, during exam periods, almost all students replied they would "use google" (DVHQI4ZS) and see what they could find on the internet.

Some students stated they found specific dMHSs through app store research or personalized advertisement on social media.

"And well, if you do some research on the topic you mysteriously get corresponding ads, on Instagram for example. And I think I found one of them myself, I had searched for it and clicked it and the other one was suggested to me, yeah, that's more or less how it was." (B3ACVZZ6)

However, most students said that they would prefer to be informed about dMHSs by their university or HCPs instead of doing internet research themselves because they thought that "the risk of drawing a blank is way too high" (MHMEUCIZ).

Family and friends. Some students also reported that if they had already used services for their mental health, they got their information about these dMHSs from friends or family members. Since significant others are usually perceived as a trustworthy information source, some students described word-of-mouth as a good option to get informed. In general, they said that they would rely on their family or fellow students and friends when it comes to mental health because they might either experience similar stressors or would only recommend services that they also benefited from in the past.

"Well, I would say close family members and friends, of course, simply because they are people that I know. And I know that they share their personal opinions with me, without any hidden agenda. This is actually always the best thing, if they have no personal benefit, they are being honest. They tend to give me their honest opinion. And therefore, I think that I'd immediately do so I'd say." (3730EJUG)

Employer in healthcare. Another idea to inform future HCPs about dMHSs was through the employer. Especially for medical students, who must complete several internships at, for example, clinics, during their studies, it was mentioned that they would appreciate being informed about

health promotion services by their employers as they should also have an interest in their staff's overall health.

"I think it would be really cool if my employer did that. Simply because they should also be interested in me doing well in the job for a longer time. And especially because—well, I work at a university hospital myself; it's a huge organization and they also have far more resources that are used anyway, for, I don't know, all sorts of studies, PR. So, I'd be really happy about more services for the employees, I would say." (OEFFMG40)

Other sources. Finally, some students mentioned additional information sources that do not fall into the deductively defined main categories. These include public bodies, such as the federal ministry of health or the federal ministry of education, and research but also TV advertisement. Regarding public bodies, students mentioned that they would assess them as trustworthy sources when it comes to mental health recommendations, as opposed to websites of dMHSs where these services are to be sold. Interestingly, one student did not see information from dMHSs' producers as problematic, but mentioned that, for example, TV advertisement of dMHSs could indeed be another valuable source of information because many persons could be reached.

"I could also imagine advertisement on television. From my point of view, there should be way more advertising for health services. You should just try to reach as many people as possible. Not everyone has a cell phone, especially elder people." (KB419VSV)

Information format

Newsletter. Students imagined several different ways of how to get informed about dMHSs. One possibility mentioned was sending a newsletter to all students, for example, from the student services center, the deanship, or by health insurances. However, the usefulness of these newsletters was also discussed.

"It's always quite difficult to really reach all students. Sending an e-mail would probably be the easiest way, just sending it via mailing list. But honestly, I don't know if that's a good idea, because e-mails that come via mailing lists, for example from the deanship or something like that, are often skipped, I think. You just skim them, and then you notice: Okay, it's nothing important, and it goes straight into the trash or storage. It might work better with a personal form of address or some advertising by the lecturers or in seminar groups; places where you are in smaller groups, but I'd still say that you reach the most students via e-mail and effectively also those who are interested in it after all and who notice it and be like 'Oh, this

Social media. Regarding the use of social media in information strategies, students had dissimilar opinions. Some stated they benefitted from personalized advertisement on, for example, Instagram, whereas others argued that they were not sure whether information on dMHSs retrieved from social media platforms was trustworthy. However, if the information source is assessed as reliable (i.e. the institution behind the social media profile, such as the student services center), presented information is more easily accepted. Additionally, students mentioned Facebook student groups as another option to stay updated. Many reported that they had heard from the possibility to participate in this interview-study in a Facebook group from their course of studies and that they could imagine being informed about dMHSs in these groups, too, for instance, by student council groups. Podcasts were also mentioned as a possible way to retrieve information on dMHSs, especially because one can be notified about possible updates such as new dMHSs. This way, students reported that social media could be an effective and low-threshold way to reach those in need.

"The university also has two Instagram accounts now, for example. So, generally speaking, it would also be possible via social media. (...) Therefore, yes, trustworthiness would definitely increase for me if it were a university recommendation." (W0366MAW)

Website. Lastly, some students wished for a website, for example, hosted by the university or health insurances, where all information on dMHSs and other services for mental health could be listed and shortly explained to get an overview. In their point of view, this would reduce uncertainty and save time.

"Well, I think it would be good if there was some kind of platform that has all the information. So, that you could list different apps and additional online therapists or something like that, that you'd have at least a phone number or a contact person." (WVRROB3C)

Print media. On the other hand, two students stated that they would prefer print media, such as flyers, brochures or scientific literature from the university library, over digital platforms so that they would have something tangible at hand.

"I always think that it's nice to have something tangible at hand, which is why I thought of flyers first. Something that you can also pass on, but of course, that's true for an e-mail or an info page, as well. I just prefer having things in my hand." (TNN4A5ZZ)

Content preferences

Reviews and recommendations. For many students, online reviews by other users seemed to be important information on dMHSs that would influence their usage intention because it gave them an initial indication of whether dMHSs were worth engaging with. For instance, when searching for a mental health app targeting a specific disease pattern such as depression, students appreciated it when users reflected on whether this app was helpful or not. Additionally, students wanted to know whether dMHSs were intuitive, technically well-established and selfexplanatory, for example, through self-reports by other users. When reading online reviews, many students seemed to specifically look for detailed, supposedly honest opinions.

"You usually notice if they are written honestly and then you can really work with them. That is, if you have concrete and positive feedbacks instead of 'Oh yes, I feel totally great now'. Instead of this general feedback you could mention precisely what you liked about it. So, I mean concrete feedback and not just a good rating." (G58596A1)

However, most students also expressed their skepticism about online reviews and even mentioned that it would scare them off because they did not know whether they could take them seriously. Additionally, a few mentioned that they regarded online reviews as not meaningful because they perceived mental health as a topic that is too individual and thus cannot be transferred to others.

"Of course, I'm really happy if someone writes: 'It really helped me a lot, I feel much better'. But in the end, this can't necessarily be related to your personal usage. Unless it's about technical issues (...). But for me, this was no exclusion criterion nor was it a selection criterion. If the ratings are great, it doesn't necessarily mean that it's great for me, too." (OSCEPLP9)

A lot of interviewed students stated that they would be more willing to use dMHSs that were previously tested and approved by friends, students, or university lecturers because students had difficulties to decide as "there are 1000 offers, and most of them cost a little bit" (B3ACVZZ6). Many students favored dMHSs that were recommended by central institutions such as universities or health insurances as well as by HCPs. Thus, including those recommendations in information strategies on dMHSs seems critical.

"Well, with a psychotherapist, you simply know: Okay, she has experience with this. Others have also tried it before. So, there is some personal experience involved." (WVRROB3C) "Certification is also very appealing to me. (...) Let's say, for example, there is an app that should help with the treatment of depression, and I would either be in the role of the therapist or also in the role of the patient. For me, it would be extremely helpful if it simply said: accepted by the German Psychologists' Association or found to be good." (KB4I9VSV)

Costs information. The importance of information on costs was highlighted by most students. No or low costs seemed to be a decisive factor for the uptake of dMHSs as students often do not earn a lot of money. Thus, this information seems essential for information strategies.

"Well, I don't really earn much as a student and I'd really like to save some money or get special offers, a discount for students or something like that." (POX4QTL2)

In general, students agreed that information strategies on dMHSs needed to include information on costs because high monetary expenses were seen as a barrier for usage. Students agreed that if dMHSs were not free of charge, they would like to be informed whether trial subscriptions were offered because they wished to have the opportunity of getting to know the service or app before paying for it.

"And I think it would be important that it's free of charge. I think, a lot of people are put off if there are any costs for potential users. (...) Or that there is, I don't know, a time period where you can try it out for free. (...) I mean, of course, all of this has to be paid for, without a doubt. But then you should perhaps have the opportunity to test it first. And then, you can buy it if you are convinced of it." (DVHQI4ZS)

Anonymity and data safety. Students held varying opinions about data safety, that is, whether they wanted to be informed about this topic as part of targeted information strategies on dMHSs greatly differed. For some students, data safety was essential, especially in the context of a sensitive issue like mental health. Many reported that they would not like to use dMHSs that required entering personal data, because talking about mental health issues seems to be stigmatized among future HCPs. Thus, this information should be presented before using dMHSs due to the importance of privacy and discretion.

"I wouldn't really want to share personal details on an app like this. (...) I mean, I don't really know how you could trace back that I am using the app as a person concerned. Because it just occurred to me that if people find out that I have this app, then there is a certain stigma to it, (...) so that you wouldn't really want to mention that you get psychological help. This always makes me really sad. (...) But yes, I'd say data you put online should be reduced to the minimum." (*MHMEUCIZ*) Some students stated that information on whether data is treated in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) or a GDPR certificate would be sufficient to be perceived as trustworthy as realistically no one reads the general terms and conditions. Others reported that they did not necessarily need to have information on data safety when educated on dMHSs because their data was already "out there," but pointed out that anonymity would play a crucial role for usage.

"I must say data safety (...) has not been an issue I've been worried about, maybe because I know that you can't really do much with the data. (...) I'll be there, and I might be talking about my problems, it's anonymized maybe. And even if that's not the case, it falls under some form of data protection law anyway. (...) I think many people are more willing to pour their hearts out and talk about their problems, for example in an online forum, if they are anonymous, because, let's face it, nobody wants to have their name and picture there and talk about crying all night long because of an exam. So, I can imagine that this is somehow liberating and that it motivates people to exchange experiences. So that you can find other people who are going through similar things." (HNIQK3ZD)

Individualization. Some students wished to be informed about whether a service or mental health app offers individualization options, for example, by using a questionnaire to diagnose symptoms at the beginning and then customize the content of dMHSs accordingly to their needs. Similarly, they would like to know whether dMHSs are flexible in terms of exercises and their duration, so that they could choose tasks according to the time available.

"Or, for instance, that you have various exercises that you can choose from. How much time do you have right now? What would you like to do? And then, it should be possible to choose between five, ten, or twenty minutes. I think I would like something like that." (KB419VSV)

Composition. Students said that they wanted to be informed about the content and structure of dMHSs, for example, how many courses a program consisted of or whether one could choose between different subscription options, including a test subscription that offers an insight into the program. They also wanted to know if dMHSs offered a wide range of content to quickly determine whether they fitted their individual needs.

"I think it would be nice to get a clear insight at first, to see what the program includes, to determine its strengths, so to speak. I mean, there are different kinds of relaxation techniques or possibilities. It would be good to have an overview, because some things just don't suit you." (G58596A1) Furthermore, interviewees valued dMHSs that were diversified and did not quickly become boring because they favored services that covered different interests. Thus, this was an additional point that they wanted to be informed about.

"I would really appreciate it to see that there are, like four different aspects. It's not always the same, it varies and maybe I don't have to answer each aspect every day. I think it would be quite interesting to see that a lot of aspects are covered, that it's not just 'are you sad?', 'are you happy?' all the time. Which means that I'd be appealed by this distinctive character, (...) I need to see that many aspects are covered." (MHMEUCIZ)

Scientific evidence base. Students considered it crucial to be informed about the scientific evidence base of dMHSs. They wanted to know whether there was sufficient empirical support for dMHSs or whether, for example, mental health apps had been proven effective and efficient in trials because otherwise they would wonder why they should even use them. Furthermore, some students stated that they would like to read some information about scientific studies on dMHSs.

"This means that I would find it great if you could somehow retrace the following: Okay, how many participants have tested it and what are the results and maybe also, I don't know, is any S3-guidline included? For me, a certain evidence level would be important. Because otherwise, I could also go to someone who holds a compass over my chest or something like that. But yes, it would be nice to know that work was put into it to examine it, and this would make it more appealing in my opinion. (...) For me, it's actually enough to see: Okay, it has been examined by a research group. They have good results, six university hospitals are using it, and then I'd definitely be convinced of it." (MHMEUCIZ)

Background of developers. The scientific evidence base was often mentioned in combination with the background of dMHSs' developers, meaning their professional expertise. Informing students on whether the team of developers included, for example, psychologists and specialized physicians seemed to increase integrity.

"So, yes, I think it's always good when there is a certain professional background somehow. For example, that (...) psychologists have been involved in the development of it maybe. (...) I think this enhances your trust in the app. Because you feel that it's really useful and even though it won't replace therapy, (...) you can start helping yourself with it." (5DV5XVFM)

Additionally, informing students on who developed dMHSs was considered to expand long-term attachment.

"I also think it's nice to know who is behind it, so who has developed it and why. I think that's especially important, because it binds you to the whole matter in a different way." (OEFFMG40)

Scope of application. Interviewed students wished to be informed about the intended target group, such as seniors, employees or students, because they could then evaluate whether a specific service could be applied to them. They also stated that they would like to be informed about the intended purpose of dMHSs, that is, for which problems and diseases dMHSs were specifically developed. For instance, if students explicitly wanted to learn to cope better with exam nerves, they wanted to immediately see whether a program was developed with this intention.

"Well, if the meaning, the purpose or targeted diseases of the app are adequately formulated in advance, open and honest, or (...) what you'd like to accomplish with it, then it's probably more appealing to everyone—including me —compared to when nothing is really expressed clearly, and you'd practically have to try to get along with it, and see if you can find anything at all. Because this would actually set me back a step right away." (OEFFMG40)

Emergency contact. In case of psychological emergencies, students wished for dMHSs that could provide suitable contacts as well as quick, reliable information in order to help patients in acute need. In this case, anonymity would lose importance.

"Also, to what extent you are forwarded to non-digital locations, let's say, in case of acute need. This should be present as well. People should not be pushed into a digital service, and don't come out of it in that sense. I think that's the most important aspect." (OSCEPLP9)

Time requirement. Additionally, students stated that they would dislike time-consuming dMHSs as they already have a stressful everyday life as a student. For this reason, they wished to be informed about the recommended daily effort that was required to achieve results before usage.

"And maybe also the time limit (...). Some (...) also advertise with something like: 'Seven minutes per day and the day is less stressed.' This would also be important for me as well (...). I don't want to install the app and then enter information for over an hour. Maybe you weren't even prepared for this, because you don't have enough time." (AT9000CZ)

Language selection. Furthermore, one student mentioned that she once unintentionally downloaded a mental health

app that was only available in English, which increased the threshold to use it. Another student stated that, especially as future HCPs, it would be desirable to be informed about whether dMHSs were available in different languages so they could be recommended to patients with varying mother tongues. In general, talking about emotions and struggles seems to be easier using dMHSs in the native language.

"Well, I just feel more comfortable there. It's not like I don't understand it or something like that, but I can just kind of let go." (B3ACVZZ6)

Design preferences

Visual design preferences. Because of limited time resources, most students preferred images or short videos in combination with brief, explanatory text in terms of information strategies. For instance, when sending a news-letter to students, interviewees preferred some facts about dMHSs, such as costs, recommendations, and scope of application, and only a few images or videos about the content and structure of the app.

"I'd say I really like short and concise sentences. (...) When I'm not feeling well mentally or when I'm stressed, and I'm looking for such a service, I don't want to have to go through the cognitive effort of reading long texts. (...) Short, concise sentences that stay in mind, a bit like a mantra maybe. Definitely pictures. Animations would be nice as well." (HNIQK3ZD)

On the other hand, some students preferred texts over videos. They argued that students were often in public locations, such as cafés, where videos were harder to watch:

"I can also imagine videos, especially in the context of explaining how things work. For example, in the app, you can show people how to use everything. And here you have the different functions. (...) But I think that text is one of the clearest things. Because if you are out, for example, and you want to get some information, you wouldn't watch a video. Well, I think that many people do some research when they are not at home. Sometimes, they are in a café, at university, they're working. And I always think that videos are a bit inconvenient in that case." (KB4I9VSV)

When dMHSs provide personal contact with HCPs, some students had the idea of portraying the experts to make dMHSs more appealing and credible.

"It has a different effect if there's a person on it, compared to, I don't know, if you have a picture of some landscape or something else, or no picture at all. But I think it would really make a difference, for me personally at least, because it's more appealing." (SDV5XVFM) A few other students had the idea of a modular composition of information, giving interested recipients the opportunity to dig deeper into specific themes.

"Actually, I like to have a brief summary of the most important information and then, there is additional information in the background, so to speak. For example, that you have the possibility of reading more on an individual issue if you want to do so. But that everything is very compact at first glance, especially if you want to compare things." (KB4I9VSV)

Congruently, students favored information material in light, subtle colors, such as light green or light blue, because they seem to be associated with the healthcare sector and general professionalism.

Linguistic preferences. Regarding linguistic preferences, students had different opinions. Some preferred scientific language and the focus on facts, others would rather go with cheerful, humorous language because addressed topics are already serious enough.

"Yes, I think you catch more people with casual and humorous behaviour. If you really start casually and with humor. This means I wouldn't read it probably, if it were just facts. If I want to read about facts, (...) I open a book. And I just think that you should somehow also see things in a relaxed manner." (GFUI3FCB)

Discussion

The aim of the present study was 1) to explore medical and psychology students' needs and preferences regarding information on dMHSs and 2) to identify attributes and attribute levels that help to design acceptance-facilitating information strategies on dMHSs. Despite future HCPs' important role as gatekeepers of healthcare innovations, such as dMHSs,⁴² and their high risk to develop CMDs themselves,⁴⁵ only little is known about their preferences and needs on dMHSs.⁸⁴ Our results may help fill this research gap.

Overall, almost all interviewed medical and psychology students reported to be open toward the use of dMHSs as a preventive service if they were offered free of charge by their university. However, participants still had little experience with dMHSs. Even though the German Federal Institute for Drugs and Medical Devices already included the first medical apps into the prescription index in October 2020, only a few participants had heard about medical apps before.⁸⁵ This result is in line with prior research, showing that future HCPs report little knowledge about and experience with such apps.^{36,86} Interestingly, 14 out of 34 (retrieved on December 23, 2022) approved medical apps address the management of mental health problems and some of them are even tailored at young adults.87 However, the lack of information on dMHSs seems to have led to a lack of awareness of these offers until today. Accordingly, results of a recent survey by the Fraunhofer Center for International Management and Knowledge Economy IMW showed that even practicing HCPs seem to have low digital health literacy, potentially explaining low uptake rates.⁴¹ At the same time, knowledge about dMHSs was perceived as important by interviewees both for personal needs as well as in preparation for their role as HCPs. Again, this highlights the need for structured education programs.¹⁷ Additionally, interviewed students outlined the importance of proactive and preventive information provision because they often experience stress from the beginning of their studies, which is also in line with prior research. 43,47,88-90

As possible sources regarding information provision on dMHSs for medical and psychology students, their university, HCPs and health insurances, personal internet search, family and friends, employers as well as other sources such as federal ministries or TV advertisement were mentioned. In accordance with other studies, participants sometimes preferred to talk to friends or relatives instead of consulting HCPs because they feared stigmatization and embarrassment.34,46,47,50 However, interviewees favored to be informed by their universities on dMHSs because they wished for a source that can give clear recommendations and guidance for the selection of evidence-based dMHSs. This is in line with previous research outlining that users often feel overwhelmed by the large amount of mental health apps on the market⁹ Similar to the results of Dederichs et al.,62 students appear to be more willing to use dMHSs recommended and provided by their universities. Regehr et al.⁹² also see the duty to inform about mental health services on the part of the universities. Due to significant levels of stress in students, they concluded that universities must employ preventative interventions to reach more students. Generally, there seems to be a lack of knowledge of existing support structures available at universities, even though some efforts have already been made by universities to alleviate mental health problems in students. For instance, there is an increasing number of services offered by student services centers at German universities, which could provide help. However, in accordance with our results, they do not seem to reach students in need.^{79,93} Confirmatory, Liu et al.⁹⁴ also concluded that universities need to make more effort to develop strategies to inform those students about the prevention, detection and treatment of students' mental health problems. However, the lack of a clear allocation of responsibilities regarding the management of these strategies on dMHSs for students' mental health might still be a potential barrier. It needs to be discussed who is in charge of informing students in order to increase the awareness of the low-threshold, flexible and anonymous services for individuals who fear stigmatization. Our results show that especially for medical and psychology students, the student representatives, the student services center, student working groups or the deanship are regarded as possible information sources.

Regarding preferred ways of how to receive information on dMHSs as potential users, interviewed students mentioned print media, such as flyers, brochures, or scientific literature from the university library, as well as several digital media channels, such as social media (e.g. Facebook or Instagram), websites, and newsletters. Even though social media has been used to survey and educate hard-to-reach populations, such as medical students,^{95,96} to our knowledge there has been no study on how social media campaigns might influence the uptake of dMHSs among students. Our results indicate that, for example, targeted Instagram or Spotify formats on dMHSs, including our identified content preferences (e.g. scientific evidence base of dMHSs, developers' background, etc.) to regularly inform student populations, might be a promising tool since the majority of students have social media accounts. Furthermore, our results indicate that a website including all relevant and verified information on dMHSs targeted to the needs of psychology and medical students might be beneficial. The German Digital Health Association (German "Spitzenverband Digitale Gesundheitsversorgung") already hosts a website specifically on medical apps, so a similar tool already exists for practicing HCPs in Germany.

In the university setting, students additionally favored interactive lectures, such as seminars, as information format. Furthermore, students stated that they would prefer the topic of digital health to be an integral part of their study program, either in the form of elective or compulsory subjects. According to Mendes-Santos et al.97 the absence of such structured education on dMHSs might be one factor inhibiting digital health implementation at the moment. In Germany, some efforts have been made to change this state of the art with the new version of the National Competence Based Catalogues of Learning Objectives for Medical Education (German "NKLM 2.0"). The NLKM 2.0 is a revised qualification framework for medical students that comprehensively prepares students for their everyday work as physicians with many competence-oriented learning objectives. It now also includes digital health literacy as one of the overarching competencies, which will be part of the mandatory core curriculum in medical studies starting in 2025.98 However, the interviewed participants did not expect that respective courses will be about managing one's own health and educating students about dMHSs for self-management. Our results emphasize that there must be a focus on the aspects of help for self-help if one wishes to meet the needs of psychology and medical students in Germany.

Furthermore, participants gave detailed answers for content preferences regarding information strategies on dMHSs. Interviewed students wished to be informed about other users' experiences with dMHSs, costs, anonymity and data safety, individualization possibilities, content and structure of dMHSs, their scientific evidence base and scope of application, emergency possibilities, time requirement of usage as well as possible language selection. Similar facilitators and barriers to the usage of dMHSs were identified in previous studies.^{62,99-101} In accordance with Dederichs et al.,62 information on costs of dMHSs seemed to be especially important because high costs would hinder usage. While Apolinário-Hagen et al.68 found no meaningful influence of testimonials on attitudes toward dMHSs, recommendations and reviews by other groups such as users or HCPs were also perceived as essential for information strategies on dMHSs by participants. Those testimonials seemed to be more convincing if they were written in more detail and included strategies to promote the sources similarity to the recipients, their expertise and credibility.^{102,103} Interestingly, many interviewed students mentioned that they would appreciate information on the professional background of those who developed dMHSs, which does not seem to have been of special importance in previous research. As we interviewed future HCPs, they might potentially put a stronger emphasis on this aspect because knowing who developed such dMHSs (e.g. other psychologists or medical experts) seems to increase integrity. Further research should investigate whether including this information in information strategies on dMHSs specifically targeted at psychology and medical students might have an influence on the uptake.

Regarding questions on how information strategies on dMHSs should be visually and linguistically designed, students had different opinions, but, in general, content and information source seemed to be of greater importance for participants. Some students preferred short videos that explained dMHSs, others favored text passages with respective images or wished for interactive workshops where students can directly test dMHSs. In general, most students preferred short information including some facts about the dMHSs, such as costs and scope of application. Apolinário-Hagen et al.⁵⁴ found similar results, showing that there might be a positive association between the provision of general facts about dMHSs and attitudes as well as behavioral intentions to future use of such services. Lastly, some interviewed students preferred scientific language and facts, others favored cheerful, humorous language. In order to design different information strategies on dMHSs that fit the varying needs and preferences, it seems essential to determine the relative importance of each of the identified attributes and to identify segments of medical and psychology students based on their shared preferences. To do so, there are possibilities to use research designs that allow for incremental value of different information components,⁶⁰ such as discrete choice experiments (DCEs).

Limitations

While this study contributed to the understanding of information preferences and needs on dMHSs among future HCPs, it also has some limitations. First, due to anonymity reasons, we did not ask which semester study participants were in. It could be possible that attitudes as well as preferences and needs might change in the course of the studies, considering that students in different years might face different barriers. A further limitation of our study is the potential selection bias in recruiting participants. Possibly, only those students that are interested in digital health might have participated in our study, as we have advertised our study with the question "Interest in e-mental-health?" Thus, the information need for dMHSs might be slightly overrated. Due to the qualitative nature of the study, results are not representative for the entire population of psychology and medical students.. Additionally, the results cannot be transferred to other countries, as study programs might differ across nations and the prescription of medical apps in the German healthcare system is yet unique worldwide. Furthermore, we recruited significantly fewer psychology students (n =24%) than medical students. Even though we could not determine differences in needs and preferences between both groups of students, psychology students were underrepresented. Psychology students as important future HCPs have barely been included in research on the prevalence of CMDs and even less concerning dMHSs' preferences, thus future research should take their perspective into account in more detail. Moreover, AKS and PB gave a short introduction on dMHSs in the beginning of each online interview, which might have influenced participants' answers. However, we tried to consider this bias by remaining as neutral as possible during the online interviews and by asking open questions. Nevertheless, it is possible that we still elicited some bias that we are not aware of. In addition, we did not have the resources to return to our participants to check for the accuracy of our observations (i.e. member checking) and to thereby increase our study's credibility. Lastly, although qualitative content analysis is a well-suited approach for application in areas where information seems incomplete or not yet attainable through quantitative approaches, it may be possible that individual quotes and opinions lose meaning during formation of categories and subcategories when reducing the data material.⁷⁷ A further limitation might be the fact that one coder fully performed the qualitative analysis. However, a second independent coder was involved in the formation of the coding scheme. After completion of the first coding round, the scheme was further reviewed and slightly modified by two other independent coders. All coders then approved the final coding scheme. Coding by one author was therefore perceived to be sufficient.

13

Implications for practice and future research

The results give first insights into information strategies on how dMHSs should be designed to meet the preferences and needs of both uninformed and possibly distressed students who will become HCPs. Through AFIs in the form of recipient-targeted information strategies on dMHSs, barriers such as low digital health literacy, information overload or concerns about the efficacy and safety of dMHSs could be overcome.37 Our results are specifically helpful for, for example, student services centers as they give recommendations on how students in need could be reached and how they could be strategically informed about dMHSs, especially when the treatment demand exceeds their resources.93,104 For instance, the student council could inform medical and psychology students about dMHSs by designing a social media post (e.g. for Instagram) with a short video explaining data safety, scientific evidence base and application scope of a specific mental health app for exam anxiety, using light blue or green colors. Alternatively, the student services center could send a newsletter with similar information on dMHSs to all students during the freshman week or shortly before the exam periods starts.

Knowing which attributes of information strategies on dMHSs are preferred by medical and psychology students can further help policy makers, mental HCPs as well as product developers to understand why students still hesitate to use dMHSs. Hence, promoting the awareness of dMHSs may be the first step to their adoption based on informed decisions. However, it is still unknown which attributes are most important and how these attribute levels should be combined to constitute effective AFIs. Thus, to increase the implementation of dMHSs and to give clear guidelines, further research mimicking context-sensitive real-world decision scenarios with a representative sample of medical and psychological students is needed.⁸⁶ The focus should be on the systematic variations of the identified attribute levels, as exemplified in Figure 2.59 As students stated that they wished to be informed about the topic by their universities, further research should focus on information strategies implemented in the university setting. To identify which components are preferred by medical and psychology students in comparison to others, Ebert et al.⁶⁰ proposed designs that allow incremental value of different intervention components. A DCE format allows for such personalized AFIs entailing a choice between hypothetical information strategies on dMHSs. DCEs offer an empirically grounded methodology to identify important components of information strategies on dMHSs, by modeling the preference strength for a variety of attributes and attribute levels.74,75 This would make dMHSs information strategies more tangible to participants compared to conventional survey techniques that do not look for possible trade-offs. Our results can be used for the conceptual development of such DCEs.

	Information strategy A	Information strategy B
Information source: Where do I get the information from?	Student working groups	Student services center
Information format: How do I get the information?	Flyer	Workshop
Content preference: What am I informed about?	Target group	Scientific evidence base
Recommendation: Who recommends the service?	Other students	Healthcare providers
Timing: When do I get the information?	First semester week	At the end of lecture period

Figure 2. Example of information strategies with varying attribute levels.

Conclusion

We focused on how medical and psychology students as future HCPs would like to be informed about dMHSs for two main reasons. First, medical and psychology students are potential users of dMHSs since they are confronted with high proportions of stress during their studies. Second, the Digital Healthcare Act in Germany has started to shape the professional routines of future HCPs, which calls for an early acquisition of digital health literacy as they are the gatekeepers for the use of dMHSs. Thus, our aim was to explore their information preferences and needs to design multi-component information strategies on dMHSs as AFIs. We identified various information sources (e.g. university, HCPs), information formats (e.g. newsletter, social media) and content preferences (e.g. reviews, costs) as possible components of such targeted information strategies. Informing medical and psychology students could increase awareness and overcome barriers to the broad dissemination of dMHSs such as skepticism and information overload. Future research should focus on the systematic variations of these components, for instance in a DCE.

Acknowledgments: The authors thank the FoKo of the Medical Faculty of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf for supporting this research. They also thank the Heine University Düsseldorf for covering the publication fees (University Library, Open-Access-Funds of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf). Lastly, they thank Prof. Dr David Daniel Ebert, Prof. Dr Bernhard Breil, Mathias Harrer and Dr Jan Felix Nitsch as collaborating partners for their expertise and constructive comments during the preparation of the FoKo proposal.

Contributorship: PB: investigation, formal analysis, data curation, visualization, project administration, and writing—original draft. AKS: investigation, formal analysis, data curation, writing—reviewing and editing. PA: writing—reviewing and editing. LG: translation of quotes, writing—reviewing and editing. AI: writing —reviewing and editing. AL: validation, writing—reviewing and editing. JAH: conceptualization, methodology, supervision, validation, funding acquisition, writing—reviewing and editing. All authors reviewed and edited the manuscript and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Declaration of conflicting interests: The authors declared the following potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: During data collection and analysis, PB has worked for the Rehappy GmbH, which developed a medical app for the rehabilitation of stroke patients. All other authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Ethical approval: The ethics committee of the Medical Faculty of the University of Duesseldorf approved the study (study number 2020-972).

Funding: The authors disclosed receipt of the following financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: This research is part of a mixed-methods study ("eMent-Inform-DCE") that is funded by an internal funds for Young Investigators of the research commission (Forschungskommission; FoKo) of the Faculty of Medicine of the Heinrich Heine University Dusseldorf (proposal: 2020-60; project lead: Dr JAH, study coordinator and doctoral researcher: PB, M.Sc.).

Guarantor: PB.

ORCID iDs: Pia Braun (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2179-4842 Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5755-9225

Supplemental material: Supplemental material for this article is available online.

References

- Thom J, Bretschneider J, Kraus N, et al. Versorgungsepidemiologie psychischer Störungen Warum sinken die Prävalenzen trotz vermehrter Versorgungsangebote nicht ab? Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz 2019; 62: 128–139.
- DGPPN. Basisdaten Psychische Erkrankungen, Januar 2022.
- Ferrari AJ, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of 12 mental disorders in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2019. *The Lancet Psychiatry* 2022; 9: 137–150.
- Shah SMA, Mohammad D, Qureshi MFH, et al. Prevalence, psychological responses and associated correlates of depression, anxiety and stress in a global population, during the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic. *Community Ment Health J* 2021; 57: 101–110.
- Racine N, McArthur BA, Cooke JE, et al. Global prevalence of depressive and anxiety symptoms in children and adolescents during COVID-19: a meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatr* 2021; 175: 1142–1150.
- Ebert DD, Cuijpers P, Muñoz RF, et al. Prevention of mental health disorders using internet- and Mobile-based interventions: a narrative review and recommendations for future research. *Front Psychiatry* 2017; 8: 116.
- Torous J, Jän Myrick K, Rauseo-Ricupero N, et al. Digital mental health and COVID-19: using technology today to accelerate the curve on access and quality tomorrow. *JMIR Ment Health* 2020; 7: e18848.
- Gerlinger G, Mangiapane N and Sander J. Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen (DiGA) in der ärztlichen und psychotherapeutischen Versorgung. Chancen und Herausforderungen aus Sicht der Leistungserbringer. Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz 2021; 64: 1213–1219.

- Saleem M, Kühne L, de Santis KK, et al. Understanding engagement strategies in digital interventions for mental health promotion: scoping review. *JMIR Ment Health* 2021; 8: e30000.
- Dülsen P, Bendig E, Küchler A-M, et al. Digital interventions in adult mental healthcare settings: recent evidence and future directions. *Curr Opin Psychiatry* 2020; 33: 422–431.
- Philippe TJ, Sikder N, Jackson A, et al. Digital health interventions for delivery of mental health care: systematic and comprehensive meta-review. *JMIR Ment Health* 2022; 9: e35159.
- Riper H, Andersson G, Christensen H, et al. Theme issue on e-mental health: a growing field in internet research. J Med Internet Res 2010; 12: e74.
- Andersson G and Titov N. Advantages and limitations of internet-based interventions for common mental disorders. *World Psychiatry* 2014; 13: 4–11.
- Christensen H and Hickie IB. Using e-health applications to deliver new mental health services. *Med J Aust* 2010; 192: S53–S56.
- 15. Shoemaker EZ and Hilty DM. e-Mental health improves access to care, facilitates early intervention, and provides evidence-based treatments at a distance. In: Mucic D and Hilty DM (eds) *e-Mental health*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2016, pp.43–57.
- Ebert DD, van Daele T, Nordgreen T, et al. Internet- and mobile-based psychological interventions: applications, efficacy, and potential for improving mental health. *Eur Psychol* 2018; 23: 167–187.
- 17. Braun P, Drüge M, Hennemann S, et al. Acceptance of E-mental health services for different application purposes among psychotherapists in clinical training in Germany and Switzerland: secondary analysis of a cross-sectional survey. Front Digit Health 2022; 4: 840869.
- Feijt MA, de Kort YA, Bongers IM, et al. Perceived drivers and barriers to the adoption of eMental health by psychologists: the construction of the levels of adoption of eMental health model. *J Med Internet Res* 2018; 20: e153.
- Whaibeh E, Mahmoud H and Naal H. Telemental health in the context of a pandemic: the COVID-19 experience. *Curr Treat Options Psychiatry* 2020; 7: 198–202.
- 20. German Federal Ministry of Health. Draft bill of the German Federal Ministry of Health on digital healthcare law (German, Referentenentwurf des Bundesministeriums für Gesundheit, Entwurf eines Gesetzes für eine bessere Versorgung durch Digitalisierung und Innovation) (Digitale Versorgung-Gesetz – DVG): DVG, 2019.
- German Federal Institute for Drugs and Medical Devices. DiGA – Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen: Rechtliche Grundlagen: Digitale-Versorgung-Gesetz (DVG) und Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen-Verordnung (DiGAV), https://www.bfarm.de/DE/Medizinprodukte/Aufgaben/DiGA/_ node.html (accessed 5 June 2022).
- 22. Hoffmann L and Rybicki B. Gesundheits-Apps werden zum Exportschlager: Deutschland hat die App auf Rezept, die von der Kasse erstattet wird, vor über einem Jahr eingeführt. Andere Länder wollen die Innovation nun adaptieren, https:// www.handelsblatt.com/inside/digital_health/innovationgesundheits-apps-werden-zum-exportschlager-/27809340. html (2021, accessed 5 June 2022).

- Harith S, Backhaus I, Mohbin N, et al. Effectiveness of digital mental health interventions for university students: an umbrella review. *PeerJ* 2022; 10: e13111.
- Hollis C, Falconer CJ, Martin JL, et al. Annual Research Review: digital health interventions for children and young people with mental health problems—a systematic and meta-review. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2017; 58: 474–503.
- 25. Davies EB, Morriss R and Glazebrook C. Computer-delivered and web-based interventions to improve depression, anxiety, and psychological well-being of university students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2014; 16: e130.
- 26. Lattie EG, Adkins EC, Winquist N, et al. Digital mental health interventions for depression, anxiety, and enhancement of psychological well-being among college students. Systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2019; 21: e12869.
- Harrer M, Adam SH, Baumeister H, et al. Internet interventions for mental health in university students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res* 2019; 28: e1759.
- Gaebel W, Großimlinghaus I, Kerst A, et al. European Psychiatric Association (EPA) guidance on the quality of eMental health interventions in the treatment of psychotic disorders. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2016; 266: 125–137.
- Krämer R and Köhler S. Evaluation of the online-based selfhelp programme "Selfapy" in patients with unipolar depression: study protocol for a randomized, blinded parallel group dismantling study. *Trials* 2021; 22: 264.
- Berger T, Urech A, Krieger T, et al. Effects of a transdiagnostic unguided Internet intervention ('velibra') for anxiety disorders in primary care: results of a randomized controlled trial. *Psychol Med* 2017; 47: 67–80.
- Berger T, Krieger T, Sude K, et al. Evaluating an e-mental health program ("deprexis") as adjunctive treatment tool in psychotherapy for depression: results of a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. J Affect Disord 2018; 227: 455-462.
- Richter L and Silberzahn T (eds). eHealth Monitor 2021: Deutschlands Weg in die digitale Gesundheitsversorgung— Status quo und Perspektiven. Berlin: Medizinisch Wissenschaftliche Verlagsgesellschaft, 2021.
- 33. Gaebel W, Lukies R, Kerst A, et al. Upscaling e-mental health in Europe: a six-country qualitative analysis and policy recommendations from the eMEN project. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2021; 271: 1005–1016.
- 34. Ebert DD, Mortier P, Kaehlke F, et al. Barriers of mental health treatment utilization among first-year college students: first cross-national results from the WHO World Mental Health International College Student Initiative. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 2019; 28: e1782.
- 35. Dahlhausen F, Zinner M, Bieske L, et al. Physicians' attitudes toward prescribable mHealth apps and implications for adoption in Germany: mixed methods study. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth* 2021; 9: e33012.
- 36. Mayer G, Gronewold N, Alvarez S, et al. Acceptance and expectations of medical experts, students, and patients toward electronic mental health apps: cross-sectional quantitative and qualitative survey study. *JMIR Ment Health* 2019; 6: e14018.

- Schreiweis B, Pobiruchin M, Strotbaum V, et al. Barriers and facilitators to the implementation of eHealth services: systematic literature analysis. *J Med Internet Res* 2019; 21: e14197.
- Hennemann S, Beutel ME and Zwerenz R. Ready for eHealth? Health professionals' acceptance and adoption of eHealth interventions in inpatient routine care. J Health Commun 2017; 22: 274–284.
- Gatdula N, Costa CB, Rascón MS, et al. College students' perceptions of telemental health to address their mental health needs. J Am Coll Health 2022: 1–7.
- Dockweiler C, Kupitz A, Palmdorf S, et al. Onlinetherapie bei depressiven störungen eine akzeptanzanalyse aus der perspektive der behandelnden. *Nervenarzt* 2020; 91: 243–251.
- Radić M, Donner I, Waack M, et al. Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen: Die Akzeptanz steigern, https://www.aerzteblatt. de/archiv/217790/Digitale-Gesundheitsanwendungen-Die-Akzeptanz-steigern (2021, accessed 13 December 2021).
- Leigh S and Ashall-Payne L. The role of health-care providers in mHealth adoption. *The Lancet Digital Health* 2019; 1: e58–e59.
- Bacchi S and Licinio J. Resilience and psychological distress in psychology and medical students. *Acad Psychiatry* 2017; 41: 185–188.
- 44. Peluso DL, Carleton RN and Asmundson GJG. Depression symptoms in Canadian psychology graduate students: do research productivity, funding, and the academic advisory relationship play a role? *Can J Behav Sci/Revue canadienne des sciences du comportement* 2011; 43: 119–127.
- Rotenstein LS, Ramos MA, Torre M, et al. Prevalence of depression, depressive symptoms, and suicidal ideation among medical students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA* 2016; 316: 2214–2236.
- Hankir AK, Northall A and Zaman R. Stigma and mental health challenges in medical students. *BMJ Case Rep* 2014; 2014: 1–5. DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2014-205226
- Dyrbye LN, Eacker A, Durning SJ, et al. The impact of stigma and personal experiences on the help-seeking behaviors of medical students with burnout. *Acad Med* 2015; 90: 961–969.
- Schwenk TL, Davis L and Wimsatt LA. Depression, stigma, and suicidal ideation in medical students. *JAMA* 2010; 304: 1181–1190.
- 49. Woof VG, Hames C, Speer S, et al. A qualitative exploration of the unique barriers, challenges and experiences encountered by undergraduate psychology students with mental health problems. *Stud Higher Educ* 2021; 46: 750–762.
- Fletcher I, Castle M, Scarpa A, et al. An exploration of medical student attitudes towards disclosure of mental illness. *Med Educ Online* 2020; 25: 1727713.
- Ebert DD, Berking M, Cuijpers P, et al. Increasing the acceptance of internet-based mental health interventions in primary care patients with depressive symptoms. A randomized controlled trial. J Affect Disord 2015; 176: 9–17.
- Baumeister H, Terhorst Y, Grssle C, et al. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on psychotherapists' acceptance of blended therapy. *PLoS One* 2020; 15: e0236995.
- Apolinário-Hagen J, Harrer M, Kählke F, et al. Public attitudes toward guided internet-based therapies: web-based survey study. *JMIR Ment Health* 2018; 5: e10735.

- 54. Apolinário-Hagen J, Fritsche L, Bierhals C, et al. Improving attitudes toward e-mental health services in the general population via psychoeducational information material: a randomized controlled trial. *Internet Interv* 2018; 12: 141–149.
- 55. Soucy JN, Owens VAM, Hadjistavropoulos HD, et al. Educating patients about internet-delivered cognitive behaviour therapy: perceptions among treatment seekers and nontreatment seekers before and after viewing an educational video. *Internet Interv* 2016; 6: 57–63.
- Baumeister H, Seifferth H, Lin J, et al. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on Patients' acceptance of internet-based pain interventions: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin J Pain* 2015; 31: 528–535.
- Baumeister H, Nowoczin L, Lin J, et al. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on diabetes patients' acceptance of internet-based interventions for depression: a randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 2014; 105: 30–39.
- Linardon J, Anderson C, Chapneviss T, et al. Effects of an acceptance-facilitating intervention on acceptance and usage of digital interventions for binge eating. *Psychiatr Serv* 2022: appips202100616.
- Rogers EM. Diffusion of preventive innovations. Addict Behav 2002; 27: 989–993.
- 60. Ebert DD, Franke M, Kählke F, et al. Increasing intentions to use mental health services among university students. Results of a pilot randomized controlled trial within the World Health Organization's world mental health international college student initiative. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res* 2019; 28: e1754.
- Hein HJ, Glombiewski JA, Rief W, et al. Effects of a video intervention on physicians' acceptance of pain apps: a randomised controlled trial. *BMJ Open* 2022; 12: e060020.
- Dederichs M, Weber J, Pischke CR, et al. Exploring medical students' views on digital mental health interventions: a qualitative study. *Internet Interv* 2021; 25: 100398.
- Phillips EA, Himmler SF and Schreyögg J. Preferences for e-mental health interventions in Germany: a discrete choice experiment. *Value Health* 2021; 24: 421–430.
- Healey BJ, Griffiths KM and Bennett K. The effect of programme testimonials on registrations for an online cognitive behaviour therapy intervention: a randomised trial. *Digit Health* 2017; 3: 2055207617729937.
- Winterbottom A, Bekker HL, Conner M, et al. Does narrative information bias individual's decision making? A systematic review. Soc Sci Med 2008; 67: 2079–2088.
- Bekker HL, Winterbottom AE, Butow P, et al. Do personal stories make patient decision aids more effective? A critical review of theory and evidence. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak* 2013; 13: S9.
- 67. Apolinário-Hagen J, Fritsche L, Wopperer J, et al. Investigating the persuasive effects of testimonials on the acceptance of digital stress management trainings among university students and underlying mechanisms: a randomized controlled trial. *Front Psychol* 2021; 12: 738950.
- Apolinário-Hagen J, Harrer M, Dederichs M, et al. Exploring the influence of testimonial source on attitudes towards e-mental health interventions among university students: four-group randomized controlled trial. *PLoS One* 2021; 16: e0252012.

- Ritchie J, Lewis J, McNaughton Nicholls C, et al. (eds). Qualitative research practice: a guide for social science students and researchers. 2nd ed. London: Sage Publications Ltd, 2014.
- Schwientek A-K, Braun P, Apolinário-Hagen J, et al. Formative qualitative research on the development of a discrete choice experiment on e-Mental-Health information preferences and needs among prospect healthcare providers, 2021.
- Wildauer M and Apolinário-Hagen J. Untersuchung der Wirksamkeit von psychoedukativem Informationsmaterial zur Förderung der Akzeptanz von Gesundheits-Apps und E-Mental-Health-Angeboten zur Stressbewältigung im Fernstudium. *Fachzeitschrift für Onlineberatung und* 2018; 14: 38–58. www.e-beratungsjournal.net (ISSN 1816–7632) (2018).
- 72. Holden A, Nanayakkara S, Skinner J, et al. What do Australian health consumers believe about commercial advertisements and testimonials? A survey on health service advertising. *BMC Public Health* 2021; 21: 74.
- Cunningham CE, Deal K, Rimas H, et al. Modeling the information preferences of parents of children with mental health problems: a discrete choice conjoint experiment. J Abnorm Child Psychol 2008; 36: 1123–1138.
- Cunningham CE, Walker JR, Eastwood JD, et al. Modeling mental health information preferences during the early adult years: a discrete choice conjoint experiment. J Health Commun 2014; 19: 413–440.
- Cunningham CE, Zipursky RB, Christensen BK, et al. Modeling the mental health service utilization decisions of university undergraduates: a discrete choice conjoint experiment. J Am Coll Health 2017; 65: 389–399.
- 76. Lenzner T and Menold N. Frageformulierung, 2014.
- Mayring P. Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse: Grundlagen und Techniken. 12., aktualisierte und überarbeitete Auflage. Weinheim, Basel: Beltz, 2015.
- Dederichs M, Weber J, Muth T, et al. Students' perspectives on interventions to reduce stress in medical school: a qualitative study. *PLoS One* 2020; 15: e0240587.
- Heinrichs K, Hermülheim V, Pilz González L, et al. When in doubt ... career indecision, mental wellbeing, and consultationseeking behaviour—a qualitative interview study among students and counsellors. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2021: 18.
- Weber J, Skodda S, Muth T, et al. Stressors and resources related to academic studies and improvements suggested by medical students: a qualitative study. *BMC Med Educ* 2019; 19: 312.
- Tong A, Sainsbury P and Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *Int J Qual Health Care* 2007; 19: 349–357.
- Hollin IL, Craig BM, Coast J, et al. Reporting formative qualitative research to support the development of quantitative preference study protocols and corresponding survey instruments: guidelines for authors and reviewers. *Patient* 2020; 13: 121–136.
- Mayring P. Qualitative content analysis: theoretical foundation, basic procedures and software solution. Austria: Beltz Klagenfurt, 2014.
- Kerst A, Zielasek J and Gaebel W. Smartphone applications for depression: a systematic literature review and a survey of health care professionals' attitudes towards their use in clinical practice. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2020; 270: 139–152.

2.2 Acceptance of e-mental health services for different application purposes among psychotherapists in clinical training in Germany and Switzerland: Secondary analysis of a cross-sectional survey




Acceptance of E-Mental Health Services for Different Application Purposes Among Psychotherapists in Clinical Training in Germany and Switzerland: Secondary Analysis of a Cross-Sectional Survey

Pia Braun^{1*}, Marie Drüge², Severin Hennemann³, Felix Jan Nitsch^{4,5}, Robert Staeck² and Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Heleen Riper, VU Amsterdam, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Karin Waldherr, Ferdinand Porsche FemFH - Distance Learning University of Applied Sciences, Austria Kim Mathiasen, University of Southern Denmark, Denmark

> *Correspondence: Pia Braun

braunp@hhu.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Digital Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Digital Health

Received: 21 December 2021 Accepted: 27 January 2022 Published: 28 February 2022

Citation:

Braun P, Drüge M, Hennemann S, Nitsch FJ, Staeck R and Apolinário-Hagen J (2022) Acceptance of E-Mental Health Services for Different Application Purposes Among Psychotherapists in Clinical Training in Germany and Switzerland: Secondary Analysis of a Cross-Sectional Survey. Front. Digit. Health 4:840869. doi: 10.3389/fddth.2022.840869 ¹ Faculty of Medicine, Institute for Occupational, Social and Environmental Medicine, Centre for Health and Society, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany, ² Department of Clinical Psychology/Psychotherapy Research, Institute of Psychology, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ³ Department of Clinical Psychology, Psychotherapy and Experimental Psychopathology, Institute of Psychology, University of Mainz, Mainz, Germany, ⁴ Marketing Area, INSEAD, Fontainebleau, France, ⁵ Paris Brain Institute (ICM), INSERM U 1127, CNRS UMR 7225, Sorbonne Université, Paris, France

Background: Despite solid evidence supporting the efficacy of electronic mental health (EMH) services, their acceptance among psychotherapists is limited and uptake rates remain low. However, the acceptance of different EMH services has yet barely been examined in future generations of psychotherapists in a differentiated manner. The aims of this study were (1) to elaborate the intention to use various EMH services for different application purposes and (2) to determine predictors of EMH service acceptance among psychotherapists in clinical training (PiT).

Materials and Methods: Our paper is based on a secondary data analysis of a cross-sectional survey. Respondents were recruited via recognized educational institutions for psychotherapy within Germany and the German-speaking part of Switzerland between June and July of 2020. The survey contained items on the intention to use different EMH services (i.e., guided and unguided programs, virtual reality, psychotherapy by telephone and videoconference) for various application purposes (i.e., prevention, treatment addition, treatment substitute, aftercare). Potential predictors of EMH service acceptance (e.g., barriers and advantages) were examined based on an extension of the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT).

Results: Most of the *n* = 216 respondents were female (88.4%) and located in Germany (72.2%). General acceptance of EMH was moderate (M = 3.4, SD = 1.12, range 1–5), while acceptance of psychotherapy via videoconference was highest (M = 3.7, SD = 1.15) and acceptance of unguided programs was lowest (M = 2.55, SD = 1.14). There was an interaction effect of EMH service and application purpose ($\eta^2 = 0.21$). Barriers and advantages both had a uniform influence on EMH service acceptance (Pr > 0.999), while impersonality, legal concerns, concerns about therapeutic alliance,

1

simplified information provision, simplified contact maintenance, time flexibility, and geographic flexibility were significant predictors (all p < 0.05). Results showed that the extended UTAUT model was the best fitting model to predict EMH service acceptance (Pr > 0.999).

Conclusions: The intention to use different EMH services varied between application purposes among PiT. To increase acceptance of EMH services and reduce misconceptions, we identified predictors that should be addressed in future acceptance-facilitating interventions when educating PiT.

Keywords: acceptance, eHealth, eMental health, psychotherapists, telemedicine, unified theory of acceptance and use of technology

INTRODUCTION

During the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, common mental health disorders (CMDs) such as depression, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) or anxiety disorders increased tremendously across the globe (1–4). High prevalence rates for CMDs can oftentimes be linked to perceived uncertainty, fear and social isolation measures that come along with this global health crisis (5–7). To offer quick, safe and location-independent help, the World Health Organization (8) has recommended to ensure access to psychosocial support services through digital systems. Consequently, the need for easily accessible, effective and flexible services as alternatives or additions to traditional mental health treatment to support vulnerable populations became even more evident during the COVID-19 pandemic (9).

Electronic mental health (EMH) services are usually internetdelivered services that have proven to be effective in trials on the prevention and treatment of CMDs (10-13), for instance in reducing symptoms of PTSD (14), anxiety (13, 15), depression (16), panic disorder and social anxiety disorder (17). EMH services have been advancing into routine care in developed countries even before the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, as they can complement and improve health care systems (10). Principally, EMH interventions have several advantages over face-to-face interventions such as time flexibility and greater accessibility because they are location-independent and thereby could conquer structural barriers (18, 19). Additionally, EMH services offer a low-threshold, anonymous option for individuals who are afraid of stigmatization (19). Other drivers include perceived acceleration of the treatment process and outcome, simplified contact maintenance (20), improved adherence, health literacy and disease management (21).

Despite these advantages and well documented efficacy of EMH interventions (22–24) the dissemination remains low in many countries at an earlier stage of digital health implementation into healthcare such as Switzerland or Germany (25–27). Efficient implementation of EMH services depends on the utilization and acceptance by potential users and health experts. According to the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT), acceptance can be operationalized as the intention to use technology and serves as a direct predictor of the actual usage (9, 28). Thus, low uptake rates can be explained by EMH acceptance being low to moderate among patients (25, 29-31) and health professionals (32, 33). The UTAUT model emerged from eight different acceptance models and was initially developed for the work context (28), but has been successfully validated and adapted to digital health care (9). It is the most frequently used model providing a theoretical framework for potential factors that predict acceptance, including performance expectancy, effort expectancy about the ease to use technical services, social influence by stakeholders and facilitating conditions, as e.g., the extent to which organizational and technical structures support the use of services (34). Performance expectancy is supposed to be the strongest predictor (9), representing beliefs of relative advantage or usefulness of the technical service. Beyond these well documented UTAUT factors, other predictors of EMH acceptance that have been suggested by research, are personal experience with EMH and electronic health (eHealth) literacy (i.e., the ability to find, evaluate, and utilize internet-based health information) (35, 36), knowledge about EMH services (30, 37) and the perceived evidence base on the effectiveness of EMH services (38).

In general, EMH acceptance seems to be even lower among health professionals such as psychotherapists compared to patients (39, 40). Barriers that are perceived by psychotherapists are diverse, including insufficient information (21) concerns about the technology itself (e.g., data security and privacy), lack of clear ethical guidelines and concerns about relational aspects (20, 37, 41, 42). Additionally, a comprehensive legal and regulatory framework for psychotherapists, along with reimbursement schemes, is often lacking even though awareness at the policy level is increasing (43). As health experts are often the primary source of health information or treatment recommendation (44), they supposedly have a large influence on patients' attitude formation and thus on the implementation of EMH services (35). Hence, research should focus on understanding both acceptability and attitudes as determinants of behavioral intentions to use and actual utilization of health experts as negative attitudes can result in slow dissemination or poorer uptake of EMH services (45, 46).

EMH is an umbrella term that includes a wide range of electronic services (e.g., self-help, psychoeducational information, virtual reality, psychotherapy via videoconference,



counselling, etc.) which are applied for different purposes, such as for prevention or treatment of CMDs (47). About a decade ago, Eichenberg and Ott (44) could show that most EMH services were used for treatment (71%), 19.1% for prevention and only 9% for rehabilitation purposes. Meanwhile, digital health applications (medical apps) for mental health such as selfapy (48), velibra (49) or deprexis (50) have been integrated into routine care in Germany in fall 2020 and are now used along the entire patient journey (51). Medical apps are guided or unguided programs which are self-directed mobile phone- or web-based programs that entail information and a fixed number of modules or exercises for (mental) health problems (12, 48, 50). Oftentimes, the basis of guided medical apps is internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy (iCBT) which involves the user following a written electronic treatment program, together with receiving synchronous or asynchronous support from a therapist via e-mail, texts or calls (52). This therapeutic approach has been shown to be effective in reducing anxiety disorders (53), depressive symptoms (23), suicidal ideation (54) or insomnia (55). In Germany, medical apps can be prescribed by physicians for self-help purposes, aftercare or relapse prevention (38, 56). In Switzerland, medical apps are similarly used, expanding their traditional health care system (57). For self-help purposes, unguided programs are most often used as they offer a possibility to monitor and better understand perceived symptoms and help users to take actions on their own to improve their mental health (12). For aftercare and rehabilitation purposes, professionally guided programs have been predominantly implemented, with health experts supporting clients in health promotion by providing some sort of synchronous or asynchronous interaction or feedback in addition to unguided services (12). Nevertheless, reducing EMH to medical apps would fall short as there are several more ways to use EMH. For instance, there is psychotherapy via videoconference or telephone which is most often used as an alternative treatment delivery service, either

TABLE 1 | Means and standard deviations of EMH service acceptance.

	М	SD
Acceptance of psychotherapy via telephone	3.36	1.21
Acceptance of psychotherapy via videoconference	3.7	1.15
Acceptance of VR treatment	2.7	1.1
Acceptance of unguided programs	2.55	1.14
Acceptance of guided programs	2.88	1.14
General acceptance of EMH	3.4	1.12

as an addition to or substitute for face-to-face-therapy (58). It has been shown to be an effective and timely treatment option for depression and anxiety disorders, especially for patients living in rural areas (58). However, the evidence base of the efficacy of psychotherapy via videoconference or telephone is still scarce and researchers have only started to investigate the efficacy of this EMH service with the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic (59–61). Virtual reality (VR) is another EMH service that has been used for diagnostic purposes (62), for prevention (63), and the treatment of a range of CMDs in clinical settings (62, 64). For instance, VR therapy has been shown to be a valuable treatment for social anxiety (65), panic disorder (66) or PTSD (67).

Clearly, EMH services are characterized by great heterogeneity of applied methods, target groups, desired objectives and scientific evidence (68). However, EMH acceptance has yet barely been examined in a differentiated manner with regard to specific areas of application. Thus, general conclusions about EMH acceptance fall short. Instead, it is necessary to assess the intention to use various EMH services for different application purposes to get an extensive picture. Therefore, the research aim of this study was (1) to directly compare the acceptance of psychotherapy via telephone,



psychotherapy via videoconference, VR, unguided and guided programs among psychotherapists in clinical training (PiT) for different application purposes, including prevention, treatment substitute and treatment addition in acute care as well as aftercare. Additionally, factors that potentially predict EMH acceptance have most often been assessed in general and not for distinct EMH services. Thus, another aim of this study was (2) to apply an extended UTAUT model to exploit which predictors best determine EMH service acceptance. We chose PiT as our study population because they will shape the future healthcare system. In Germany and Switzerland, PiT already hold a university degree in either psychology or medicine and are now in their postgraduate clinical training which is required to obtain the state-approved permission to practice psychotherapy. Even though the advancing digital transformation of healthcare has already started to shape the professional routines and careers of PiT, their perspective has rarely been included in research.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

This is an exploratory secondary analysis based on data derived from a cross-sectional survey-study that was carried out by a research team of the University of Zurich in summer 2020. For the primary analysis the acceptance and perceived barriers of EMH were calculated as an average of five different EMH services (psychotherapy via telephone, psychotherapy via videoconference, VR, unguided and guided programs) among PiT. The current acceptance scores of EMH services were compared to pre-COVID-19 acceptance scores, which were assessed retrospectively. Results will be reported elsewhere in full length¹. Participants were recruited between June and July of 2020 via recognized educational institutions for psychotherapy within Germany and the German-speaking part of Switzerland. Recruitment was administered solely via e-mail, asking the post-gradual educational institutions to forward the link to the survey to PiT. Thereby, PiT were directed to the survey, which was conducted online and completely anonymous. The survey contained 50 questions and mean processing time was 19.1 min (SD = 5.9). As an incentive, participants could take part in a raffle of book vouchers worth 50 euros. Institutions were contacted again if they did not answer the request after 2 weeks. In total, 29 institutions in Switzerland and 232 institutions in Germany were contacted. Since only a few institutions gave feedback on forwarding the questionnaire, no statement can be made about the response rate on an institutional level. In total, the questionnaire was opened 692 times, with 228 PiT completing the survey which results in a dropout rate of 68.7 %. We could not control for multiple clicking, thus the dropout rate might appear higher than it actually is 0.12 participants

4

¹Staeck, R., Drüge, M., Albisser, S., and Watzke, B. (submitted). Acceptance of E-mental health interventions and its determinants among psychotherapists-intraining during the first phase of COVID-19.

were excluded from analyses as they had not started the practical part of their postgraduate clinical training yet. After written consultation with the President of the Ethics Committee of the University of Zurich on 3 March 2020 and the checklist to self assess ethical safety, no further approval of the ethics committee was necessary to garantuee the ethical safety of the study.

Measures

Sociodemographic Characteristics

The survey contained items on sociodemographic data covering age categorized in eight subgroups (20–24 to 55–59, each category including 5 years) to preserve anonymity of respondents, sex, education, country of education (Switzerland or Germany) and theoretical orientation (i.e., behavioral therapy, depth psychology or psychoanalysis, systemic therapy, humanistic therapy). Following sociodemographic questions, the survey continued with a definition of EMH (47) and each EMH service (68).

Primary Outcome

Acceptance was operationalized according to UTAUT (28). Consequently, acceptance was assessed using three items: "I could imagine including the following EMH services in my work", "I intend to try out the following EMH service in my work within the next year", and "How high is your intention to use the following EMH service in your work ever?". The first two items were rated on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from (1) *totally disagree* to (5) *totally agree*. The third item was rated on a scale ranging from 0 to 100 and adapted from Elfeddali et al. (69) to measure the intention strength. For statistical analyses, the third item was converted into a 5-point Likert scale and a mean score of all three items was calculated for EMH acceptance.

Secondary Outcomes

Acceptance of different EMH services for various application fields was operationalized as the intention to use psychotherapy via telephone, psychotherapy via videoconference, VR and unguided as well as guided programs for prevention, therapy substitute in acute care, therapy addition in acute care and aftercare (e.g., "Which EMH services would you use for prevention?"). All items were rated on 5-point Likert scales ranging from (1) totally disagree to (5) totally agree, with higher scores indicating elevated acceptance. The UTAUT predictors performance expectancy (e.g., "The following EMH service would be a useful extension to existing treatment measures"), effort expectancy (e.g., "I would find the following EMH service easy to use and to understand"), social influence (e.g., "My colleagues would approve the use of the following EMH service") and facilitating conditions (e.g., "I have the necessary preconditions for using the following EMH service") were measured each with two items that were partly adapted from previous studies (28, 33). Answers were rated on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from (1) totally disagree to (5) totally agree. Barriers (i.e., data insecurity, impersonality, irresponsibility, legal concerns, concerns about therapeutic alliance) and advantages (i.e., time flexibility, simplified information provision, geographic **TABLE 2** | V-statistics of EMH service acceptance for different application purposes.

	v	P
Prevention—psychotherapy via telephone	10,323.000	<0.001
Prevention-psychotherapy via videoconference	10,859.000	<0.001
Prevention-VR treatment	5,731.500	0.870
Prevention-Unguided EMH programs	13,156.500	<0.001
Prevention-Guided EMH programs	11,408.500	<0.001
Treatment addition-psychotherapy via telephone	16,788.000	<0.001
Treatment addition-psychotherapy via videoconference	18,368.500	<0.001
Treatment addition-VR treatment	5,649.500	0.962
Treatment addition-unguided EMH programs	3,791.500	1.000
Treatment addition-guided EMH programs	8,176.500	<0.001
Treatment substitute-psychotherapy via telephone	7,089.000	0.991
Treatment substitute-psychotherapy via videoconference	10,608.000	0.084
Treatment substitute-VR treatment	1,059.500	1.000
Treatment substitute-unguided EMH programs	441.000	1.000
Treatment substitute-guided EMH programs	3,050.000	1.000
Aftercare-psychotherapy via telephone	19,372.000	<0.001
Aftercare-psychotherapy via videoconference	18,352.000	<0.001
Aftercare-VR treatment	5,176.500	0.958
Aftercare-unguided EMH programs	12,061.000	<0.001
Aftercare-guided EMH programs	12,968.000	<0.001

Wilcoxon signed-rank test.

For all tests, the alternative hypothesis specifies that the median is >3. Values indicated in bold are significant.

flexibility, and simplified contact maintenance) were assessed as other possible predictors of acceptance and also based on previous studies (70-73). Additionally, the survey included three items on the knowledge about EMH services that were adapted from Hennemann et al. and Ebert et al. (e.g., "I know what I can expect when using virtual reality as a therapeutic tool") (28, 33). Answers were rated on a 5-point scale ranging from (1) totally disagree to (5) totally agree. The item on EMH experience in their role as healthcare provider (e.g., "In percentage, how much do you already use the following EMH services in your therapeutic work?") was adapted from previous studies (33). The item on evidence assessment of EMH services (e.g., "How would you rate the scientific evidence base of the following EMH services?") was self-constructed. All items that we used for our analyses can be found in the Supplementary Materials, including the English translation.

Statistics

Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics 26 and R (Version 4.0.0). To answer the question whether the acceptance of EMH services varies between application purposes, we used as a statistical model a 2-factor within-subject (repeated measure) ANOVA with the factors EMH services (five steps: psychotherapy via telephone, psychotherapy via videoconference, VR treatment, unguided programs, guided programs) and application purposes (four steps: prevention, treatment substitute, treatment addition, aftercare)

Frontiers in Digital Health | www.frontiersin.org

EMH service acceptance

р

<0.001 0.001

< 0.001

< 0.001

<0.001

<0.001

< 0.001

0.012

< 0.001

Estimates

0.96 (0.17)

0.26 (0.08)

-0.51 (0.10)

-0.77 (0.09)

-0.69 (0.09)

0.27 (0.03)

0.14 (0.03)

0.09 (0.04)

0.18 (0.03)

TABLE 3	Estimates of	barriers to th	ne acceptance	of EMH services.
---------	--------------	----------------	---------------	------------------

TABLE 4 | Estimates of drivers to the acceptance of EMH services.

	EMH service acceptance		
Predictors	Estimates	p	
Constant	4.93 (0.14)	<0.001	
EMH service: videoconference	0.17 (0.08)	0.043	
EMH service: VR treatment	-0.43 (0.08)	<0.001	
EMH service: unguided	-0.22 (0.09)	0.010	
EMH service: guided	-0.28 (0.08)	0.001	
Data Insecurity	-0.03 (0.03)	0.308	
Impersonality	-0.24 (0.03)	<0.001	
Irresponsibility	-0.05 (0.03)	0.150	
Legal Concerns	-0.07 (0.03)	0.027	
Concerns about Therapeutic Alliance	-0.16 (0.04)	<0.001	

N CASE 209.

Observations 991.

Marginal R2 / Conditional R2 0.298 / 0.557.

Values indicated in bold are significant.

and EMH acceptance as dependent variable. The model included both main effects (EMH services and application purposes), as well as their interaction (EMH services x application purposes).

To identify how different barriers to the acceptance of EMH services might differentially affect EMH service types, we adopted a two-step approach. First, we identified an appropriate model of the relation of the barriers to the different EMH services in terms of general acceptance. Specifically, we considered three candidate linear mixed-effects models in our model set. All models included a main effect of EMH service type and a random subject intercept. The random subject intercept was included as acceptance was assessed multiple times, that is once per EMH service for each participant (i.e., as a repeated measure). This is a standard procedure to account for within-subject correlation of measures (e.g., see (74), p. 29). The first model (A1) additionally included a main effect of all five barriers each (data insecurity, impersonality, irresponsibility, legal concerns, concerns about therapeutic alliance), as well as pair-wise interaction terms of each barrier and EMH service type. Hence, this model represented a differential relationship of barriers to EMH service acceptance depending on the type of service. The second model (A2) dropped the interaction terms, hence representing a uniform influence of the barriers on EMH acceptance. The third model (A3) dropped the main effect terms of the five barriers, representing no influence of the barriers on EMH acceptance. Our criterion of model comparison was based on Akaike Information criterion (AIC) weights (75), which express the probability that a model is the best in the model set conditional on the data. Second, we inspected the regression coefficients of the best fitting model specifically for the five barriers to gain insights on which barriers had a significant influence on EMH acceptance.

We followed an equivalent procedure to better understand the influence of advantages of EMH services. Again, we firstly N CASE 209. Observations 991

Time flexibility

Predictors

Constant

Marginal R2 / conditional R2 0.361 / 0.578.

Values indicated in bold are significant.

alues indicated in bold are signific

Simplified contact maintenance

EMH service: videoconference

EMH service: VR treatment

EMH service: unauided

EMH service: guided Simplified information provision

Geographic flexibility

identified an appropriate descriptive model, considering three candidate linear mixed-effects models in our model set. All models included a main effect of EMH service type and a random subject intercept. The first model (B1) additionally included a main effect of all four advantages each (simplified information provision, time flexibility, geographic flexibility, simplified contact maintenance), as well as pair-wise interaction terms of each advantage and EMH service type. Hence, this model represented that the relationship of advantages to EMH service acceptance depended on the type of service. The second model (B2) dropped the interaction terms, hence representing a uniform influence of the advantages on EMH acceptance. The third model (B3) dropped the main effect terms of the four advantages, representing no influence of the advantages on EMH acceptance. Again, we inspected the regression coefficients of our best fitting model specifically for the four advantages, to gain insights on which of them had a significant influence on EMH acceptance.

Lastly, we aimed to put the different pieces of our data modelling together within the UTAUT framework. Specifically, we wanted to test if adding possible influences of barriers and advantages (depending on the analyses above) presented a meaningful extension to the classic UTAUT predictors and simple comparison model featuring only demographic predictors (age, gender). All models included a main effect of EMH service type, age, gender, and a random subject intercept. In addition, model C1 included the UTAUT predictors (performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, and facilitating conditions), the barriers and advantages, as well as knowledge about, experience with and subjective assessment of the scientific evidence base of different EMH services as they have been shown to have an influence on EMH acceptance. Model C2 only additionally included the UTAUT predictors, while model C3 did not include additional predictors. Again, our criterion of model comparison was based on Akaike Information criterion (AIC) weights.

Frontiers in Digital Health | www.frontiersin.org

 TABLE 5 | Estimates of EMH service acceptance determinants (advanced UTAUT model).

	EMH service acceptance		
Predictors	Estimates	p	
Constant	0.29 (0.36)	0.414	
Age: 25–29	-0.19 (0.25)	0.449	
Age: 30–34	-0.15 (0.25)	0.563	
Age: 35–39	-0.11 (0.27)	0.672	
Age: 40–44	-0.08 (0.28)	0.770	
Age: 45–49	-0.17 (0.32)	0.603	
Age: 50-54	-0.47 (0.60)	0.428	
Age: 55–59	-0.10 (0.35)	0.785	
Gender: male	-0.16 (0.12)	0.189	
EMH service: videoconference	-0.02 (0.07)	0.808	
EMH service: VR treatment	-0.20 (0.10)	0.059	
EMH service: unguided	-0.06 (0.09)	0.521	
EMH service: guided	-0.25 (0.09)	0.004	
Experience with EMH services	0.01 (0.00)	<0.001	
Knowledge about EMH services	0.04 (0.03)	0.181	
Evidence assessment of EMH services	0.01 (0.00)	<0.001	
Data Insecurity	0.01 (0.02)	0.733	
Impersonality	-0.06 (0.03)	0.038	
Irresponsibility	-0.01 (0.03)	0.655	
Legal concerns	-0.00 (0.02)	0.851	
Concerns about therapeutic alliance	-0.10 (0.03)	<0.001	
Simplified information provision	0.09 (0.02)	<0.001	
Time flexibility	0.07 (0.03)	0.005	
Geographic flexibility	-0.02 (0.03)	0.432	
Simplified contact maintenance	0.07 (0.03)	0.009	
UTAUT: performance expectancy	0.36 (0.04)	<0.001	
UTAUT: social influence	0.19 (0.04)	<0.001	
UTAUT: facilitating conditions	0.01 (0.03)	0.654	
UTAUT: effort expectancy	0.08 (0.04)	0.078	

N CASE 209.

Observations 991. Marginal R2 / conditional R2 0.584 / 0.738.

Values indicated in bold are significant.

RESULTS

Sociodemographic Characteristics

Figure 1 provides a summary of key sociodemographic characteristics. The sample size was n = 216 participants, with n = 60 participants who trained in Switzerland (27.8%) and n = 156 in Germany (72.2%). Most of them were female (88.4%) and between 25 and 39 years old (85.2%). N = 197 respondents studied psychology (91.2%) and n = 6 medicine (2.8%) before starting with their clinical training to become a psychotherapist and n = 13 indicated completing other degrees (6%). Regarding the theoretical orientation, 67.1% stated that they are trained in behavioral therapy (cognitive/cognitive-behavioral), 16.2% in depth psychology or psychoanalysis, 12.5% in systemic therapy, and 4.2% in humanistic therapy. N = 33 participants named various or different integrative approaches (15.3%).

Acceptance of EMH

Based on prior research (33, 70) the mean score of EMH acceptance was categorized as low (1–2.34), moderate (2.35–3.67), or high (3.68–5). In general, results revealed that acceptance of EMH was moderate (M = 3.4, SD = 1.12), while acceptance of psychotherapy via videoconference was highest (M = 3.7, SD = 1.15) and acceptance of unguided programs was lowest (M = 2.55, SD = 1.14). **Table 1** gives an overview.

Among respondents, general perceived personal knowledge about EMH was moderate (M = 3.64, SD = 0.86), while psychotherapy via videoconference was most well-known (M = 4.34, SD = 0.72). Practical experience with EMH was generally low, as participants stated using EMH services in only one out of ten therapeutic cases (M = 10.37, SD = 10, range 0-100%) between the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic and the time of data collection (June-July 2021). However, there were considerable differences between EMH services and high variance scores within psychotherapy via telephone and videoconference. Psychotherapy via videoconference (M = 26.55, SD = 28.80) and via telephone (M = 23.05, SD = 25.07) was used in about one out of four therapeutic cases. Participants indicated serving only M = 1.34% (SD = 2.2) of their patients with VR. Lastly, PiT recommended unguided EMH programs to only M =3.38% (SD = 10.50) of their patients, while they stated that they have accompanied M = 4.19% (SD = 12.95) of their patients with guided programs.

Acceptance of EMH Services for Different Application Purposes

Figure 2 provides an overview of the key results. Mauchly tests for sphericity revealed relevant violations (all p < 0.001) wherefore we report Greenhouse-Geisser corrected statistics. Our results confirmed the expected heterogeneity in the acceptance of different types of EMH services depending on their intended application purpose. Specifically, we found an interaction effect of EMH service and application purpose $(F(6.229, 1283.088) = 111.497, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.21)$. Posthoc tests showed that, on average, over all application purposes, psychotherapy via videoconference was the most accepted EMH service (all p_bonferroni <0.001). Further, EMH services were comparatively less accepted as a treatment substitute in acute care than for other application purposes (all *p_bonferroni* < 0.001). Interestingly, unguided and guided programs were specifically well accepted in preventive care (more so than all other services, all $p_bonferroni < 0.059$). VR was comparatively less accepted across all application purposes (all p bonferroni < 0.001).

Beyond comparative statements, we used one-sample, onesided Wilcoxon signed-rank tests against test value of 3 (neutral) to test which EMH services for which application purposes were seen as a valuable addition to the therapy catalogue on absolute scale. This was the case in 11 of 20 combinations. Specifically, results show that EMH services, except VR, are seen as useful for prevention and aftercare whereas they are not accepted as treatment substitution. **Table 2** summarizes the results.

Determinants of EMH Service Acceptance Influence of Barriers on the Acceptance of EMH Services

To identify how different barriers to the acceptance of EMH services might differentially affect EMH service types, we considered three candidate linear mixed-effects models in our model set. All models included a main effect of EMH service type and a random subject intercept. The first model (A1) additionally included a main effect of all five barriers each, as well as pair-wise interaction terms of each barrier and EMH service type. The second model (A2) represented a uniform influence of the barriers on EMH acceptance, while the third model (A3) represented no influence of the barriers on general EMH acceptance. Our model comparison unequivocally favored model A2 (Pr > 0.999), suggesting that barriers had a uniform influence on general EMH acceptance.

An inspection of the regression coefficients of model A2 revealed that impersonality, therapeutic alliance, and legal concerns were significant predictors of EMH service acceptance (in decreasing order of regression weight – predictors were assessed on a common scale; see **Table 3**).

Influence of Advantages on the Acceptance of EMH Services

An equivalent procedure was followed to better understand the influence of advantages of EMH services. The first model (B1) included a main effect of all four advantages each, as well as pair-wise interaction terms of each advantage and EMH service type. The second model (B2) represented a uniform influence of the advantages on EMH acceptance. The third model (B3) represented no influence of the advantages on EMH acceptance. Similar to our result for the barriers, our model comparison unequivocally favored model B2 (Pr > 0.999), suggesting that advantages had a uniform influence on general EMH acceptance.

Inspecting the regression coefficients of Model B2, we found that all four, that is simplified information provision, simplified contact maintenance, time flexibility, and geographic flexibility were significant predictors of EMH service acceptance (in decreasing order of regression weight; see **Table 4**).

Advanced UTAUT Model

Lastly, we wanted to test if adding the uniform influences of barriers and advantages (as suggested by the analyses above) presented a meaningful extension to the classic UTAUT predictors and a simple comparison model. Our results confirmed that the extended UTAUT model (C1) which included the UTAUT predictors, the barriers and advantages, as well as knowledge about, experience with and subjective assessment of the scientific evidence base of different EMH services was the best given the model set and the data (Pr > 0.999), explaining 74% of variance. **Table 5** shows the regression coefficients, while **Figure 3** visualizes the predictive performance of model C1.

DISCUSSION

The present study aimed at exploring the acceptance of various EMH services among German-speaking PiT shortly after the

global outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic that has forced changes in the provision of psychological support around the world for the prevention, treatment and aftercare of CMDs.

Accordingly, there was an urgent need for valid and flexible EMH services as alternatives or additions to traditional mental health in-person measures in spring 2020. In our paper, we primarily focused on the intention to use unguided and guided EMH programs, psychotherapy via telephone, psychotherapy via videoconference and VR treatment as EMH services and prevention, therapy addition, therapy substitute and aftercare as application purposes among PiT during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany and the German-speaking part of Switzerland. Based on an adapted UTAUT model (28, 70), we included performance expectancy, effort expectancy, facilitating conditions and social influence as potential predictors of EMH service acceptance as well as barriers (i.e., data insecurity, impersonality, liability, legal concerns, and concerns about therapeutic alliance), advantages (i.e., time flexibility, simplified information provision, geographic flexibility, and simplified contact maintenance), EMH knowledge, experience with EMH and subjective assessment of the scientific evidence base of different EMH services.

Main Findings and Comparisons With Prior Work

Acceptance of EMH Services for Different Application Purposes

First of all, the acceptance of EMH was overall moderate among PiT. In general, acceptance of psychotherapy via videoconference was highest, while acceptance of unguided programs was lowest. This is in line with Gerlinger et al. (38), who could show that healthcare providers are, in principle, receptive to the possibilities of such unguided programs. However, from the healthcare providers' point of view, the preconditions for a successful integration into the healthcare system are not yet fulfilled. Even though a recent survey among the twenty biggest social health insurance companies in Germany shows an upward trend regarding prescription rates of medical apps, numbers are still relatively low with projected 45.000 prescriptions (76). In comparison, according to the Scientific Institute of the National Health Insurance Schemes and the Federal Association of Company Health Insurance Funds (AOK) about 685 million finished medicinal products were prescribed in 2020 (56). Nevertheless, when looking at acceptance rates across different application purposes, our results show that guided and unguided EMH programs were specifically well accepted in preventive care, even more so than all other services including synchronous interactions between the patient and therapist via videoconference or telephone. In fact, prior research has demonstrated that unguided and guided EMH programs such as medical apps are perceived as being helpful for the promotion of patient empowerment by physicians and psychotherapists (38) which has been shown to be related to health status in the general population (77). Concerning prevention and health promotion purposes, there seems to be a greater emphasis on self-help activities (e.g., help for self-help), which could be well supported

February 2022 | Volume 4 | Article 840869



by structured self-help programs, such as stress management trainings, mental health apps and early interventions. Moreover, primary prevention does not fall into the therapeutic field and does not require a trained psychotherapist to guide these kinds of nontherapeutic interventions. Additionally, our results show that EMH services, except VR, are also well accepted for aftercare purposes. At least for health experts, our results seem to be in line with prior research. For instance, Hennemann et al. (33) could show that acceptance of online aftercare for workrelated stress was moderate among health professionals of various professional groups including physicians and psychologists in inpatient rehabilitation facilities. Similar to preventive care, EMH services seem to be promising tools to overcome barriers to the utilization of traditional aftercare, such as limited local accessibility, temporal incongruity with work and private life, concerns about anonymity or stigmatization (78-80). Thus, to support patients in health promotion and self-efficacy in their rehabilitation process, health experts tend to accept EMH services.

Furthermore, we identified the highest acceptance of psychotherapy using videoconference software for complementary treatment purposes, as well as similarly high acceptance ratings for therapeutic interactions via telephone. In contrast, EMH services were comparatively less accepted as a treatment substitute in acute care than for other application purposes. Particularly, as a treatment substitute psychotherapy via videoconference was accepted most, while all other EMH services were rated relatively low. Potentially, PiT prefer having more visible control of the acute treatment process including

the therapeutic alliance and feel more comfortable with direct synchronous communication, including the interpretation of verbal and nonverbal signals. Interestingly, the evidence base of the effectiveness of psychotherapy via videoconference or telephone is a still a growing research area (60, 61, 81, 82) and there is considerably more evidence on the treatment effectiveness and acceptance of structured EMH self-help programs such as minimally guided iCBT which also forms the basis of some medical apps for mental health (48). From the perspective of potential clients, individuals seem to generally prefer these therapist-guided internet interventions such as iCBT over videoconferencing and unguided internet interventions when they have to choose between different EMH services (25) as well as blended delivery modes combining online or telephone contact with face-to-face psychotherapeutic sessions (83). At least for acute treatment purposes, we found contrasting results for PiT which could be explained with comparatively low practical experience with EMH services and self-reported little knowledge about EMH services. Additionally, within guided EMH programs we did not differentiate between whether oneself as a PiT is guiding the client through the EMH program or another, additional therapist which could be of interest for future research.

Moreover, our results indicate that VR was comparatively less accepted across all application purposes in the sense that VR treatment did not score highest in any purpose. Again, this result can be explained by respondents indicating having almost no experience with VR, while at the same time, having at least modest experience with psychotherapy via videoconference, which was applied in about one out of four therapeutic cases on average. Lacking knowledge about possible advantages and disadvantages of VR might have resulted in a low willingness for future use as past research has shown a link between usage experience and acceptance (28–30). Additionally, the acceptance of VR may be reduced due to technical requirements and may further depend on its yet restricted application options especially in the context of PTSD and anxiety disorders, such as specific phobia (e.g., exposure to feared stimuli via systematic desensitization).

In line with other research, our results clearly show that EMH acceptance should be assessed distinctly as it varies between EMH services, target groups and application purposes. For instance, research by Apolinário-Hagen et al. (45) revealed that self-help books, health websites and face-to-face counselling were perceived as more useful than web-based counselling and therapies within the general population. Hennemann et al. (33) found limited acceptance of EMH interventions among health professionals of inpatient treatment, while results revealed moderate acceptance of online aftercare for work-related stress. Among licensed psychotherapists in Austria, Schuster et al. (84) could show a preference for blended (face-to-face plus web-based) interventions over web-based interventions to treat CMDs. Varying results from study to study can be linked to distinct study populations, different framing including varying application purposes and other time periods of data assessment. Additionally, a lack of shared terminology limits comparability between studies (85). Furthermore, despite these evident differences, EMH is often still assessed very broadly which leads to less meaningful results. Hence, future research should put emphasis on these differences when assessing acceptance, elicit possible explanations and agree on used terminology.

Determinants of EMH Service Acceptance

As potential advantages that influence the acceptance of EMH services, we identified simplified information provision, simplified contact maintenance, time flexibility, and geographic flexibility. Concerning perceived barriers, we found that impersonality, legal concerns, and therapeutic alliance were significant predictors of EMH service acceptance. Comparing different predictor models of the intention to use EMH services among PiT, the extended UTAUT model fitted our data best (model C1). Overall, our findings correspond to other research targeting the views and experiences of psychotherapists. Among European psychotherapists having mainly positive experiences with online consultations during the COVID-19 pandemic, De Witte et al. (43) reported several barriers that might hinder implementation, such as data security issues or concerns about relational aspects, for instance impersonality and fostering a therapeutic alliance. In a study by Sander et al. (86), German professionals reported having little experience or knowledge about internet-delivered interventions and the most frequently anticipated barriers were too severe symptoms of patients, the feared neglect of face-to-face contacts and insufficient technical equipment. The most frequently mentioned potential benefits were an optimized treatment structure and patient empowerment. Schuster et al. (84) found similar advantages

of EMH services to be of importance, such as time and geographic flexibility, simplified information provision, patient empowerment but also discretion and the suitability for young patients. To further increase acceptance of and trust in EMH services, Gerlinger et al. (38) emphasize the need for verified evidence on the effectiveness, data security and interoperability of EMH services. Furthermore, the additional workload for health care providers should be transparently available before they use or prescribe EMH services, such as mental health apps.

In summary, EMH acceptance of PiT may be explained according to the UTAUT model when coupled with their perceptions of barriers and drivers as well as their practical experience as healthcare providers with EMH, knowledge about EMH and their perception of the scientific evidence base of EMH services. Even though the UTAUT model has recently been successfully validated and adapted to digital health care (9), our results show that it is necessary to extend this model and adapt it to the context of PiT given the complex nature of EMH acceptance and its determinants. In short, we did not assess all factors that could potentially influence EMH acceptance and focused on those that we perceived as being most important for PiT, knowing that there might still be missing factors that could be relevant. Congruently, Ammenwerth (87) pointed out that technology acceptance depends on multiple factors that have yet been overlooked, such as emotional, socio-organizational, cultural or workflow aspects. Thus, future research is needed to examine additional factors and strongest predictors to gain a deeper understanding of the intention to use different EMH services, while differentiating between target groups. This would help to design acceptance-facilitating interventions (AFIs) to educate PiT about different EMH services concerning applying them for prevention, treatment or aftercare purposes.

Limitations

While this study contributes to the understanding of the acceptance of different EMH services for various application purposes and its determinants, it also has some limitations that should be considered. First, we must consider the time point of assessment. Data were gathered during the first months of the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic which could explain higher acceptance rates compared to older studies (32, 33, 45). The given circumstances have accelerated the use of remote services and forced psychotherapists to rethink about digital alternatives to treat patients. Additionally, the online survey included a description of structural benefits of psychotherapy via telephone or videoconference, especially in extraordinary conditions such as the COVID-19 crisis, which could have positively influenced acceptance scores for these two EMH services. At the same time, general acceptance rates could also be lower compared to newer studies as experience with EMH was still relatively low among respondents and EMH experience has been shown to be positively related to technology acceptance (28, 35, 88). Even if we consider the early stage of implementation of EMH services in Germany and Switzerland (38, 89, 90), healthcare experts have gained experience with digital medicine during the

Frontiers in Digital Health | www.frontiersin.org

COVID-19 pandemic, the intention to use EMH services might increase concurrently.

In addition, the gender ratio was not balanced as more female than male psychotherapists in clinical training participated in our study which might have influenced our results. Moreover, the response rate was rather low, as on average less than one respondent per institution completed the survey. Age and gender were no predictors of acceptance in the advanced UTAUT model, which is likely due to the selection bias with few male participants and little variation in age. Female psychotherapists in some European countries like Germany have been shown to be more likely to endorse and provide digital psychotherapy during the first weeks of the COVID-19 outbreak in Europe, especially by those who were more concerned about an infection with COVID-19 (60). However, in our study we did not control for nontherapeutic reasons for providing digital psychotherapy, such as concerns regarding an infection.

Furthermore, the present study only focused on acceptance and fell short in the question of how behavioral intention and actual use behavior might be linked. Even though UTAUT describes behavioral intention as a direct predictor of the actual uptake (28), potential users do not always follow their intentions ("intention-behavior gap", (91)). Thus, we agree with Philippi et al. (9) that future research should focus on the relationship between the intention to use different EMH services and use behavior (92) and investigate whether identified predictors of EMH acceptance could potentially influence actual uptake rates.

Lastly, the operationalization of technology acceptance was slightly different to other studies focusing on acceptance toward digital interventions, thus comparability is limited. Even though we based our assessment of behavioral intention on the frequently used UTAUT, individual adaptations of the UTAUT questionnaire and the number of items can differ between studies. For instance, acceptance is sometimes operationalized with four items (32, 93) or two items (33) that are rated on a 5-point scale ranging from (1) does not apply at all to (5) applies completely. Apolinário-Hagen et al. (45) only used one item by assessing intentions to use EMH services with an abbreviated version of the procedure applied by Klein and Cook (94), asking participants how likely they would use 10 different conventional and EMH services in case of emotional problems on a 5-point rating scale ranging from (0) very unlikely to (4) very likely. In our study, we used three items to assess behavioral intentions, including two items that were also used by Hennemann et al. (33) and one item asking psychotherapists in clinical training for their intention to use different EMH services in their work ever (range 0-100) that was adapted from Elfeddali et al. (69) to measure intention strength.

Practical Implications

To expand the uptake of EMH, there is a need to focus on increasing psychotherapists' acceptance of EMH services as they play a crucial part in patients' attitude formation and thus on the implementation of EMH services (35). Our results provide evidence of the need to focus on informing prospect psychotherapists about advantages of various EMH services when applied in different contexts such as prevention and aftercare, but also on how potential barriers such as data security or legal concerns could be overcome. Confirmatory, a study by Humer et al (61) revealed that several psychotherapists in Austria wished for more information on data protection and security. Even before the COVID-19 pandemic, lack of personal contact, data protection and security were already seen as most important disadvantages of online interventions to prevent common mental health disorders by stakeholders such as psychotherapists, policymakers and potential users in Germany, Switzerland, Austria and Spain (95). Thus, these aspects of EMH services should be addressed in training and further education of psychotherapists. Additionally, a clear regulatory framework is needed to reduce legal concerns of psychotherapists. Countries in an earlier stage of digital health implementation into healthcare, such as Switzerland or Germany, could learn from countries that are more advanced in the implementation of EMH services such as the Netherlands or the United Kingdom (27). As a starting point, van Daele et al. (96) have recently formulated an association with the European Federation of Psychologists' Associations (EFPA) general guidelines for mental health workers, health services, regulatory agencies as well as developers to promote the implementation of evidencebased EMH services. The strong need for training and further education also becomes visible in a recent study by De Witte et al. (43), in which participants were asked whether they received any form of training on online consultations about EMH. Results revealed that only 11% of the sample received a form of training, however, only half of these training programs were specific to EMH and lasted just <4 h in every second case. In accordance, Gerlinger et al. (38) indicate that mental health workers do not feel well informed about possible benefits and risks of EMH services, while only few have already gained practical experience with EMH services (97, 98).

To address misconceptions and knowledge gaps through information provision, AFIs have been found to be an established tool in educating individuals about novel treatment options such as EMH services and in increasing their acceptance (30, 32, 45, 99). For instance, Baumeister et al. (32) could show that an AFI such as receiving a short video of blended therapy can increase performance expectancy, effort expectancy, facilitating conditions and overall acceptance toward blended therapy. In the future, similar AFIs could be integrated into the curricula of postgraduate training programs and continuous professional education to increase knowledge about our identified drivers (i.e., simplified information provision, simplified contact maintenance, time flexibility, and geographic flexibility) as well as barriers (i.e., impersonality, legal concerns, and therapeutic alliance) to the acceptance of EMH services. By making EMH an integral part of the education, PiT could gain valuable experience in integrating EMH services into their therapeutic work with patients.

Furthermore, PiT with varying theoretical backgrounds might need different education. For instance, unguided EMH

programs such as mental health apps are most often based on cognitive behavioral therapy, which could lead to the assumption that psychotherapists with a background in cognitive behavioral therapy might be more open to use such EMH services (40, 100). In line with this assumption, Baumeister et al. (32) pointed out that particularly psychodynamic oriented psychotherapists could profit from AFIs as they initially seem to be rather skeptical about unguided EMH programs. Furthermore, There are already several studies that have identified associations between theoretical orientation (e.g., psychodynamic, cognitive behavioral, and others) and attitudes toward the use of EMH services (40, 100, 101), however findings are comparatively inconsistent, thus to deduce practical implications future research in this area is needed.

Conclusions

This study is one of few to examine the acceptance of different EMH services (i.e., psychotherapy via videoconference, psychotherapy via telephone, VR, unguided and guided programs) across varying application purposes (i.e., prevention, treatment substitute, treatment addition, aftercare) from the perspective of PiT. We could show that acceptance for several EMH services differed for application purposes among PiT. The results showed that acceptance of EMH services was best predicted with an extension of the UTAUT model, including barriers (i.e., data insecurity, impersonality, liability, legal concerns, and concerns about therapeutic alliance), advantages (i.e., time flexibility, simplified information provision, geographic flexibility, and simplified contact maintenance), EMH experience, EMH knowledge, and EMH evidence assessment. As the use of EMH services will most probably increase in the next years because they offer quick and location-independent help for the prevention, treatment and aftercare of CMDs, our results highlight the need to distinctly inform PiT about different EMH services and their possible application areas. At the same time, our results provide support for stakeholders that are planning and designing training for PiT by highlighting factors that should be addressed if the goal is to increase EMH acceptance.

REFERENCES

- Shah SMA, Mohammad D, Qureshi MFH, Abbas MZ, Aleem S. Prevalence, psychological responses and associated correlates of depression, anxiety and stress in a global population, during the Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) pandemic. Community Ment Health J. (2021) 57:101– 10. doi: 10.1007/s10597-020-00728-y
- Racine N, McArthur BA, Cooke JE, Eirich R, Zhu J, Madigan S. Global prevalence of depressive and anxiety symptoms in children and adolescents during COVID-19: a meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2021) 175:1142– 50. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2021.2482
- Bareeqa SB, Ahmed SI, Samar SS, Yasin W, Zehra S, Monese GM et al. Prevalence of depression, anxiety and stress in china during COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review with meta-analysis. *Int J Psychiatry Med.* (2021) 56:210-27. doi: 10.1177/00912174209 78005

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

After written consultation with the President of the Ethics Committee of the University of Zurich on 3 March 2020 and the checklist to self assess ethical safety, no further approval of the ethics committee was necessary to garantuee the ethical safety of the study involving human participants. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PB: conceptualization, project administration, and writing original draft preparation. MD: conceptualization, supervision, methodology, and writing—reviewing and editing. SH: writing reviewing and editing. RS: conceptualization, methodology, investigation, software, and data curation. FN: formal analysis, visualization, and writing—reviewing and editing. JA-H: supervision, validation, and writing—reviewing and editing. All authors have read, revised, and approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf for covering the publication fees (University Library, Open-Access-Funds of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf). We also thank Fatma Sahan-Ulutürk, Bsc-Psych, for help with the formality check of the paper.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fdgth. 2022.840869/full#supplementary-material

- Bueno-Notivol J, Gracia-García P, Olaya B, Lasheras I, López-Antón R, Santabárbara J. Prevalence of depression during the COVID-19 outbreak: A meta-analysis of community-based studies. *Int J Clin Health Psychol.* (2021) 21:100196. doi: 10.1016/j.ijchp.2020.0 7.007
- Dar KA, Iqbal N, Mushtaq A. Intolerance of uncertainty, depression, and anxiety: Examining the indirect and moderating effects of worry. Asian J Psychiatr. (2017) 29:129–33. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2017.04.017
- Holt-Lunstad J, Smith TB, Baker M, Harris T, Stephenson D. Loneliness and social isolation as risk factors for mortality: a meta-analytic review. *Perspect Psychol Sci.* (2015) 10:227–37. doi: 10.1177/17456916145 68352
- Pakpour A, Griffiths MD. The fear of COVID-19 and its role in preventive behaviors. J Concurr Dis. (2020) 2:58–63. doi: 10.54127/WCIC8036
- World Health Organization. Factsheet May 2020: Vulnerable populations during COVID-19 response. (2020). Available online at: https://www.

euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/446340/Factsheet-May-2020-Vulnerable-populations-during-COVID-19-response-eng.pdf

- Philippi P, Baumeister H, Apolinário-Hagen J, Ebert DD, Hennemann S, Kott L et al. Acceptance towards digital health interventions model validation and further development of the Unified Theory Of Acceptance And Use Of Technology. *Internet Interv.* (2021) 26:100459. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100459
- Andersson G. Internet interventions: past, present and future. Internet Interv. (2018) 12:181-8. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2018.03.008
- Ebert DD, Cuijpers P, Muñoz RF, Baumeister H. Prevention of mental health disorders using internet- and mobile-based interventions: a narrative review and recommendations for future research. *Front Psychiatry.* (2017) 8:116. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00116
- Lin J, Ebert DD, Lehr D, Berking M, Baumeister H. Internetbasierte kognitiv-behaviorale Behandlungs-ansätze: State of the Art und Einsatzmöglichkeiten in der Rehabilitation. *Rehabilitation (Stuttg)*. [2013] 52:155–63. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1343491
- Păsărelu CR, Andersson G, Bergman Nordgren L, Dobrean A. Internet-delivered transdiagnostic and tailored cognitive behavioral therapy for anxiety and depression: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Cogn Behav Ther.* (2017) 46:1-28. doi: 10.1080/16506073.2016.1231219
- Simblett S, Birch J, Matcham F, Yaguez L, Morris R. A systematic review and meta-analysis of e-mental health interventions to treat symptoms of posttraumatic stress. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2017) 4:e14. doi: 10.2196/mental.5558
- Mayo-Wilson E, Montgomery P. Media-delivered cognitive behavioural therapy and behavioural therapy (self-help) for anxiety disorders in adults. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2013) (9):CD005330. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005330.pub4
- Moshe I, Terhorst Y, Philippi P, Domhardt M, Cuijpers P, Cristea I et al. Digital interventions for the treatment of depression: a meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin.* (2021). Available online at: doi: 10.1037/bul0000334
- Andrews G, Bell C, Boyce P, Gale C, Lampe L, Marwat O et al. Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists clinical practice guidelines for the treatment of panic disorder, social anxiety disorder and generalised anxiety disorder. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. (2018) 52:1109– 72. doi: 10.1177/0004867418799453
- Andersson G, Titov N. Advantages and limitations of Internet-based interventions for common mental disorders. World Psychiatry. (2014) 13:4– 11. doi: 10.1002/wps.20083
- Ebert DD, van Daele T, Nordgreen T, Karekla M, Compare A, Brugnera A et al. Internet- and mobile-based psychological interventions: applications, efficacy, and potential for improving mental health. *Eur Psychol.* (2018) 23:167–87. doi: 10.1027/1016-9040/a000318
- Feijt MA, Kort YA de, Bongers IM, IJsselsteijn WA. Perceived drivers and barriers to the adoption of eMental health by psychologists: the construction of the levels of adoption of eMental health model. J Med Internet Res. (2018) 20:e153. doi: 10.2196/jmir.9485
- Dahlhausen F, Zinner M, Bieske L, Ehlers JP, Boehme P, Fehring L. Physicians' attitudes toward prescribable mhealth apps and implications for adoption in germany: mixed methods study. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*. (2021) 9:e33012. doi: 10.2196/33012
- Carlbring P, Andersson G, Cuijpers P, Riper H, Hedman-Lagerlöf E. Internet-based vs. face-to-face cognitive behavior therapy for psychiatric and somatic disorders: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cogn Behav Ther.* (2018) 47:1–18. doi: 10.1080/16506073.2017.14 01115
- Karyotaki E, Riper H, Twisk J, Hoogendoorn A, Kleiboer A, Mira A et al. Efficacy of self-guided internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy in the treatment of depressive symptoms: a metaanalysis of individual participant data. JAMA Psychiatry. (2017) 74:351-9. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.0044
- Phillips EA, Gordeev VS, Schreyögg J. Effectiveness of occupational emental health interventions: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Scand J Work Environ Health.* (2019) 45:560– 76. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3839

- Apolinário-Hagen J, Harrer M, Kählke F, Fritsche L, Salewski C, Ebert DD. Public attitudes toward guided internet-based therapies: web-based survey study. JMIR Ment Health. [2018] 5:e10735. doi: 10.2196/10735
- Dockweiler C, Kupitz A, Hornberg C. Akzeptanz onlinebasierter Therapieangebote bei Patientinnen und Patienten mit leichten bis mittelgradigen depressiven Störungen. Gesundheitswesen. (2018) 80:1013–22. doi: 10.1055/s-0043-119287
- Gaebel W, Lukies R, Kerst A, Stricker J, Zielasek J, Diekmann S et al. Upscaling e-mental health in Europe: a six-country qualitative analysis and policy recommendations from the eMEN project. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2021) 271:1005–16. doi: 10.1007/s00406-020-01133-y
- Venkatesh V, Morris MG, Davis GB. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. MIS Quarterly. (2003) 27:425. doi: 10.2307/30036540
- Baumeister H, Seifferth H, Lin J, Nowoczin L, Lüking M, Ebert DD. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on patients' acceptance of internetbased pain interventions: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin J Pain*. (2015) 31:528–35. doi: 10.1097/AJP.000000000000118
- Ebert DD, Berking M, Cuijpers P, Lehr D, Pörtner M, Baumeister H. Increasing the acceptance of internet-based mental health interventions in primary care patients with depressive symptoms. A randomized controlled trial. J Affect Disord. (2015) 176:9–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.01.056
- Apolinário-Hagen J, Hennemann S, Fritsche L, Drüge M, Breil B. Determinant factors of public acceptance of stress management apps: survey study. JMIR Ment Health. (2019) 6:e15373. doi: 10.2196/15373
- Baumeister H, Terhorst Y, Grässle C, Freudenstein M, Nübling R, Ebert DD. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on psychotherapists' acceptance of blended therapy. *PLoS ONE*. (2020) 15:e0236995. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0236995
- Hennemann S, Beutel ME, Zwerenz R. Ready for eHealth? Health professionals' acceptance and adoption of ehealth interventions in inpatient routine care. J Health Commun. (2017) 22:274-84. doi: 10.1080/10810730.2017.1284286
- Blut M, Chong AYL, Tsiga Z, Venkatesh V. Meta-analysis of the Unified Theory Of Acceptance And Use of Technology (UTAUT): challenging its validity and charting a research agenda in the red ocean. J Associat Inf Syst. (2021) 1–128.
- Donovan CL, Poole C, Boyes N, Redgate J, March S. Australian mental health worker attitudes towards cCBT: What is the role of knowledge? Are there differences? Can we change them? *Internet Interv.* (2015) 2:372– 81. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2015.09.001
- Norman CD, Skinner HA. eHealth Literacy: essential skills for consumer health in a networked world. J Med Internet Res. (2006) 8:e9. doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e9
- 37. Mayer G, Gronewold N, Alvarez S, Bruns B, Hilbel T, Schultz J-H. Acceptance and expectations of medical experts, students, and patients toward electronic mental health apps: cross-sectional quantitative and qualitative survey study. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2019) 6:e14018. doi: 10.2196/14018
- Gerlinger G, Mangiapane N, Sander J. Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen (DiGA) in der ärztlichen und psychotherapeutischen Versorgung. Chancen und Herausforderungen aus Sicht der Leistungserbringer Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz. [2021] 64:1213-9. doi: 10.1007/s00103-021-03408-8
- Hennemann S, Beutel ME, Zwerenz R. Morbus Google⁶vs. e-Health: Qualitative Untersuchung zur Akzeptanz und Implementierung von Online-Nachsorge in der stationären Rehabilitation. *Rehabilitation (Stuttg)*. (2018) 57:14–23. doi: 10.1055/s-0043-102150
- Schröder J, Berger T, Meyer B, Lutz W, Hautzinger M, Späth C et al. Attitudes towards internet interventions among psychotherapists and individuals with mild to moderate depression symptoms. *Cogn Ther Res.* (2017) 41:745– 56. doi: 10.1007/s10608-017-9850-0
- Schreiweis B, Pobiruchin M, Strotbaum V, Suleder J, Wiesner M, Bergh B. Barriers and facilitators to the implementation of ehealth services: systematic literature analysis. J Med Internet Res. (2019) 21:e14197. doi: 10.2196/14197
- 42. Titzler I, Saruhanjan K, Berking M, Riper H, Ebert DD. Barriers and facilitators for the implementation of blended psychotherapy for depression:

Frontiers in Digital Health | www.frontiersin.org

A qualitative pilot study of therapists' perspective. *Internet Interv.* (2018) 12:150–64. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2018.01.002

- 43. De Witte NAJ, Carlbring P, Etzelmueller A, Nordgreen T, Karekla M, Haddouk L et al. Online consultations in mental healthcare during the COVID-19 outbreak: An international survey study on professionals' motivations and perceived barriers. *Internet Interv.* (2021) 25:100405. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100405
- Eichenberg C, Ott R. Klinisch-psychologische intervention im Internet. Psychotherapeut. (2012) 57:58–69. doi: 10.1007/s00278-011-0832-5
- Apolinário-Hagen J, Fritsche L, Bierhals C, Salewski C. Improving attitudes toward e-mental health services in the general population via psychoeducational information material: A randomized controlled trial. *Internet Interv.* (2018) 12:141–9. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2017.12.002
- Musiat P, Tarrier N. Collateral outcomes in e-mental health: a systematic review of the evidence for added benefits of computerized cognitive behavior therapy interventions for mental health. *Psychol Med.* (2014) 44:3137– 50. doi: 10.1017/S0033291714000245
- Riper H, Andersson G, Christensen H, Cuijpers P, Lange A, Eysenbach G. Theme issue on e-mental health: a growing field in internet research. J Med Internet Res. (2010) 12:e74. doi: 10.2196/jmir.1713
- Krämer R, Köhler S. Evaluation of the online-based self-help programme "Selfapy" in patients with unipolar depression: study protocol for a randomized, blinded parallel group dismantling study. *Trials.* (2021) 22:264. doi: 10.1186/s13063-021-05218-4
- Berger T, Urech A, Krieger T, Stolz T, Schulz A, Vincent A et al. Effects of a transdiagnostic unguided Internet intervention ('velibra') for anxiety disorders in primary care: results of a randomized controlled trial. *Psychol Med.* (2017) 47:67–80. doi: 10.1017/S0033291716002270
- Berger T, Krieger T, Sude K, Meyer B, Maercker A. Evaluating an e-mental health program ("deprexis") as adjunctive treatment tool in psychotherapy for depression: Results of a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. J Affect Disord. (2018) 227:455–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.11.021
- Bundesinstitut f
 ür Arzneimittel und Medizinprodukte. 1. Bekanntmachung zu den digitalen Gesundheitsanwendungen (DiGA) vom 06.10.2020. Available online at: URL: https://diga.bfarm.de/thc-bfarm/assets/ documents/201006_BfArM_Bekanntmachung-DiGA-1.pdf
- Andersson G, Carlbring P, Holmström A, Sparthan E, Furmark T, Nilsson-Ihrfelt E et al. Internet-based self-help with therapist feedback and in vivo group exposure for social phobia: a randomized controlled trial. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* [2006] 74:677–86. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.74.4.677
- Olthuis JV, Watt MC, Bailey K, Hayden JA, Stewart SH. Therapist-supported Internet cognitive behavioural therapy for anxiety disorders in adults. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2016) 3:CD011565. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011565.pub2
- Guille C, Zhao Z, Krystal J, Nichols B, Brady K, Sen S. Web-based cognitive behavioral therapy intervention for the prevention of suicidal ideation in medical interns: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2015) 72:1192–8. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.20 15.1880
- Seyffert M, Lagisetty P, Landgraf J, Chopra V, Pfeiffer PN, Conte ML et al. Internet-delivered cognitive behavioral therapy to treat insomnia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0149139. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 49139
- Richter L, Silberzahn T, editors. eHealth Monitor 2021: Deutschlands Weg in die digitale Gesundheitsversorgung - Status quo und Perspektiven. Medizinisch Wissenschaftliche Verlagsgesellschaft. (2021).
- Pfeiffer V, Sojer R. Digital trends survey 2021. Schweiz Ärzteztg. (2021). doi: 10.4414/saez.2021.20144
- Weightman M. Digital psychotherapy as an effective and timely treatment option for depression and anxiety disorders: Implications for rural and remote practice. J Int Med Res. (2020) 48:300060520928686. doi: 10.1177/0300060520928686
- Chiauzzi E, Clayton A, Huh-Yoo J. Videoconferencing-based telemental health: important questions for the COVID-19 era from clinical and patient-centered perspectives. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2020) 7:e24021. doi: 10.2196/24021

- 60. Humer E, Pieh C, Kuska M, Barke A, Doering BK, Gossmann K et al. Provision of Psychotherapy during the COVID-19 Pandemic among Czech, German and Slovak Psychotherapists. Int J Environ Res Public Health. (2020) 17. doi: 10.3390/ijerph1713 4811
- Humer E, Stippl P, Pieh C, Pryss R, Probst T. Experiences of psychotherapists with remote psychotherapy during the COVID-19 pandemic: cross-sectional web-based survey study. J Med Internet Res. (2020) 22:e20246. doi: 10.2196/20246
- Freeman D, Reeve S, Robinson A, Ehlers A, Clark D, Spanlang B et al. Virtual reality in the assessment, understanding, and treatment of mental health disorders. *Psychol Med.* (2017) 47:2393-400. doi: 10.1017/S003329171700040X
- Rizzo A', Shilling R. Clinical Virtual Reality tools to advance the prevention, assessment, and treatment of PTSD. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2017) 8:1414560. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2017.1414560
- Valmaggia LR, Latif L, Kempton MJ, Rus-Calafell M. Virtual reality in the psychological treatment for mental health problems: An systematic review of recent evidence. *Psychiatry Res.* (2016) 236:189–95. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.01.015
- Anderson PL, Price M, Edwards SM, Obasaju MA, Schmertz SK, Zimand E et al. Virtual reality exposure therapy for social anxiety disorder: a randomized controlled trial. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2013) 81:751– 60. doi: 10.1037/a0033559
- 66. Pelissolo A, Zaoui M, Aguayo G, Yao SN, Roche S, Ecochard R et al. Virtual reality exposure therapy versus cognitive behavior therapy for panic disorder with agoraphobia: A randomized comparison study. J Cybertherapy Rehabilitat. (2012) 5:35–43.
- Difede J, Cukor J, Wyka K, Olden M, Hoffman H, Lee FS et al. D-cycloserine augmentation of exposure therapy for post-traumatic stress disorder: a pilot randomized clinical trial. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2014) 39:1052– 8. doi: 10.1038/npp.2013.317
- Moessner M, Bauer S. E-Mental-Health und internetbasierte Psychotherapie. Psychotherapeut. (2017) 62:251–66. doi: 10.1007/s00278-017-0198-4
- Elfeddali I, Bolman C, Vries H de. Situational and affective risk situations of relapse and the quality of implementation intentions in an e-health smoking relapse prevention programme. *Subst Use Misuse*. (2013) 48:635– 44. doi: 10.3109/10826084.2013.800113
- Hennemann S, Beutel ME, Zwerenz R. Drivers and barriers to acceptance of web-based aftercare of patients in inpatient routine care: a cross-sectional survey. J Med Internet Res. (2016) 18:e337. doi: 10.2196/jmir.6003
- Bendelin N, Hesser H, Dahl J, Carlbring P, Nelson KZ, Andersson G. Experiences of guided Internet-based cognitive-behavioural treatment for depression: a qualitative study. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2011) 11:107. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-11-107
- Thomas Berger. Internetbasierte Interventionen bei psychischen Störungen. In: Kurt Hahlweg, Martin Hautzinger, Jürgen Margraf, Winfried Rief, editor. Fortschritte der Psychotherapie. Hogrefe Verlag: Göttingen. (2015).
- Wells M, Mitchell KJ, Finkelhor D, Becker-Blease KA. Online mental health treatment: concerns and considerations. *Cyberpsychol Behav.* (2007) 10:453– 9. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2006.9933
- Finch WH, Bolin JE, Kelley K. Multilevel modeling using R. Boca Raton: Taylor & Francis Group. (2019). doi: 10.1201/9781351062268
- Wagenmakers E-J, Farrell S. AIC model selection using Akaike weights. *Psychon Bull Rev.* (2004) 11:192–6. doi: 10.3758/BF03206482
- 76. Hoffmann L, Dönisch A. Apps auf Rezept kosten Kassen zweistelligen Millionenbetrag: Seit zwölf Monaten können Ärzte Apps auf Rezept verschreiben. Eine Umfrage von Handelsblatt Inside zeigt, dass rund 45.000 Apps verschrieben wurden. (2021). Available online at: https:// www.handelsblatt.com/inside/digital_health/jahresbilanz-apps-auf-rezeptkosten-kassen-zweistelligen-millionenbetrag/27684116.html?ticket=ST-723945-hFzRrXFMoMBPJvqErmwL-ap3
- Náfrádi L, Nakamoto K, Csabai M, Papp-Zipernovszky O, Schulz PJ. An empirical test of the Health Empowerment Model: Does patient empowerment moderate the effect of health literacy on health status? *Patient Educ Couns.* (2018) 101:511–7. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2017.09.004
- Kobelt A, Nickel L, Grosch EV, Lamprecht F, Künsebeck H-W. Inanspruchnahme psychosomatischer Nachsorge nach stationärer

Rehabilitation. Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol. (2004) 54:58–64. doi: 10.1055/s-2003-812612

- Köpke K-H. Aufwerten, ausbauen und systematisieren Eine Analyse von Situation, Reformbedarf und innovativen Projekten zur Nachsorge in der Rehabilitation der Rentenversicherung. *Rehabilitation (Stuttg)*. (2005) 44:344–52. doi: 10.1055/s-2005-915247
- Sibold M, Mittag O, Kulick B, Müller E, Opitz U, Jäckel WH. Prädiktoren der Teilnahme an einer Nachsorge nach ambulanter Rehabilitation bei erwerbstätigen Rehabilitanden mit chronischen Rückenschmerzen1. *Rehabilitation (Stuttg)*. (2011) 50:363–71. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1271815
- Berryhill MB, Halli-Tierney A, Culmer N, Williams N, Betancourt A, King M et al. Videoconferencing psychological therapy and anxiety: a systematic review. *Fam Pract.* (2019) 36:53–63. doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmy072
- Drago A, Winding TN, Antypa N. Videoconferencing in psychiatry, a meta-analysis of assessment and treatment. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2016) 36:29– 37. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2016.03.007
- Phillips EA, Himmler SF, Schreyögg J. Preferences for e-Mental health interventions in germany: a discrete choice experiment. *Value Health*. (2021) 24:421–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2020.09.018
- Schuster R, Pokorny R, Berger T, Topooco N, Laireiter A-R. The advantages and disadvantages of online and blended therapy: survey study amongst licensed psychotherapists in Austria. J Med Internet Res. (2018) 20:e11007. doi: 10.2196/11007
- Smoktunowicz E, Barak A, Andersson G, Banos RM, Berger T, Botella C et al. Consensus statement on the problem of terminology in psychological interventions using the internet or digital components. *Internet Interv.* (2020) 21:100331. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2020.100331
- Sander J, Bolinski F, Diekmann S, Gaebel W, Günther K, Hauth I et al. Online therapy: an added value for inpatient routine care? Perspectives from mental health care professionals. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2021). doi: 10.1007/s00406-021-01251-1
- Ammenwerth E. Technology Acceptance Models in Health Informatics: TAM and UTAUT. Stud Health Technol Inform. (2019) 263:64–71. doi: 10.3233/SHTI190111
- Perle JG, Langsam LC, Randel A, Lutchman S, Levine AB, Odland AP et al. Attitudes toward psychological telehealth: current and future clinical psychologists' opinions of internet-based interventions. J Clin Psychol. (2013) 69:100–13. doi: 10.1002/jclp.21912
- Abd-Alrazaq A, Hassan A, Abuelezz I, Ahmed A, Alzubaidi MS, Shah U et al. Overview of technologies implemented during the first wave of the covid-19 pandemic: scoping review. J Med Internet Res. (2021) 23:e29136. doi: 10.2196/29136
- Sorkin DH, Janio EA, Eikey EV, Schneider M, Davis K, Schueller SM et al. Rise in use of digital mental health tools and technologies in the United States during the COVID-19 pandemic: survey study. J Med Internet Res. (2021) 23:e26994. doi: 10.2196/26994
- Sheeran P, Webb TL. The Intention-Behavior Gap. Soc Personal Psychol Compass. (2016) 10:503–18. doi: 10.1111/spc3.12265
- Baumel A, Muench F, Edan S, Kane JM. Objective user engagement with mental health apps: systematic search and panel-based usage analysis. J Med Internet Res. (2019) 21:e14567. doi: 10.2196/14567
- Lin J, Faust B, Ebert DD, Krämer L, Baumeister H. A web-based acceptancefacilitating intervention for identifying patients' acceptance, uptake, and adherence of internet- and mobile-based pain interventions: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res. (2018) 20:e244. doi: 10.2196/jmir.9925
- Klein B, Cook S. Preferences for e-mental health services amongst an online Australian sample? *EJAP*. (2010) 6. doi: 10.7790/ejap.v6i1.184

- Kuso S, Nitsch M, Zeiler M, Simek M, Adamcik T, Dey M et al. Stakeholders' views on online interventions to prevent common mental health disorders in adults implemented into existing healthcare systems in Europe. *Eur J Public Health*. (2021) 31:i55–i63. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckab043
- 96. van Daele T, Karekla M, Kassianos AP, Compare A, Haddouk L, Salgado J et al. Recommendations for policy and practice of telepsychotherapy and e-mental health in Europe and beyond. J Psychother Integr. (2020) 30:160– 73. doi: 10.1037/int0000218
- Dockweiler C, Kupitz A, Palmdorf S, Hornberg C. Onlinetherapie bei depressiven Störungen: Eine Akzeptanzanalyse aus der Perspektive der Behandelnden. Nervenarzt. (2020) 91:243–51. doi: 10.1007/s00115-019-0730-6
- Radić M, Donner I, Waack M, Brinkmann C, Stein L, Radić D. Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen: Die Akzeptanz steigern. (2021). Available online at: https://www.aerzteblatt.de/archiv/217790/Digitale-Gesundheitsanwendungen-Die-Akzeptanz-steigern
- 99. Soucy JN, Owens VAM, Hadjistavropoulos HD, Dirkse DA, Dear BF. Educating patients about Internet-delivered cognitive behaviour therapy: Perceptions among treatment seekers and non-treatment seekers before and after viewing an educational video. Internet Interv. (2016) 6:57–63. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2016. 09.003
- 100. Vigerland S, Ljótsson B, Bergdahl Gustafsson F, Hagert S, Thulin U, Andersson G et al. Attitudes towards the use of computerized cognitive behavior therapy (cCBT) with children and adolescents: A survey among Swedish mental health professionals. *Internet Interv.* (2014) 1:111– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2014.06.002
- 101. Wangberg SC, Gammon D, Spitznogle K. In the eyes of the beholder: exploring psychologists' attitudes towards and use of e-therapy in Norway. *Cyberpsychol Behav.* (2007) 10:418–23. doi: 10.1089/cpb.200 6.9937

Conflict of Interest: PB received payments from the Heinrich Heine University Dusseldorf for a lecture about electronic mental health services. PB also works for the Rehappy GmbH, which developed a digital health application for the rehabilitation of stroke patients. SH received payments from psychotherapy training institutes in the context of electronic mental health topics.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Braun, Drüge, Hennemann, Nitsch, Staeck and Apolinário-Hagen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. 2.3 Barriers and facilitators to a blended cognitive behavioral therapy (bCBT) program for depression and anxiety based on experiences of university students: A qualitative study

Original Paper

Barriers to and Facilitators of a Blended Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Program for Depression and Anxiety Based on Experiences of University Students: Qualitative Interview Study

Pia Braun^{1*}, MSc; Ece Atik^{2*}, MSc; Lisa Guthardt¹, MA; Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen¹, PhD; Magnus Schückes³, MSc

¹Institute of Occupational, Social and Environmental Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Centre for Health and Society, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany

²Translational Psychotherapy, Georg-Elias-Müller-Institute of Psychology, University of Göttingen, Göttingen, Germany

³Institute for SME Research and Entrepreneurship, University of Mannheim, Mannheim, Germany

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen, PhD Institute of Occupational, Social and Environmental Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Centre for Health and Society Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf Moorenstr. 5 Düsseldorf, 40225 Germany Phone: 49 211 8106477 Email: jennifer.apolinario.hagen@hhu.de

Abstract

Background: Blended cognitive behavioral therapy (bCBT) programs have been proposed to increase the acceptance and adoption of digital therapeutics (DTx) such as digital health apps. These programs allow for more personalized care by combining regular face-to-face therapy sessions with DTx. However, facilitators of and barriers to the use of DTx in bCBT programs have rarely been examined among students, who are particularly at risk for developing symptoms of depression and anxiety disorders.

Objective: This study aimed to evaluate the facilitators of and barriers to the use of a bCBT program with the *elona therapy* app among university students with mild to moderate depression or anxiety symptoms.

Methods: Semistructured interviews were conducted via videoconference between January 2022 and April 2022 with 102 students (mean age 23.93, SD 3.63 years; 89/102, 87.2% female) from universities in North Rhine-Westphalia, Germany, after they had completed weekly individual cognitive behavioral therapy sessions (25 minutes each) via videoconference for 6 weeks and regularly used the depression (n=67, 65.7%) or anxiety (n=35, 34.3%) module of the app. The interviews were coded based on grounded theory.

Results: Many participants highlighted the intuitive handling of the app and indicated that they perceived it as a supportive tool between face-to-face sessions. Participants listed other benefits, such as increased self-reflection and disorder-specific knowledge as well as the transfer of the content of therapy sessions into their daily lives. Some stated that they would have benefited from more personalized and interactive tasks. In general, participants mentioned the time requirement, increased use of the smartphone, and the feeling of being left alone with potentially arising emotions while working on tasks for the next therapy session as possible barriers to the use of the app. Data security was not considered a major concern.

Conclusions: Students mostly had positive attitudes toward *elona therapy* as part of the bCBT program. Our study shows that DTx complementing face-to-face therapy sessions can be perceived as a helpful tool for university students with mild to moderate anxiety or depression symptoms in their daily lives. Future research could elaborate on whether bCBT programs might also be suitable for students with more severe symptoms of mental disorders. In addition, the methods by which such bCBT programs could be incorporated into the university context to reach students in need of psychological support should be explored.

(JMIR Form Res 2023;7:e45970) doi: 10.2196/45970

https://formative.jmir.org/2023/1/e45970

KEYWORDS

digital therapeutics; blended cognitive behavioral therapy; bCBT; depression; anxiety; acceptance; user experiences; university students; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Depression and anxiety disorders remain among the leading causes of burden worldwide and have severe consequences for those affected, impairing their mental and physical health as well as their social lives [1-3]. University students are particularly at risk for developing symptoms of depression and anxiety disorders. A systematic review by Paula et al [4] reported a prevalence of 24.5% for anxiety symptoms and 26.1% for depressive symptoms among university students. According to Kessler et al [5], two-thirds of the related symptoms emerge before the age of 25 years. Major issues that affect students' well-being and academic performance seem to be psychological instability that is due to a substantial life transition, stress, and financial uncertainty [6-8], leading to a significant increase in the demand for counseling services and therapy, such as cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) [9]. CBT has consistently been shown to be effective in treating depression and anxiety disorders and has become the gold standard for psychotherapy in this field [10]. Barriers to the large dissemination of CBT include long waiting lists [11], stigma associated with seeking help [12,13], and low flexibility owing to difficulties in scheduling and attending therapy sessions [14].

Internet-based CBT (iCBT) is widely acknowledged as a useful and effective resource for increasing access to mental health care [15,16], especially for digital natives such as students [17]. iCBT programs comprise an electronic, standardized treatment program either with (ie, guided iCBT) or without (ie, unguided iCBT) therapeutic support via chat, email, or calls [18]. In an unguided format, the effectiveness of iCBT, including digital health apps, seems to be limited [19,20], and dropout rates appear to be greater when the intervention does not involve therapist contact [21,22]. Both guided and unguided iCBT programs normally follow a standardized course content protocol that does not leave much room for individualization according to personal needs [14], and this could be associated with patients' relatively low willingness to use iCBT programs compared with face-to-face interventions [23,24].

An evolution of iCBT is a blended CBT (bCBT) program that integrates regular face-to-face CBT sessions with digital therapeutics (DTx) such as evidence-based mental health apps to mitigate the disadvantages of iCBT while benefiting from several advantages [25,26]. The bCBT appears to be an acceptable, clinically effective, and cost-effective option for treating depression and anxiety disorders [27-32]. Given that the therapy is augmented by DTx, it has the potential to decrease the number of face-to-face sessions with therapists and increase their resources to treat more patients. In addition, research has shown that bCBT achieves similar outcomes to traditional CBT, despite reduced face-to-face time with therapists [27,33-35]. As the therapist is in charge of the therapy in bCBT, more personalized care is possible compared with iCBT, that is, by

selecting modules and exercises within DTx that are most relevant to the client's needs and goals, which might enhance motivation and compliance [36]. Tailored interventions also seem to be a prerequisite to increasing university students' intention to use mental health services because one-size-fits-all approaches are unlikely to be effective for everyone [37,38]. Thus, to increase treatment uptake among students with depression or anxiety symptoms, there is a need for bCBT approaches that fit therapists' as well as patients' needs and preferences [39]. A few studies have focused on therapists' perspectives regarding their expectations for and experiences with bCBT [38,40], but to date, there is little qualitative research on patients in general and with students in particular. A study by Etzelmueller et al [41] reported predominantly positive experiences with a bCBT program among patients with major depressive disorder. For the same target group, Urech et al [42] could identify different perceived advantages and disadvantages of bCBT after undergoing such a program for 18 weeks. However, for students as a promising target group, research on their experiences with bCBT is still scarce.

Objective

In light of these developments, we investigated experiences with a bCBT program accompanied by a novel digital health app (*elona therapy*) that offered an integrated synthesis of digital and face-to-face elements, with individualization promoted by allowing therapists to regularly adapt relevant therapeutic content that fits the symptomatology and personal needs of patients. The content could be accessed by patients' smartphones. The aim of this study was to evaluate the benefits of the app for use in bCBT through the eyes of student users with mild to moderate depression or anxiety as well as factors that might be associated with its use (and nonuse) in this sample. To date, even though young adults seem to be particularly suitable for bCBT, facilitators of and barriers to the use of these apps, such as *elona therapy*, have rarely been examined in university students.

Methods

Design

This qualitative study was conducted as part of a feasibility and effectiveness study addressing bCBT intervention programs for depression or anxiety in university students [32]. A total of 107 students with mild to moderate depression or anxiety symptoms (ie, Patient Health Questionnaire-9 or Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 scores between 5 and 15) [43,44] participated in either depression or anxiety intervention programs depending on their symptomatology. Participants with both elevated depression and anxiety symptoms were assigned to one of the intervention groups based on a decision made jointly by the participant and the clinical psychologist conducting the interview (shared decision-making). The bCBT programs included weekly individual CBT sessions (25 minutes each) with a therapist via videoconferencing for 6 weeks. To support weekly therapy

sessions, students used either the depression or the anxiety module of elona therapy on their smartphones throughout the intervention duration. Weekly CBT sessions with therapists included interactive therapeutic tasks and joint discussions. In addition, the app gave students access to supporting digital exercises and psychoeducational resources, which could be customized by the therapist according to the students' needs. Therapy sessions and supporting digital homework were developed as a manual separately for students with depression and anxiety. This basis level of intervention, defined by manuals, was given to all participants depending on their symptomatology. In addition, therapists had the option to activate additional digital content (eg, psychoeducational tasks or therapeutic activities) for each student based on their individual needs. The depression module of *elona therapy* provided psychoeducation and techniques and interventions related to behavior, thoughts, emotions, and relationships. It also included a specific module on relapse prevention. The anxiety module of elona therapy provided psychoeducation techniques; interventions related to the factors that contribute to its maintenance and how thoughts and emotions are related to anxiety; and specific modules on exposure techniques, acceptance and commitment therapy techniques, and relapse prevention. A more detailed description of the session manual and available content of the app can be found in the study by Atik et al [32]. Students who had completed the intervention program were invited to semistructured individual interviews to elaborate on their experiences with the bCBT program.

Participants and Recruitment

All students who had completed the bCBT intervention program were invited for a final interview by their therapist. Information on the interviews was provided during the last videoconference therapy session. Participants were informed that the interviews would consist of a discussion on their experiences in the program and that it would be guided by an independent experienced interviewer who was not involved in the therapeutic process. Semistructured interviews were conducted with 102 university students. The female and male interview participants were 87.2% (89/102) and 12.7% (13/102), respectively, and their ages ranged from 19 to 38 years with a mean age of 23.93 (SD 3.63) years. Table 1 displays the sample characteristics. Interview participants in the intervention study agreed to participate in the feedback interview.

Table 1. Sample characteristics (N=102).

Characteristics	Values	
Age (years), mean (SD)	23.93 (3.63)	
Female, n (%)	89 (87.2)	
bCBT ^a program, n (%)		
Depression	67 (65.7)	
Anxiety	35 (34.3)	
University major, n (%)		
Social sciences and humanities (eg, languages, sociology, education, economics, etc)	39 (38.2)	
Medicine and related fields (eg, dentistry, pharmacy, etc)	18 (17.8)	
Science and engineering	16 (15.7)	
Psychology	14 (13.7)	
Management and business administration	7 (6.9)	
Recent graduates (nonuniversity student)	7 (6.9)	
Sports	1 (1)	

^abCBT: blended cognitive behavioral therapy.

Interview Procedure

Interviews were conducted on the web via videoconference between January 2022 and April 2022 and were audio recorded with the consent of the participants. The interviewer (EA) informed the participants that the goal of the study was to explore their experiences with the bCBT program. EA is a graduate psychologist and researcher trained in qualitative methods. There was no relationship between the interviewer and participants before this study. The interviewer was aware that the bCBT group (depression or anxiety) participants had been assigned to in the main study. The interviews lasted for an average of 22 (SD 7) minutes. Interview recordings were stored and transcribed anonymously. Participants did not receive any financial compensation for their participation neither in the intervention study nor in the feedback interviews.

A general interview guide was used to conduct the semistructured interviews (Textbox 1). On the basis of the responses given by the participants to the previous question, more precise interview questions were carefully chosen and addressed to the participants. EA and MS created the interview guide with the help and synthesis of interview guidelines from a number of studies that qualitatively examined user experiences in applications developed in the field of digital health [45-49].

The interview guide was adjusted to examine emerging categories and themes during the interview process.

Textbox 1. Interview guide for semistructured user interviews.

Questions

- What motivated you to participate in the blended cognitive behavioral therapy (bCBT) program?
- What were your experiences and perceptions of bCBT with *elona therapy*? (emotions, cognition, and process)
- Did the bCBT program help you?
 - If yes, how?
 - · If no, why not?
- How difficult or easy was it for you to spend time with elona therapy regularly, that is, to integrate it in your daily life?
- What motivated you to use elona therapy?
- What discouraged you from using the app?
- Did the use of the bCBT program affect your knowledge about depression (anxiety disorders)? How so?
 - If yes: Do you think this increased knowledge made an impact on your symptoms and mood?
- Did the use of the bCBT program bring you any other personal gains or competencies? (as in increased knowledge)
- Did the use of the bCBT program caused any drawbacks?
- How did you perceive the quality of the modules in elona therapy?
 - What did you like?
 - What did you dislike?
- Did you feel comfortable providing personal information to the app?
- Do you think blended therapy offers additional value compared with usual psychotherapy? Why?
- Do you think blended therapy creates additional burden to the usual psychotherapy? Why?
- In your experience, were there any essential preconditions to make bCBT feasible? If yes, what are they?
- · Would you recommend the bCBT program you have attended to your friends and family?

Data Analysis

The transcripts were coded based on grounded theory, a systematic data analysis methodology that focuses on inductively developing abstract theoretical conceptions from empirical data [50,51]. A qualitative study design and the use of grounded theory have been especially well suited to accomplish our research goal because they enable the examination of emergent patterns and themes directly from participant data without assumptions from prior research or theories [52]. For the coding procedure of the transcriptions, Dedoose software (version 8.0.35, 2018; SocioCultural Research Consultants, LLC) for qualitative research was used.

The coding procedure began after the interview process had been concluded. All the interviews were coded individually and chronologically. Multiple researchers conducted the coding procedures to ensure intercoder reliability. The first round of data coding was completed by a student research assistant, with EA reviewing the coding scheme. EA then performed a second round of coding. Third, PB, EA, and MS revisited the coding scheme and discussed some modifications with JAH. Finally, a third round of coding was performed by PB after the authors settled on the final categories. Because cross-checking revealed only minor changes, 3 coding rounds were deemed sufficient. Four aggregate dimensions (use patterns of the app, factors that motivated people to use the bCBT program, benefits of the app, and the facilitators of and barriers to the use of the app) and several subcategories within these aggregate dimensions were formed by inductive category formation based on the content of the interviews and codes assigned to the different text passages.

Interview quotes in this study were translated from German into English by LG. LG has a master's degree in literary translation and is experienced in translating from German to English. In Multimedia Appendix 1, we report the complete checklist of COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) [53].

Ethics Approval

Ethics approval for this study was obtained from the Ethical Board of the University of Mannheim (EK Mannheim 27-A/2021) and was part of a joint ethics approval granted to the main study [32].

Results

Overview

We discovered general use patterns of the app as well as the

barriers to and facilitators for the use of the app in a bCBT program in the analysis of interviews. The hierarchical representation of the categories, themes, and dimensions that emerged from the coding of user interviews are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Hierarchical representation of the categories and dimensions according to the results.

Third order: aggregate dimensions and second order: themes	First order: categories
Use patterns of the app	
Common use patterns	Several times a weekOnce a week (one day before therapy session)
Benefits of the app	
Self-efficacy	 More intensive examination of the therapy content at home Preparing therapy sessions with the help of the app
Transfer into daily life	 Work on mental health whenever and wherever the patient wants Patient takes personal time for their mental health beyond sessions Patient takes more initiative and control in their therapy
Psychoeducation	 More knowledge about emotions and the underlying mental health disorder More self-reflection owing to increased knowledge and awareness on personal problems and their origins Accepting and respecting mental disorder as a disease
Facilitators of the use of the app	
Usability and structure	 Good overview (good structure of courses, therapy progress, and onboarding, and good intuitive handling) Comprehensibility of the tasks Praising after task completion Reminder notifications
Content and design	Appropriate and professionally created modules and videosNice and modest design
Support	 App as a caring companion throughout the week App provides structure for the students' lives
Barriers to the use of the app	
Overwhelming emotions	 Being left alone with difficult feelings that could arise during reflections and tasks Compulsory tasks may create pressure
Time requirement	 Increased time spent on psychotherapy can be a burden Increased involvement with the smartphone
Data security concerns	Concerns about data safety and anonymity

Use Patterns of the App

Overall, students self-reported that they had engaged with the app for 20 to 30 minutes in a given week. The shortest app use estimation reported by a student was 15 minutes, and the longest was 90 minutes per week. Participants also highlighted that no prior knowledge was needed to participate in the bCBT program and to work with the app.

In the program, 2 main patterns emerged regarding students' preferences for app use. The first pattern was to use the app several times a week by splitting assigned homework tasks over different days. Students who followed this pattern reported spontaneous engagement with the app and stated that they did not plan a time slot for doing the homework and did parts of the homework at will throughout the day. The second pattern was to complete all assigned tasks just before the weekly session with their therapist, usually the day before their session. Students who engaged with the app in this manner thought that they were able to easily remember the content of the homework in sessions this way. Some students also alternated between these 2 patterns:

Sometimes, the exercises were shorter, and then I did all of them at once. With longer ones, I took more time to think about them and to do them in more detail, so I rather split the tasks. [P72]

https://formative.jmir.org/2023/1/e45970

JMIR Form Res 2023 | vol. 7 | e45970 | p. 5

50

Benefits of the App

Transfer Into Daily Life

Students indicated that they benefited from using the app because they were able to initiate changes in their daily lives. Some highlighted that the structure of the therapy module as well as the relatively short exercises were ideal for daily use and could be easily integrated into stressful periods. The content of the modules was mostly perceived as helpful to apply to themselves, such as the following exercise: participants had to think of certain deconstructive thoughts in an everyday situation and then of alternative, more realistic thoughts. These exercises were evaluated as helpful add-ons to therapy sessions because they could be performed alone at home. Students also imagined that what they had learned throughout the bCBT would be reinforced with a little practice over time:

I think, if you keep using it, you recognize certain patterns in your daily life. Once you have more experience, you might notice, alright, this could be a cognitive bias, let's try a different perspective. Or that you do something nice for yourself even though you're not feeling quite well. I think the exercise could also help improve that. [P72]

In addition, as the app was used in patients' own time, the more intensive examination of the therapy content was possible, and this was perceived as supportive in the preparation for the next therapy session. Some of the interviewed students highlighted that they could think about specific themes that were raised during the therapy session in more detail and that they could receive more information about their symptoms, which was considered to positively influence the therapeutic outcome:

The blended way is definitely better, especially for taking initiative even before the actual session with the therapist, just to gather your thoughts and to get some information beforehand. [P17]

However, some of the interviewed students wished for even more personalized care, such as daily exercises specific to their current situation and symptoms because it might more effectively help them to combat depressive or anxiety episodes in their everyday lives:

Some more specialized help would be nice, maybe also some daily exercises beyond the app. So that you calm down a bit or recollect things, something like that. Some mental exercises to instantly combat bouts of depression. And it would be great to have it personalized, tailored at different forms of depression and states of anxiety. [P83]

A couple of participants mentioned that the app would profit from more interactive tasks because exercises that actively involved students were often seen as particularly helpful:

It might be nice to increase the number of interactive tasks in which you have to enter something yourself. And to have even more possibilities to interact with the app yourself...But what I liked best were the exercises where you had to become active and do something yourself. [P74]

JMIR Form Res 2023 | vol. 7 | e45970 | p. 6

Self-efficacy

Furthermore, the interviewed students highlighted the flexibility of complementing the CBT with the app. Some participants pointed out that they could work on their mental health whenever and wherever they wanted, especially in acute situations when the symptoms occurred. Actively working on their mental health, even between therapy sessions, helped some of the students to better cope with symptoms, which was often associated with greater control over the disease, increased self-initiative, and self-efficacy:

The app gave me the opportunity to distract myself and do something in the time between sessions when I felt bad or when I couldn't get things done. At least I felt like I was actively doing something about my condition and trying to change it somehow. That really helped me. [P3]

In addition, some participants reported that they had become much more aware of their strengths, which made them feel that they were not at the mercy of their disease. Taking time to work with the app seemed to help them reflect on and learn more about themselves:

Well, I've realized that I actually have a lot of resources and that I'm not so helpless. I can take initiative myself and I've noticed how that's helped me. [P28]

Psychoeducation

Almost all participants mentioned that they increased their knowledge about depression or anxiety disorders, which included the awareness of specific symptoms as well as of biopsychosocial factors that might influence the progression of their disease. In addition, some participants emphasized that the knowledge gain was helpful in counteracting emerging symptoms. In particular, for those who did not have therapy experience yet or had little disease-specific knowledge, the app seemed to serve as a good tool for psychoeducation:

I've never done any therapy or anything like that before, and I think it was really good to improve your psychoeducation, just to gain some knowledge about the subject. [P38]

Furthermore, learning about the mental disorder seemed to facilitate its acceptance as a disease that can be treated and to decrease the fear of not receiving adequate help:

It really helped me realize what was going on with me because you often criticize yourself. I also did that because I had no other explanation for my behavior...You can cope with it better if you have explanations, and that was really helpful for my environment and me. [P80]

Moreover, some students mentioned that the content of the app modules made them feel that they were not the only ones dealing with depression or anxiety:

So, you're not alone. There are other people dealing with the same things. And it can actually be treated somehow. Because that was something I was really scared of at the beginning; I was afraid that it

https://formative.jmir.org/2023/1/e45970

wouldn't get better...And that's what I liked best about the modules. [P20]

As a suggestion for improvement, some participants wished for more personalization options, which would allow users to skip specific exercises or time-consuming tasks that were perceived as unimportant for their personal situation. In addition to the psychoeducational chapters, one participant proposed the integration of a take-home message into the app, which might help students in their daily lives when the bCBT was over:

Well, I've really learned a lot about the disease so far. What I missed somehow was some kind of instruction at the beginning, like...you can do this and that now, when the final sessions was over, or this is how you can continue on your own. You weren't told that right away and, well, this might still be kind of nice. [P48]

Facilitators of the Use of the App

Usability and Structure

Most of the interviewed participants agreed that the app was well structured and easy to navigate, irrespective of the included onboarding function and without prior technical knowledge. The standardized structure of the tasks, which always included the theoretical background of a specific topic, a general example, and the possibility of directly applying it to oneself, was highlighted as helpful. In addition, the intuitive handling as well as the appropriate, well-chosen language were mentioned as facilitators of app use:

I'm not sure if an onboarding is really necessary, because the app is simply well-structured. You can immediately find the headings of the different subcategories, for example. Everything is designed to be very simple. [P66]

Some participants explained that they would have benefited from an integrated therapy plan as an orientation to their therapy process. To find their way around the app more quickly, the interviewed students also indicated that it would have been advantageous to immediately see which exercises had already been completed and which were still to come:

I think I would have liked to have an overview at the beginning, some kind of therapy plan that is displayed in the app as a schedule. So that you exactly know at which point in therapy you are right now, what is still ahead of you, what is more to come, to have a rough orientation. [P15]

Furthermore, receiving praise after completing a task seemed to encourage some participants to continue and was perceived as a confirmation of their progress. However, a few participants criticized the lack of direct, detailed feedback on completed tasks, which could be integrated into the app and might help them develop further:

You just answer the questions in the app, but you're kind of stuck with them and you don't necessarily get on. So, you don't necessarily get feedback that directly helps you. [P46] In addition, some participants proposed including additional notifications in the app that would remind users to complete tasks before the next therapy session. In their opinion, this could have increased overall therapy adherence:

It would be nice to be reminded every now and then that you still have to do the tasks...I mean, you shouldn't get notifications all the time, I think that would be annoying, but a reminder just before the session might be nice. You should get a notification if you haven't done anything yet. I think that would be convenient for me. [P64]

Content and Design

Although some participants would have liked more colors in the app, most interviewed students agreed that the simple design was friendly and inviting, which facilitated the use and reduced overload. According to them, the clear structure invited users to try out many different tasks and topics offered by the app:

It has a very appealing design, but it's still neutral. I really liked that a lot. And I really liked that there is a personal form of address, even with my name. And it's nice that you can select everything, that there are the courses, the journal or the resource kit, for example. That you don't have everything at once, but that everything is structured well and split in smaller parts. [P49]

The multimedia components of the app, such as videos or audio contents, were considered to be professionally produced. They were regarded as neither too long nor too short but just right for daily use by most participants. In addition, some students appreciated the personal component of seeing people explain different things in the videos. Overall, most participants stated that the content was well prepared and presented:

Well, the videos or the features where you could hear a voice, that was something that made the app really individual...Sometimes, the videos were just a couple of seconds long. Something was shortly explained, but it was really helpful for me to actually see or hear someone. [P8]

Support

Many participants valued the app as a caring companion or "guardian angel" (P49) because they felt that they were not left alone with their problems between therapy sessions and were able to stay on track. The app served as an anchor, providing stability, especially when there was no one else to talk to:

Especially, when I wasn't doing well and there were no other people I could have talked to, well, for example when I was up really late because of the depression, then it's harder to reach out to a friend or someone, and it was nice to have some kind of support or anchor if you needed it. And also, to have some guidance, something that gives you hope and the tools you need. [P39]

Whereas many participants seemed to have built a strong, personal connection to the app, others simply regarded it as a helpful tool in addition to face-to-face therapy sessions:

https://formative.jmir.org/2023/1/e45970

I think the app is just an app. I use it as a tool to work with someone towards a particular goal, and that's it. [P4]

Moreover, the app seemed to provide a structure for the therapy process for some users, and this was perceived as beneficial for the overall experience:

I can definitely say that it made me feel more comfortable in therapy. It made me realize: Alright, there's a certain structure and I know what to expect. I've done therapy before, about ten years ago, and some of the things there were really annoying: I was like, okay, every time I come here, we're doing the same thing, and if there's homework, it is not even discussed. It was so annoying to have no structure at all. And here, I knew that the therapist was going to ask me if I did my exercises. I really liked that. [P45]

Barriers to the Use of the App

Overwhelming Emotions

Apart from the perceived advantages of the app, some students expressed concern about being left alone with feelings and emotions that might arise when dealing with the tasks and reflections. A few participants mentioned that this could be problematic, especially in acute situations, which would make it even more important to carefully assign tasks to different users:

In very acute cases, when it would be easiest for the person to deal with their emotions with someone else. Depending on the depth of the tasks, it might be critical if the person has to manage it alone. But I think therapists also choose tasks for their patients, if I understood correctly. And that's something that they could then pay attention to. [P6]

Furthermore, some participants indicated that being asked to complete the exercises until the next therapy session might lead to more pressure and overload for those who already had difficulties in managing daily tasks. They noted that, in particular, students with depressive symptoms might find it taxing to work with the app in addition to face-to-face sessions. As they often had very limited energy levels and sometimes already struggle with daily tasks, they might perceive an additional digital component as an extra workload and find it overwhelming:

Well, I can imagine that it can lead to an overload, especially in cases of severe depression, when you're struggling with lethargy anyway, and then you feel obliged to do these tasks. [P3]

Time Requirement

In accordance, a few participants noted that the increased total time spent with oneself might be a burden. From their point of view, the feeling of not being able to successfully complete the assigned tasks, for example, because of time constraints, could further increase users' self-doubt:

Because you always think: Alright, I have to remember this, or I still have to do that. And then I

https://formative.jmir.org/2023/1/e45970

think I would feel like having failed, because I didn't get it done. And I would be really dissatisfied with it and also with myself, which is not really beneficial. [P59]

Another individual barrier to using the app might be the increased engagement with the smartphone, which could also be perceived as a stressor for those who wanted to be less digitally involved:

I think, and I've noticed this with myself, if you're in a relatively stressful phase and you actually want to get away from your smartphone and use fewer digital devices, and at the same time you know that you're dependent on using this app, then it's definitely a stressor. But I think that's very individual. [P15]

Data Security Concerns

Overall, participants did not seem to have any concerns about data security and were not worried about submitting data related to their health status because the app provided detailed explanations about how the data would be handled to maintain anonymity and confidentiality:

I didn't have any concerns. You were always told that data were not given to anyone else, also after having finished a task. I really liked always getting an overview over my data. [P10]

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study evaluated the potential benefits of a bCBT program accompanied by *elona therapy* as well as the facilitators of and barriers to its use among university students with mild to moderate depression or anxiety symptoms. The 6-week bCBT intervention comprised 6 face-to-face individual CBT sessions via videoconferencing combined with the depression or anxiety module of the app. Although there are some qualitative studies covering health care providers' [40] and patients' experiences with bCBT [41] as well as with stand-alone iCBT [54], this study is, to our knowledge, the first to investigate factors related to the use (and nonuse) of an app within a bCBT program among students.

Predominantly, students reported positive experiences with the app and listed disorder-specific knowledge gain, the transfer of the therapy content into daily life, and impulses for self-reflection as general benefits. In accordance with the results achieved by Wu et al [30], who conducted a quantitative study with patients with symptoms of anxiety or depression, our results show that using DTx in bCBT can be especially useful for psychoeducation, as it helps to reinforce the uptake of the content of therapy sessions, such as coping skills, and key concepts such as the biopsychosocial framework [55]. This result seems to be particularly important, as research has shown that students lacking coping responses may be at risk for psychopathology when faced with high levels of stress, for example, stress related to the COVID-19 pandemic [56]. In addition to prior research showing that bCBT is effective in reducing symptomology [29-32], the results of our qualitative investigation further indicate that the use of the app along with

face-to-face sessions also seems to be associated with positive feelings regarding the therapy process among students. Specifically, our results indicate that many students gained the impression that their therapy would have been less structured and less effective without the app, which was also mentioned by participants in the study by Urech et al [42]. Furthermore, the app was considered beneficial in complementing face-to-face sessions because it initiated the active management of symptoms and encouraged self-reflection. Many participants evaluated the app as a supportive tool and caring companion, which has been echoed by prior research on the ability of DTx to potentially prevent a therapeutic drift between face-to-face therapy sessions [42,45] but not yet for the specific target group of students. This implies that there might have been a clear concept of how the app was embedded in the overall therapy program. However, to increase the acceptance and dissemination of such treatment modes in low-resource settings, such as student counseling centers, further real-world research needs to focus on how bCBT programs could be incorporated to reach students in need of psychological support. Our study lays the important foundation that it may be worthwhile to embed bCBT programs in the university context because they are perceived as helpful treatment options.

Similar to the findings by Urech et al [42], the implementation of the therapy content and behavioral modifications into daily life were mentioned as facilitators of the use because this seemed to help students initiate helpful and effective changes in their lives. Some interviewed students highlighted the advantage of being able to work independently with the app at their own pace, anytime and anywhere, which seemed to match students' needs for location- and time-independent psychological support. The relatively short exercises that could be easily integrated even during stressful periods seemed to be essential for the uptake of the app. This result supports the findings of Stawarz et al [57], who claimed that the technology used in bCBT needs to provide simple, easy-to-understand content to prevent potential barriers owing to, for example, the lack of drive. No technical issues were mentioned as hindering factors. This seems important because it has been shown that technical problems result in frustration and anger, which can distract the therapy process [58,59].

Regarding the structure of the app, the comprehensive language and the clear design were mentioned as facilitators of the app use. A study by Fleischmann et al [60] showed that students might indeed feel overwhelmed by a cluttered design. Most students highlighted the intuitive handling, which made it possible to navigate through the app without prior technological knowledge. In contrast to the findings of Jakob et al [39], who found that skipping the tutorial significantly increased the chance of dropping out, the onboarding function of the app was evaluated as positive but not essential for the therapy process. This also appears to be a very important finding for health care providers because the fear that some students might have too little experience with new technologies and might not be familiar with the respective tools has been shown to be a barrier to the prescription of DTx [61,62]. In comparison to previous findings, data security concerns were rarely mentioned as potential barriers to app use [63]. This could be explained by the detailed

descriptions of how data privacy was protected that were offered in the app as well as the students being digitally native. In line with the suggestions of Jakob et al [39] regarding how DTx should be designed to increase adherence, these explanations might have potentially reduced data privacy concerns.

To combine the potentials of both treatment modalities, DTx and face-to-face therapy sessions, a few participants mentioned that the app applied in this study could have benefited from even more personalization and interaction options that are optimally targeted at the students' abilities, needs, and preferences [17]. Previous research has shown that personalization options that would, for example, allow users to skip specific exercises or time-consuming tasks, are perceived as crucial for the engagement with DTx among students [37,39], and this feature was not provided in this bCBT program. According to Stawarz et al [57], the ability to monitor the therapy progress could have potentially increased user engagement and therapy adherence, which was also mentioned by some participants. Similarly, allowing the therapist to keep track of the student's process could have helped reinforce the connection to face-to-face sessions even more [45]. To further increase the adherence, some students suggested including additional reminders in the app, and this is in line with the conclusions of the systematic review by Jakob et al [39], who mentioned that reminders in the form of customizable push notifications can increase user engagement. However, this suggestion needs to be regarded with caution, as reminders can also be perceived as possible stressors for users [45,60]. Finally, some students raised concerns that patients with anxiety or depressive symptoms might feel overwhelmed by using the app, as working with the content might force them to address their problems without direct supervision. This implies that even in a bCBT, which includes face-to-face therapy sessions, there is a need to focus on emergency options when designing future DTx for students. Accordingly, Urech et al [42] showed that there seem to be different advantages and disadvantages of bCBT depending on the severity of patients' depressive symptoms. Although patients with mild to moderate depressive symptoms mentioned no disadvantages, patients with moderately severe to severe symptoms noted the lack of an additional contact possibility through the web-based tool as well as the necessity of preexisting computer skills as possible barriers. As more pronounced depressive symptoms have been shown to be associated with lower adherence to self-management apps [39], the inclusion of personal contact options in case of emergencies and frequent guidance, especially for patients with severe symptoms, seems to be essential for effective bCBT programs. In addition, Arean et al [64] suggested including tasks that are specifically designed to target certain cognitive deficits implicit in depressive disorders, such as cognitive control, to increase adherence among patients with more severe symptoms. As we only included patients with mild to moderate depression symptoms, future research could clarify whether bCBT programs are also suitable for student groups with more severe symptoms.

Interestingly, our study showed that the perceived benefits of this bCBT program are in line with many of the explored expectations of patients receiving standard CBT but who have not yet had an experience with blended formats [38,49]. This

study confirms that inexperienced bCBT users' needs for personalization, integration into daily life, psychoeducation, and self-reflection options match the experiences of participants in this bCBT program. However, participants also called for more interactive therapeutic activities, which patients inexperienced in bCBT did not mention as a preference [38].

As a next step, it will be interesting to determine how patients, including depressed students, respond to the presented bCBT program *elona therapy depression* under real-world conditions. Since December 2022, the described bCBT program *elona therapy depression* has been listed as a digital health app (DiGA in German, so-called "app on prescription") in the DiGA directory of the German Federal Institute for Drugs and Medical Devices. This means that since then, physicians and psychotherapists can prescribe this program for patients with depression at the expense of statutory health insurance companies.

Strengths and Limitations

The strengths of this study include the large sample size of 102 interviewed students who did not receive any financial compensation, neither for their participation in the bCBT program nor for the interview, which might be associated with a high willingness to participate and a strong need to receive quick, low-threshold support for their mental health. Moreover, our study provides the first qualitative insights into the facilitators and barriers that might influence the uptake of an app in a bCBT program among students with mild to moderate depression or anxiety symptoms. Furthermore, almost all participants completed the bCBT program; hence, the therapy adherence seems to be substantially higher than that in study designs using either only face-to-face therapy sessions or DTx alone [41,65]. This leads to the assumption that the combination of individual face-to-face therapy sessions with personalized digital components could contribute to students' motivation and engagement. Further research could investigate this hypothesis in a larger randomized controlled trial design, allowing for the comparison between bCBT and face-to-face CBT.

Our study has several limitations that need to be considered. As our data are qualitative in nature, the results are partially context specific to the *elona therapy* app for treating depression and anxiety, which was used in this study in students in Germany, and only potentially generalizable to universal bCBT topics or different contexts. Owing to the novelty of this bCBT program and the app, the focus of the interviews was

Braun et al

predominantly on the app itself and less so on the face-to-face aspect. Future research could investigate how to optimally design and integrate face-to-face sessions along with the app use. It might be possible that a selection bias in the recruiting process occurred and that only students who were already willing and motivated to start therapy were recruited. In addition, students who participated in our study might have had a more positive attitude toward web-based therapy than nonresponders. Furthermore, we could only interview participants who had completed the 6-week bCBT program and not the dropouts (n=5). Therefore, it was to be expected that the opinions regarding the use of the digital health app and overall experiences with the bCBT program would be relatively positive. Moreover, most of the interview participants were female (89/102, 87.2%). Hence, our results might overrepresent the experiences of female participants in bCBT programs. In addition, we did not differentiate between students with depressive symptoms and students with anxiety disorders in the analysis of the data, although we interviewed almost twice as many students with depressive symptoms. Thus, we cannot draw any conclusions regarding whether bCBT might be more convenient for either one of the 2 groups or whether different patient groups have different needs. In addition, as the goal was to recruit only students with mild to moderate symptoms of depression or anxiety, there were no students with severe symptoms. Hence, we cannot conclude whether this target group would have reported similar experiences with the bCBT program applied in this study. Finally, face-to-face therapy sessions lasted only 25 minutes, which is shorter than typical therapy sessions and in line with the report of some of the participants who would have wished for longer sessions.

Conclusions

Our study qualitatively investigated the potential benefits and limitations of a bCBT program accompanied by the *elona therapy* app as well as the facilitating and hindering factors to its use for symptoms of depression or anxiety among students. We were able to systematically classify the benefits, barriers, and facilitators using inductively developed themes and categories. We discussed our findings in terms of their similar and different implications for existing research in this field. These findings can be beneficial for researchers and developers of new DTx. To increase the dissemination of bCBT programs among students, further research could focus on how such treatment options could be incorporated into the university setting.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank all therapists and students who participated in the study. This project was funded in part by Robert-Enke-Stiftung, a nonprofit foundation that supports projects, initiatives, and institutions that educate people about depressive disorders and facilitate their research or treatment. The funding source did not play any role in the study design, analysis, or interpretation of the results. The authors thank the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf for covering the publication fees (University Library, Open-Access-Funds of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, and the medical faculty of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf. The authors also thank the Research Committee of the Faculty of Medicine of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf for supporting the doctoral project of PB in the field of the acceptance facilitation regarding digital mental health interventions among students under the supervision of JAH.

Data Availability

The qualitative data sets generated and analyzed in this study are not made available because publication could limit the protection of the informants, and such publication was not covered by the informed consent to participate in the study.

Conflicts of Interest

EA declares that she is employed by Elona Health GmbH, the company that developed the app used in this study. MS is a shareholder of Elona Health GmbH. All the other authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1

COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 525 KB-Multimedia Appendix 1]

References

- Pearce M, Garcia L, Abbas A, Strain T, Schuch FB, Golubic R, et al. Association between physical activity and risk of depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Psychiatry 2022 Jun 01;79(6):550-559. [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2022.0609] [Medline: 35416941]
- Malhi GS, Mann JJ. Depression. Lancet 2018 Nov 24;392(10161):2299-2312. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31948-2] [Medline: 30396512]
- 3. Hendriks SM, Spijker J, Licht CM, Beekman AT, Hardeveld F, de Graaf R, et al. Disability in anxiety disorders. J Affect Disord 2014 Sep;166:227-233. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.05.006] [Medline: 25012435]
- de Paula W, Breguez GS, Machado EL, Meireles AL. Prevalence of anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation symptoms among university students: a systematic review. Braz J Health Rev 2020;3(4):8739-8756 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.34119/bjhrv3n4-119]
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2005 Jun;62(6):593-602. [doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.593] [Medline: 15939837]
- Auerbach RP, Mortier P, Bruffaerts R, Alonso J, Benjet C, Cuijpers P, et al. 19.1 World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys International College Student Project (WMH-ICS): prevalence and distribution of mental disorders. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2018 Oct;57(10 Supplement):S297 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2018.07.723]
- 7. Lipshits-Braziler Y, Gati I, Tatar M. Strategies for coping with career indecision: convergent, divergent, and incremental validity. J Career Assess 2017 May;25(2):183-202 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1069072715620608]
- Mortier P, Auerbach RP, Alonso J, Axinn WG, Cuijpers P, Ebert DD, et al. Suicidal thoughts and behaviors among college students and same-aged peers: results from the World Health Organization world mental health surveys. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2018 Mar;53(3):279-288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00127-018-1481-6] [Medline: 29340781]
- Hubble S, Bolton P. Support for students with mental health issues in higher education in England: briefing paper. House of Commons Library. 2020 Dec 17. URL: <u>https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-8593/CBP-8593.</u> pdf [accessed 2023-03-31]
- 10. David D, Cristea I, Hofmann SG. Why cognitive behavioral therapy is the current gold standard of psychotherapy. Front Psychiatry 2018 Jan 29;9:4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00004] [Medline: 29434552]
- 11. Jülich L, Bräuniger J. Psychotherapie: lange wartezeiten bis zu einem therapieplatz. WDR. 2022 Jul 20. URL: <u>https://www1.</u> wdr.de/nachrichten/psychotherapie-platzsuche-tipps-100.html [accessed 2022-09-07]
- 12. Vidourek RA, Burbage M. Positive mental health and mental health stigma: a qualitative study assessing student attitudes. Ment Health Prev 2019 Mar;13:1-6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.mhp.2018.11.006]
- Wada M, Suto MJ, Lee M, Sanders D, Sun C, Le TN, et al. University students' perspectives on mental illness stigma. Ment Health Prev 2019 Jun;14:200159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.mph.2019.200159]
- Wright JH, Owen JJ, Richards D, Eells TD, Richardson T, Brown GK, et al. Computer-assisted cognitive-behavior therapy for depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Psychiatry 2019 Mar 19;80(2):18r12188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4088/JCP.18r12188] [Medline: 30900849]
- Fernandez E, Woldgabreal Y, Day A, Pham T, Gleich B, Aboujaoude E. Live psychotherapy by video versus in-person: a meta-analysis of efficacy and its relationship to types and targets of treatment. Clin Psychol Psychother 2021 Nov;28(6):1535-1549. [doi: 10.1002/cpp.2594] [Medline: 33826190]
- 16. Moshe I, Terhorst Y, Philippi P, Domhardt M, Cuijpers P, Cristea I, et al. Digital interventions for the treatment of depression: a meta-analytic review. Psychol Bull 2021 Aug;147(8):749-786. [doi: 10.1037/bul0000334] [Medline: 34898233]
- Harrer M, Adam SH, Fleischmann RJ, Baumeister H, Auerbach R, Bruffaerts R, et al. Effectiveness of an internet- and app-based intervention for college students with elevated stress: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018 Apr 23;20(4):e136 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9293] [Medline: 29685870]

https://formative.jmir.org/2023/1/e45970

- Andersson G, Titov N, Dear BF, Rozental A, Carlbring P. Internet-delivered psychological treatments: from innovation to implementation. World Psychiatry 2019 Feb;18(1):20-28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20610] [Medline: 30600624]
- Cuijpers P, Noma H, Karyotaki E, Cipriani A, Furukawa TA. Effectiveness and acceptability of cognitive behavior therapy delivery formats in adults with depression: a network meta-analysis. JAMA Psychiatry 2019 Jul 01;76(7):700-707 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.0268] [Medline: 30994877]
- Weisel KK, Fuhrmann LM, Berking M, Baumeister H, Cuijpers P, Ebert DD. Standalone smartphone apps for mental health-a systematic review and meta-analysis. NPJ Digit Med 2019 Dec 02;2:118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0188-8] [Medline: 31815193]
- 21. Baumeister H, Reichler L, Munzinger M, Lin J. The impact of guidance on internet-based mental health interventions a systematic review. Internet Interv 2014 Oct;1(4):205-215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2014.08.003]
- 22. Imai H, Tajika A, Narita H, Yoshinaga N, Kimura K, Nakamura H, et al. Unguided computer-assisted self-help interventions without human contact in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2022 Apr 21;24(4):e35940 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/35940] [Medline: 35451993]
- Molloy A, Ellis DM, Su L, Anderson PL. Improving acceptability and uptake behavior for internet-based cognitive-behavioral therapy. Front Digit Health 2021 Mar 25;3:653686 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2021.653686] [Medline: 34713125]
- Apolinário-Hagen J, Harrer M, Kählke F, Fritsche L, Salewski C, Ebert DD. Public attitudes toward guided internet-based therapies: web-based survey study. JMIR Ment Health 2018 May 15;5(2):e10735 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10735] [Medline: 29764797]
- Erbe D, Eichert HC, Riper H, Ebert DD. Blending face-to-face and internet-based interventions for the treatment of mental disorders in adults: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Sep 15;19(9):e306 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6588] [Medline: 28916506]
- Newby J, Mason E, Kladnistki N, Murphy M, Millard M, Haskelberg H, et al. Integrating internet CBT into clinical practice: a practical guide for clinicians. Clin Psychol 2021 Mar 15;25(2):164-178 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/13284207.2020.1843968]
- Kooistra LC, Wiersma JE, Ruwaard J, Neijenhuijs K, Lokkerbol J, van Oppen P, et al. Cost and effectiveness of blended versus standard cognitive behavioral therapy for outpatients with depression in routine specialized mental health care: pilot randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2019 Oct 29;21(10):e14261 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14261] [Medline: 31663855]
- Lungu A, Jun JJ, Azarmanesh O, Leykin Y, Chen CE. Blended care-cognitive behavioral therapy for depression and anxiety in real-world settings: pragmatic retrospective study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 06;22(7):e18723 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18723] [Medline: 32628120]
- Romijn G, Batelaan N, Koning J, van Balkom A, de Leeuw A, Benning F, et al. Acceptability, effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of blended cognitive-behavioural therapy (bCBT) versus face-to-face CBT (ftfCBT) for anxiety disorders in specialised mental health care: a 15-week randomised controlled trial with 1-year follow-up. PLoS One 2021 Nov 12;16(11):e0259493 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0259493] [Medline: 34767575]
- Wu MS, Wickham RE, Chen SY, Chen C, Lungu A. Examining the impact of digital components across different phases of treatment in a blended care cognitive behavioral therapy intervention for depression and anxiety: pragmatic retrospective study. JMIR Form Res 2021 Dec 17;5(12):e33452 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/33452] [Medline: 34927591]
- Mathiasen K, Andersen TE, Lichtenstein MB, Ehlers LH, Riper H, Kleiboer A, et al. The clinical effectiveness of blended cognitive behavioral therapy compared with face-to-face cognitive behavioral therapy for adult depression: randomized controlled noninferiority trial. J Med Internet Res 2022 Sep 07;24(9):e36577 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/36577] [Medline: 36069798]
- 32. Atik E, Stricker J, Schückes M, Pittig A. Effectiveness of a brief blended cognitive behavioral therapy (bCBT) program for the treatment of depression and anxiety in university students: a feasibility trial. JMIR Preprints. Preprint posted online on December 1, 2022 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/preprints.44742]
- Ly KH, Topooco N, Cederlund H, Wallin A, Bergström J, Molander O, et al. Smartphone-supported versus full behavioural activation for depression: a randomised controlled trial. PLoS One 2015 May 26;10(5):e0126559 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0126559] [Medline: 26010890]
- Thase ME, Wright JH, Eells TD, Barrett MS, Wisniewski SR, Balasubramani GK, et al. Improving the efficiency of psychotherapy for depression: computer-assisted versus standard CBT. Am J Psychiatry 2018 Mar 01;175(3):242-250 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.17010089] [Medline: 28969439]
- Thase ME, McCrone P, Barrett MS, Eells TD, Wisniewski SR, Balasubramani GK, et al. Improving cost-effectiveness and access to cognitive behavior therapy for depression: providing remote-ready, computer-assisted psychotherapy in times of crisis and beyond. Psychother Psychosom 2020;89(5):307-313 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000508143] [Medline: 32396917]
- Baumeister H, Grässle C, Ebert DD, Krämer LV. Blended Psychotherapy verzahnte Psychotherapie: Das Beste aus zwei Welten? Psychother Dialog 2018 Nov 28;19(04):33-38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/a-0592-0264]
- 37. Ebert DD, Franke M, Kählke F, Küchler AM, Bruffaerts R, Mortier P, WHO World Mental Health International College Student collaborators. Increasing intentions to use mental health services among university students. Results of a pilot

https://formative.jmir.org/2023/1/e45970

randomized controlled trial within the World Health Organization's World Mental Health International College student initiative. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 2019 Jun;28(2):e1754 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/mpr.1754] [Medline: 30456814]

- Atik E, Schückes M, Apolinário-Hagen J. Patient and therapist expectations for a blended cognitive behavioral therapy program for depression: qualitative exploratory study. JMIR Ment Health 2022 Dec 30;9(12):e36806 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/36806] [Medline: 36583934]
- Jakob R, Harperink S, Rudolf AM, Fleisch E, Haug S, Mair JL, et al. Factors influencing adherence to mHealth apps for prevention or management of noncommunicable diseases: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2022 May 25;24(5):e35371 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/35371] [Medline: 35612886]
- 40. Doukani A, Free C, Araya R, Michelson D, Cerga-Pashoja A, Kakuma R. Practitioners' experience of the working alliance in a blended cognitive-behavioural therapy intervention for depression: qualitative study of barriers and facilitators. BJPsych Open 2022 Jul 25;8(4):e142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjo.2022.546] [Medline: 35876079]
- 41. Etzelmueller A, Radkovsky A, Hannig W, Berking M, Ebert DD. Patient's experience with blended video- and internet based cognitive behavioural therapy service in routine care. Internet Interv 2018 Jun;12:165-175 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2018.01.003] [Medline: 30135780]
- 42. Urech A, Krieger T, Möseneder L, Biaggi A, Vincent A, Poppe C, et al. A patient post hoc perspective on advantages and disadvantages of blended cognitive behaviour therapy for depression: a qualitative content analysis. Psychother Res 2019 Nov;29(8):986-998. [doi: 10.1080/10503307.2018.1430910] [Medline: 29385964]
- 43. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL. The PHQ-9: a new depression diagnostic and severity measure. Psychiatr Ann 2002 Sep 01;32(9):509-515 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3928/0048-5713-20020901-06]
- 44. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med 2006 May 22;166(10):1092-1097. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092] [Medline: 16717171]
- Cerga-Pashoja A, Doukani A, Gega L, Walke J, Araya R. Added value or added burden? A qualitative investigation of blending internet self-help with face-to-face cognitive behaviour therapy for depression. Psychother Res 2020 Nov;30(8):998-1010. [doi: 10.1080/10503307.2020.1720932] [Mcdline: 32024447]
- 46. Clarke J, Proudfoot J, Whitton A, Birch MR, Boyd M, Parker G, et al. Therapeutic alliance with a fully automated mobile phone and web-based intervention: secondary analysis of a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Ment Health 2016 Feb 25;3(1):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.4656] [Medline: 26917096]
- McBride CM, Morrissey EC, Molloy GJ. Patients' experiences of using smartphone apps to support self-management and improve medication adherence in hypertension: qualitative study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Oct 28;8(10):e17470 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17470] [Medline: 33112251]
- 48. Titzler I, Saruhanjan K, Berking M, Riper H, Ebert DD. Barriers and facilitators for the implementation of blended psychotherapy for depression: a qualitative pilot study of therapists' perspective. Internet Interv 2018 Jan 16;12:150-164 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2018.01.002] [Medline: 30135779]
- 49. van der Vaart R, Witting M, Riper H, Kooistra L, Bohlmeijer ET, van Gemert-Pijnen LJ. Blending online therapy into regular face-to-face therapy for depression: content, ratio and preconditions according to patients and therapists using a Delphi study. BMC Psychiatry 2014 Dec 14:14:355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-014-0355-z] [Medline: 25496393]
- Chun Tie Y, Birks M, Francis K. Grounded theory research: a design framework for novice researchers. SAGE Open Med 2019 Jan 02;7:2050312118822927 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2050312118822927] [Medline: 30637106]
- 51. Corbin J. Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. 4th edition. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: SAGE Publications; 2014.
- 52. Malagon-Maldonado G. Qualitative research in health design. HERD 2014;7(4):120-134. [doi: 10.1177/193758671400700411] [Medline: 25303432]
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]
- Gericke F, Ebert DD, Breet E, Auerbach RP, Bantjes J. A qualitative study of university students' experience of internet - based CBT for depression. Couns Psychother Res 2021 Aug 17;21(4):792-804 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/capr.12465]
- 55. Porter RJ. The biopsychosocial model in mental health. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2020 Aug;54(8):773-774. [doi: 10.1177/0004867420944464] [Medline: 32735174]
- 56. Mushquash AR, Grassia E. Coping during COVID-19: examining student stress and depressive symptoms. J Am Coll Health 2022 Nov;70(8):2266-2269. [doi: 10.1080/07448481.2020.1865379] [Medline: 33513079]
- Stawarz K, Preist C, Tallon D, Wiles N, Kessler D, Turner K, et al. Design considerations for the integrated delivery of cognitive behavioral therapy for depression: user-centered design study. JMIR Ment Health 2020 Sep 03;7(9):e15972 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15972] [Medline: 32880580]
- Merkel S. Umsetzungsbarrieren bei der akzeptanz, implementation und verbreitung von telecare und telehealth ergebnisse einer internationalen literaturstudie. In: Müller-Mielitz S, Lux T, editors. E-Health-Ökonomie. Wiesbaden, Germany: Springer; 2017:117-123.

https://formative.jmir.org/2023/1/e45970

- Baumeister H, Terhorst Y, Grässle C, Freudenstein M, Nübling R, Ebert DD. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on psychotherapists' acceptance of blended therapy. PLoS One 2020 Aug 12;15(8):e0236995 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0236995] [Medline: 32785245]
- Fleischmann RJ, Harrer M, Zarski AC, Baumeister H, Lehr D, Ebert DD. Patients' experiences in a guided internet- and app-based stress intervention for college students: a qualitative study. Internet Interv 2017 Dec 29;12:130-140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2017.12.001] [Medline: 30135777]
- 61. Titzler I, Berking M, Schlicker S, Riper H, Ebert DD. Barriers and facilitators for referrals of primary care patients to blended internet-based psychotherapy for depression: mixed methods study of general practitioners' views. JMIR Ment Health 2020 Aug 18;7(8):e18642 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18642] [Medline: 32673213]
- 62. Radić M, Donner I, Waack M, Brinkmann C, Stein L, Radić D. Digitale gesundheitsanwendungen: die akzeptanz steigern. Dtsch Arztebl 2021;118(6):A286-A292 [FREE Full text]
- Benjumea J, Ropero J, Rivera-Romero O, Dorronzoro-Zubiete E, Carrasco A. Privacy assessment in mobile health apps: scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jul 02;8(7):e18868 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18868] [Medline: 32459640]
- Arean PA, Hallgren KA, Jordan JT, Gazzaley A, Atkins DC, Heagerty PJ, et al. The use and effectiveness of mobile apps for depression: results from a fully remote clinical trial. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 20;18(12):e330 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6482] [Medline: 27998876]
- 65. Krämer R, Köhne-Volland L, Schumacher A, Köhler S. Efficacy of a web-based intervention for depressive disorders: three-arm randomized controlled trial comparing guided and unguided self-help with waitlist control. JMIR Form Res 2022 Apr 04;6(4):e34330 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/34330] [Medline: 35105536]

Abbreviations

bCBT: blended cognitive behavioral therapy
CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy
COREQ: Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research
DTx: digital therapeutics
iCBT: internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy

Edited by A Mavragani; submitted 24.01.23; peer-reviewed by C Benjet, N Yoshinaga; comments to author 22.02.23; revised version received 03.03.23; accepted 06.03.23; published 12.04.23 Please cite as: Braun P, Atik E, Guthardt L, Apolinário-Hagen J, Schückes M Barriers to and Facilitators of a Blended Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Program for Depression and Anxiety Based on Experiences of University Students: Qualitative Interview Study JMIR Form Res 2023;7:e45970 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2023/1/e45970 doi: 10.2196/45970 PMID: 37043272

©Pia Braun, Ece Atik, Lisa Guthardt, Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen, Magnus Schückes. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 12.04.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

https://formative.jmir.org/2023/1/e45970

3 **Discussion**

3.1 Summary of results

In terms of well documented effectiveness but low utilization rates, the role of dMHSs in the prevention, treatment and aftercare of CMDs has been discussed in the last couple of years. Reasons for low dissemination include skepticism and lacking awareness of potential risks and benefits, which calls for recipient-targeted AFIs such as information campaigns. However, until now little has been known about information preferences of students that are comparatively at high risk for CMDs and at the same time represent digital natives. Specifically, the perspective of psychology and medical students as future HCPs has barely been included in research even though they play a critical role in shaping the future healthcare system. The aims of this dissertation were thus to gain in-depth understanding of factors associated with acceptance of dMHSs to inform the design of recipient-targeted AFIs for this target group.

The first qualitative study (study 1) aimed at exploring information preferences related to dMHSs among future HCPs (i.e., medical and psychology students) as potential users of dMHSs to close knowledge gaps in this target group. The quantitative study (study 2) investigated the intention to use various dMHSs (i.e., telephone, vide-oconference, VR, unguided and guided dMHSs) for different application purposes (i.e., prevention, treatment addition, treatment substitute, aftercare) and applied an extended UTAUT model to explore which predictors best determine acceptance of dMHSs among future HCPs (i.e., psychotherapists in clinical training) as potential prescribers and recommenders of dMHSs. The second qualitative study (study 3) examined factors that might be associated with the actual use or non-use of a dMHS for mild to moderate depression and anxiety symptoms in students that participated in a bCBT program. Non-use refers to users that did not or only barely use the dMHS as addition to the digital psychotherapy. The main results of all three studies and a brief description can be found in table 2.

Table 2	. Main	results of s	studies	includ	led in	this	dissertation	
				-			_	

Study details	Aims	Sample	Results
Braun et al., 2023 (study 1)	1) to explore infor- mation preferences and needs regard- ing dMHSs among future HCPs as	n = 16 medical stu- dents and n = 5 psy- chology students. Students were m = 25.5 years old and studied in 5 different	In total, four attributes were deductively derived from the data, including induc- tively formed levels of attributes that could together constitute AFIs which were either considered as facilitating or hindering dMHSs' acceptance:

	potential users of dMHSs 2) to identify attrib- utes and levels to design AFIs on dMHSs	federal states of Ger- many	 information source (i.e., university, HCPs, internet search, family and friends, employer, other sources) information format (i.e., newsletter, social media, website, print media) content preference (i.e., reviews, costs, composition, individualiza- tion, anonymity and data safety, developers' background, scope of application, languages selection, time requirement, emergency con- tact) design preference (i.e., visual de- sign preferences, linguistic prefer- ences)
Braun et al., 2022 (study 2)	1) to assess the in- tention to use vari- ous dMHSs for dif- ferent application purposes 2) to apply an ex- tended UTAUT model to explore which factors best determine ac- ceptance of dMHSs	n = 216 participants (n = 197 studied psy- chology, n = 6 stud- ied medicine, n = 13 indicated other de- grees), with n = 60 who did the training in Switzerland and n = 156 in Germany. Most of them were female (88.4%) and between 25 and 39 years old (85.2%)	 There was an interaction effect of dMHSs and application purpose, confirming the expected heterogeneity in the acceptance of different types of dMHSs: psychotherapy via videoconference was the most accepted across all application purposes as a treatment substitute, dMHSs were comparatively less accepted in acute care unguided and guided dMHSs were specifically well accepted in preventive care VR was comparatively less accepted across all application purposes. Furthermore, the following barriers were identified as significantly reducing the intention to use dMHSs among futue HCPs as providers of dMHSs: impersonality therapeutic alliance legal concerns As significantly facilitating the intention to use dMHSs, the following factors were identified: simplified information provision simplified contact maintenance time flexibility geographic flexibility
Braun et al., 2023 (study 3)	To evaluate factors that might be asso- ciated with the ac- tual use or non-use of a dMHS in a bCBT program for mild to moderate depression and anxiety symptoms in students	n = 102 students, with a mean age of almost m = 24 years, n = 14 studied psy- chology and n = 18 studied medicine or related fields. 65,7% showed symptoms of depression and 34.3% symptoms of anxiety	The following facilitators to the actual usage of the dMHS among students were inductively derived from the data: • usability of dMHSs • structure of dMHSs • content within dMHSs • design of dMHSs • support within dMHSs As barriers to the actual usage of the dMHS, the following emerged: • overwhelming emotions • time requirement • data security concerns

The following general benefits of the dMHS were identified as part of a blended program:

- self-efficacy
- transfer into daily life
- psychoeducation

3.1.1 Attitudes towards dMHSs

In general, future HCPs reported positive attitudes towards dMHSs and mentioned to be open towards the use of dMHSs in all three studies, independent of whether they were asked as future providers of dMHSs or users of dMHSs. Furthermore, the majority reported having low to moderate knowledge and little experience with dMHSs, which is in line with prior research among other target groups, such as general practitioners (88,93,108), psychotherapists (109) and patients in general (110,111). For instance, several recent studies presented at the 22nd German Conference for Health Services Research have shown that the integration of DTx into the German healthcare system still does not appear to be sufficient even years after the start of reimbursement of DTx as there is a lack of information and clear recommendations for action (109). In the latest report on DTx, authors come to the same conclusion, stating that a nation-wide information campaign on DTx is needed to educate HCPs and patients about the new care options and enable them to make informed decisions (112).

In study 1, participants noted that the subject of digital health had received minimal attention during their medical or psychology studies. Despite perceiving its significance as high for their future roles as HCPs and personal needs, such as coping with stressful periods in their student lives, the topic was scarcely addressed during their studies. Almost all interviewed students reported that they were open towards the use of dMHSs, ensuring low-threshold access before CMDs develop. More precisely, students wished to be informed about dMHSs right in the beginning of their studies, e.g. during freshmen week. Furthermore, participants of study 2 stated using dMHSs in only one out of ten therapeutic cases. However, there were considerable differences between the services, showing that psychotherapy via videoconference and via telephone was used in every fourth therapeutic case. In study 3, none of the interviewed students had participated in a bCBT program for the treatment of depression or anxiety before. In line with prior research, study 2 showed that acceptance of blended programs was greater compared to unguided stand-alone dMHSs. Moshe et al. (113) could show significantly higher effect sizes in interventions incorporating human therapeutic guidance as opposed to unguided self-help programs. In fact, acceptance of unguided dMHSs, such as DTx, was lowest, while acceptance of psychotherapy via videoconference was highest among future HCPs. However, when looking at the intention to use dMHSs across different application purposes, we found that unguided as well as blended programs seem to be specifically well accepted for the prevention of CMDs, even more so than all other services. In comparison, future HCPs accompanied just 4.2% of their patients with blended programs during acute care while they recommended unguided dMHSs to only 3.4% of their patients. This finding is consistent with the still low prescription rates of DTx in Germany, even if the numbers have risen steadily yet slowly in recent years as already explained above (67). Although future HCPs do not seem to have fundamentally negative attitudes towards dMHSs, they do not accept them as a replacement or substitute to standard psychotherapy programs, but primarily for preventive purposes as well as in aftercare. This finding seems to be new, as past research has not specifically focused on the comparison of acceptance towards different kind of dMHSs for different application purposes.

In the same vein, study 3 showed that dMHSs can indeed provide an effective alternative to traditional psychotherapy treatment if embedded in such a way that it fits into the life of students. Most participating students suffering from either depression or anxiety that took part in the bCBT program reported positive experiences and high acceptance of the dMHS, which was also shown in 94% of participating students finishing the program. The quantitative results of this study also provide preliminary evidence of the feasibility and efficacy of the bCBT program for the treatment of mild to moderate depression and anxiety symptoms in students (57). Generally higher acceptance towards blended programs among both users and providers show that a gradual integration of technology into routine care could be very promising (114). Thus, blended programs that offer an integrated synthesis of digital and face-to-face elements seem to have the potential to find their way into the healthcare system and therefore become an integral element of the support system at universities if the appropriate framework conditions are given.

3.1.2 Facilitators and barriers across groups

Across all three studies included in this dissertation, there are some factors that have consistently been perceived to facilitate or hinder the intention to use or the actual uptake of dMHSs which should be considered when designing AFIs for students. In the following sections, identified facilitators and barriers across studies are summarized in person-specific influencing factors (e.g., prior knowledge, concerns) and factors that are associated with the intervention itself (e.g., usability, individualization options). Even though this categorization seems crucial to design context-sensitive AFIs that are specifically targeted at respective target groups, this distinction has been barely made in research yet. This distinction might be especially helpful for the German Federal Ministry of Health or educational institutions (e.g., universities) to plan effective multi-level information strategies specifically for students, but also for medical-technology companies in regards to the development of dMHSs for this target population. Thus, another contribution of this dissertation is not only to gain an in-depth understanding of these factors, but also to structure obtained findings. Figure 1 gives an overview over identified factors.

Person-specific	Intervention-specific
 Facilitating conditions (knowledge,	 Features (individualization options,
experience, affordability, infrastructure) Effort and performance expectancy (time	information provision, contact options) Usability (user-friendliness, clear design) Development (scientific evidence base,
requirement, flexibility, usefulness) Social influence (reviews) Concerns (data security, mental health	scope of application, developers'
status, therapeutic relationship, legal)	background)

Figure 1. Factors associated with the intention to use and actual uptake of dMHSs

3.1.2.1 Person-specific influencing factors

Facilitating conditions

As hypothesized, one of the most frequently reported barriers mentioned by future HCPs as users was a lack of knowledge and experience with respect to dMHSs (study 1), which was also shown as a significant predictor of technology acceptance among potential providers (study 2). A comprehensive overview of the availability, relevance, and effectiveness of digital tools for the clinical context appears to be lacking, while the number of available services is expanding steadily and rapidly (90). Accordingly, many participants wished for the opportunity to receive information and education on dMHSs (study 1). When students were asked what they would like to be informed about regarding dMHSs, answers were similar to prior research focusing on how dMHSs should be designed among users in general (115), medical students (116), and young adults (117). Participants indicated that if universities provided dMHSs as a preventive service free of charge, they would be receptive to utilizing them. Accordingly, information on costs were most often mentioned as crucial because high costs were perceived to impede utilization of dMHSs due to students' limited financial resources, which is inconsistent with a systematic review published in 2021 among users in general. In this review, other factors, including severe mental health symptoms, a lack of personalization options and technical problems were identified more often as barriers (115). In regards to how they would like to be informed about dMHSs, most future HCPs stated that the university as a source of information could facilitate access to dMHSs through appropriately prepared information materials or courses. Due to the vast array of available health apps and telemedicine services, participants expressed a desire for guidance from their university which is in line with prior research (116). They wished for assistance both as potential users of dMHSs and in relation to their future roles as HCPs. Furthermore, many students highlighted a lack of awareness regarding the psychological support services offered by their university. The lack of awareness was not mentioned as a main barrier to seeking help in previous studies among medical students. In Australia, for instance, not enough time and concerns regarding stigma, including disclosure and peer judgement were reported as hindering (118), while students of the University of New Mexico School of Medicine indicated they would not want to disclose their psychological health status on a New Mexico Medical Board license application. The most mentioned reasons for non-disclosure were fear of stigmatization, fear of consequences, and the impression that such disclosure was not appropriate (28).

Participating students of study 1 also emphasized the importance of being informed about these services at the beginning of their studies, as part of preventive measures, indicating a need for proactive information strategies. Especially in regards to their future role as HCPs, some participants suggested that the topic digital health should be introduced as an integral subject of their studies. In fact, the lack of organized educational programs on dMHSs has been viewed as a barrier to the implementation of digital health (119). Even among practicing HCPs, there appears to be limited digital health literacy and experience, as only 11% have undergone any form of training in digital health (92). Moreover, only half of these training programs specifically addressed dMHSs, emphasizing the need for structured education and additional training initiatives (90,91,120). As a result, the updated version of the National Competence Bases Catalogues of Learning Objectives for Medical Education (German "NKLM 2.0"), a revised framework for qualifying medical students for their roles as healthcare professionals, now incorporates digital health literacy as one of the comprehensive skills.
Consequently, digital health literacy will be integrated into the mandatory core curriculum starting in 2025, at least for medical students in Germany. However, interviewed participants of study 1 emphasized that they do not only want to be informed about how to search for, access, scrutinize and recommend dMHSs in their role as HCPs (121), but they especially wished to be educated on how to manage one's own health and perceived this to be important for every student. It seems reasonable to enable students to gain experience early in their studies through using dMHSs for the management of their own well-being, as, according to the results, experience has been shown to be a predictor of technology acceptance, leading to the UTAUT model (122). Additionally, Cao et al. (123) showed that individuals perceive using dMHSs as easy once they have developed more resources and knowledge to use dMHSs. Future HCPs also imagined the management of one's own health with dMHSs to be a mandatory course for all students independent of the study program. Moreover, they mentioned several other formats that they believe would facilitate the retrieval of information on dMHSs, highlighting the importance of social media. Even though students had varying opinions about personalized advertisement on, e.g., Instagram, they agreed that if information is scientifically prepared and presented by a credible channel (such as the profile of their own university), the information on dMHSs provided is also more likely to be accepted. For instance, some of the interviewed students reported discovering information about the interview study through a Facebook group related to their course of studies. Similarly, they expressed the possibility of receiving information about dMHSs by student council groups or other fellow students in such groups. In this manner, students outlined that social media could serve as an effective and low-threshold way to connect with individuals acquiring help. Interestingly, participants did not prefer information strategies on dMHSs that were exclusively tailored for medical or psychology students. Instead, they prioritized information strategies centered around dMHSs that addressed the general needs of all students, because they perceived no distinctions between student groups regarding stress and mental health issues.

Specific to medical and psychology students as future providers of dMHSs (study 2), the degree to which participants believed that organizational and technical infrastructures are available to support the use of dMHSs (122), was also shown to be significantly influencing acceptance. This seems reasonable because if HCPs do not have the capability to integrate digital health solutions into their treatments and daily working routine, it appears likely that dMHSs will have difficulties to find their way in routine care. Indeed, a recent systematic review among practicing HCPs has shown

that infrastructure and technical barriers were the most frequently outlined barriers to utilizing digital health applications (115), including insufficient technical equipment (124), no information on the potential additional workload for HCPs, shortage of devices, connectivity speed, harmonized systems across different facilities (125) and limited technical interoperability and interconnectedness (90).

The interoperability has certainly become critical to improve timely and secure access as well as the integration and use of EHRs to optimize health outcomes for patients and reduce costs for the healthcare system. In the United States, the use of EHRs has increased immensely throughout the past years (126) and even though Germany is still lagging behind, there has also been some progress. For instance, the new Digital Healthcare Act is intended to enable telemonitoring for DTx in future by inter-linking various components, i.e., digital solutions are to be increasingly integrated into HCPs' systems and it should also be possible in future to make appointments for medical services from DTx (127). With the help of cross-provider care platforms including medical aids, DTx, EHRs and other applications of the telematics infrastructure, telemonitoring programs and other telemedical care scenarios for various application purposes will be able to be mapped through Germany (128).

Effort and performance expectancy

Furthermore, having time pressure and the inability to integrate therapy in everyday life due to time constraints were identified as personal factors lowering the helpseeking intentions among students and future HCPs (study 1, 2 and 3). Thus, the opportunity to use dMHSs at any time and anywhere, avoiding waitlists and having to put relatively little effort in the process were mentioned both as facilitating the actual use of dMHSs among students (study 3) as well as important benefits that students like to be informed about (study 1) and increasing the intention to recommend dMHSs to patients (study 2). At the same time, students stated that these newly developed technologies would require additional workload and dedication from the perspective of future HCPs to get familiar with those new inventions (study 1). Time- and workload-related factors were similarly reported as most common barriers to use dMHSs among HCPs that already show a lot of work experience (92,125).

The opportunity to communicate from the comfort of one's own home without having to make an effort was perceived as increasing the acceptance and use of dMHSs, mitigating stress and anxiety associated with in-person interactions or unfamiliar environments (study 1 and 3). In line with previous research among HCPs (92)

and adolescents as patients (129), the degree to which individuals believed that dMHSs will help maintain or regain psychological wellbeing and the perceived usefulness of the intervention to address patients' and HCPs' needs were shown as major facilitating factors in all three studies. For instance, in a recent systematic review among young people aged between 10 and 24 years of age, usefulness and connectedness were perceived as the most common facilitators of user engagement with webbased mental health interventions. Perceived usefulness for young people was also noted by both HCPs and parents as the most common facilitator, whereas concerns about performance expectancy and data privacy were listed as barriers (129).

Social influence

With respect to whether dMHSs are worth engaging with, participants reported that their personal usage intention also depended on the reviews of other users (study 1) and the recommendations of other HCPs (study 2). For instance, results of study 1 revealed that students appreciated when dMHSs were previously tested and approved by friends, other students or university lecturers, helping them to reflect on whether a specific dMHS could be helpful or not. Congruently, from a perspective of a future HCP, a significant facilitator influencing the intention to use dMHSs in clinical practice was social influence by other HCPs (study 2). Feeling the perceptions of others on the willingness to use digital solutions seems to socially effect HCPs' adoption and the use of dMHSs (130). Possible explanations are that HCPs feel that using technological innovations might make them attain the same or an even higher status than their colleagues, trying to adapt their behavior to comply to social norms (131). Additionally, feeling the encouragement and support from their employers in using digital tools could also have a positive influence (92). Especially when individuals face uncertainty, the influence of others' opinions has been shown to reduce perceived risk of using dMHSs (123). This seems especially important regarding concerns that have been raised among participants, including data security concerns (study 1 and 2), concerns regarding the mental health status of patients (study 1, 2 and 3), concerns about the therapeutic relationship (study 2) and legal concerns (study 2).

Concerns

When asked about potential barriers to the usage of dMHS, concerns regarding data security were identified in study 1 and study 2, which have been consistently shown as hindering uptake in prior research among HCPs (132,133). However, when

asked as users (study 1), anonymity seemed to be even more important than data security. In study 3, the majority of participants appeared unconcerned about data security and expressed no apprehension about submitting health-related data. They reported that this lack of worry stemmed from the detailed information provided by the dMHS regarding the handling of data, assuring anonymity and confidentiality. In support of this finding, research has shown that a moderation of the intervention, meaning a person monitoring and moderating the content such as in bCBT programs, is perceived as a facilitator to create a safe environment (134). As a provider, data security seemed to have a higher priority (study 1), even though insecurity was not shown to be a significant predictor of dMHSs' acceptance among future providers (study 2), thus it did not significantly influence future HCPs intention to use dMHSs in clinical practice. In conclusion, other concerns had a stronger impact on usage intention. For instance, across all groups, dMHSs were evaluated as more acceptable for milder forms of CMDs and severe mental health symptoms have been identified as a barrier. In study 3, certain students expressed concerns about being left alone in acute situations, for instance if negative emotions would arise when working on specific reflection tasks. Furthermore, participants mentioned that the request to complete exercises before the next therapy session as part of the bCBT program could potentially create additional pressure and overload for students already struggling to manage their daily tasks. They emphasized that individuals with depressive symptoms, in particular, might find it challenging to engage with the dMHS. Given their frequently constrained energy levels and existing difficulties with daily tasks, incorporating an extra digital component might be perceived as an added workload, leading to a sense of overstain. Controversially, in needs assessment studies, participants expressed a greater willingness to utilize dMHSs when their symptoms were more severe (135–137). Simultaneously, evaluation studies have revealed that intensified symptoms impede effective engagement with digital interventions (138,139). For emergency situations, future HCPs of study 1 expressed a desire for dMHSs capable of promptly delivering appropriate emergency contact information as reliable and quick assistance for individuals in acute need. To date, this feature seems to be barely included in dMHSs, especially not in those that are not tested and validated by federal institutions, such as the German Federal Ministry of Health. In such situations, the significance of anonymity would even diminish. Regarding HCPs' perspective as providers and recommenders, there seems to be a perceived need for face-to-face contact in terms of more severe symptoms due to feelings of high responsibility towards patients (102). The chance of having no possibility

to intervene due to less human interaction has also been identified as a personal barrier (125). Correspondingly, the results of study 2 showed that impersonality had the strongest impact on the intention to use dMHSs among future HCPs in clinical practice. This also explains that acceptance of guided interventions was higher for most application purposes in comparison to unguided dMHSs (see 3.1.1), even though it was not listed among the most prominent barriers to using digital health technologies in a recent review by Borges do Nascimento (125).

In the same vein, doubts as to whether it is possible to build a trusting therapeutic relationship when using dMHSs was identified in study 2 as a significant concern influencing usage intention. One fundamental element of psychotherapy involves the establishment of a therapeutic alliance between the patient and the HCP, as it is acknowledged as a main factor contributing to the effectiveness of psychotherapy (140). The therapeutic alliance includes three components, including the bond between the therapist and the patient as well as the agreement on the tasks directed toward improvement and on therapeutic goals (141). With regards to digitalization, the therapeutic alliance has been controversially discussed, while results are still inconsistent due to the broad variety of dMHSs and the role of this concept in the digital context is still unclear (102,142,143). For instance, results of a narrative review from 2020 demonstrated that a therapeutic alliance can indeed be built in digital interventions for patients with CMDs but that the therapeutic alliance seems to be less directly associated with outcomes in comparison to face-to-face therapies (144). Specifically, it seems reasonable that empathy, which is associated with therapeutic alliance, is more difficult to build in unguided dMHSs that do not involve personal guidance. Confirmatory, the results of study 2 showed that specific application purposes would hinder the intention to recommend dMHSs. For example, in study 2 dMHSs were relatively less accepted as a treatment alternative compared to other application purposes in acute care settings. This discrepancy could be attributed to future HCPs preferring to have more immediate control over the therapeutic relationship in acute situations. In acute situations, they might find greater comfort in direct synchronous communication, encompassing the interpretation of both verbal and nonverbal cues in patients. Additionally, future HCPs may experience a compelling professional duty to attain expertise in a particular subject before recommending or implementing it in daily clinical routines (102). Thus, lacking familiarity and awareness of possible benefits and risks of dMHSs for acute care might have resulted in low willingness for future use for this specific application area.

Specifically for future HCPs, results of study 2 have further shown that legal concerns among future HCPs represent a significant barrier to the acceptance of dMHSs. In the literature, legal- and ethical-related factors were also shown as predominant barriers for already practicing HCPs, including national laws, jurisdiction and the presence of ambiguous legal liability (125). To provide psychologists with clear recommendations, the European Federation of Psychologists' Associations have formulated general guidelines (120) to promote the dissemination of evidence-based dMHSs as a starting point. For physicians, the German Society for Digital Medicine is involved in the development of guidelines and standards for digital medicine. It promotes scientifically sound education, training and continuing education in studies, clinics and practice in the form of scientific programs, events and information (145). So far, however, these measures appear to have reached only very few physicians in Germany (72).

3.1.2.2 Intervention-specific influencing factors

Features of dMHSs

A common factor influencing the intention to use dMHSs was the features of dMHSs in contrast to.... In all three studies, participants wished for personalization options within dMHSs, which would, e.g., allow users to skip specific exercises that are perceived as not matching to their personal situation (study 3) or change the design of dMHSs according to own preferences (study 1). To decide whether dMHSs fitted personal needs, some students mentioned that they would like to know whether they could choose between modules and exercises that were offered within dMHSs in study. Even though psychoeducational exercises could be customized by the therapist tailored to students' needs in study 3, e.g. by activating additional content based on individuals, the content was not always perceived as matching with one's personal situation. However, most interviewed participants reported that the bCBT program was overall perceived as a good solution to enhance engagement motivation because it allowed for a more personalized care as just a face-to-face therapy or the use of dMHSs alone. The dMHS was regarded as advantageous in supplementing in-person sessions since it promoted self-reflection and prompted proactive symptom management. As the level of guidance was perceived as relatively high due to the blended format, participants further felt that it held them accountable to consistently interact with the content of the dMHS. However, some disapproved the lack of direct, detailed feedback on finished tasks. They further wished for additional reminders that would notify users if they did not complete tasks that were necessary for the next therapy session and a

personalized representation of the intervention as both could have strengthen therapy adherence. This is in line with Jakob et al. (146) who could show that push notifications were identified an effective technique of improving adherence to dMHSs, if they were customizable to individuals' schedules. However, push notifications have also been reported to be perceived as a barrier because they are considered as annoying or unsuitable (116), thus, individualization of these reminders customized to one's own preference seems crucial. In regards to multimedia components, participants agreed that both for information materials on dMHSs (stufy 1) as well as for dMHSs (study 3), a mix of different formats (e.g., videos, texts, audio files, etc.) was favored as the variety was perceived as matching with different preferences and more engaging. Likewise, Garrido et al. (147) could show that users appreciate interventions with gamification elements and relatable, interactive content that matches with own preferences.

With regard to future HCPs, there were some students who additionally expressed that they would like to be informed about whether specific dMHSs were available in different languages so that they could be recommended to patients with mother tongues other than German (study 1). Furthermore, simplified contact maintenance and information provision, e.g. through integrating chat options or reminders to transfer therapy content into daily life, were identified as significantly facilitating the intention to use dMHSs in clinical practice (study 2). Especially with regards to the simplified information provision, the results of study 2 and study 3 show that using dMHSs in bCBT can be specifically helpful for psychoeducation purposes by reinforcing the uptake of the content of the face-to-face sessions. In conclusion, customized interventions appear to be essential for enhancing the dissemination of dMHSs among both students and HCPs, as one-size-fits-all approaches seem improbable to yield effectiveness for all individuals (96,148). In this regard, the bCBT approaches that align with the requirements and preferences of both therapists and patients again seem promising (146).

Usability

According to the International Organization for Standardization (ISO), usability refers to the degree to which a software can be used by specific consumers to achieve quantified objectives with effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction in a quantified context of use (149). As technical issues have been shown to be a common barrier to engaging with dMHSs (115), it seems crucial that users need to feel a high level of convenience when using innovations such as dMHSs to increase acceptance (77). In line, the results of study 1 and 3 showed that the handling of dMHSs was of special

importance for users, implying that the degree to which dMHSs can be easily used was associated with the usage intention (study 1) as well as actual usage of dMHSs (study 3). In study 1, future HCPs wished to be informed about whether dMHSs are perceived as user-friendly, including technical stability and an interface that allows for an intuitive, structured and reliable user experience. In study 3, almost all participants agreed that the dMHS had a clear design and was easy to navigate, self-explanatory and well structured, so that it could be effortlessly used without prior technical knowledge which could be associated with overall positive experiences that were reported. This seems to be of special importance as participants not having the resources required to use an intervention was shown as primary barrier to engagement with dMHSs in previous studies (150–152). In contrast to past studies among other target groups, participants barely had problems with the login or in finding information or navigating within the dMHS (153,154).

Moreover, the findings of study 3 suggest that numerous students held the view that their therapy would have been less organized and less impactful without the dMHS, which was also expressed by participants in previous studies on blended formats (155,156). Also in line with past research in other populations (155,157), many participants appraised the dMHS as a helpful tool to prevent therapeutic drift between face-to-face therapy sessions. However, some participants wished for an integrated therapy plan as an even better orientation throughout their therapy journey, indicating which exercises had already been successfully finished and which were yet to come.

Development

Future HCPs (study 1 and 2) were highly interested in the scope of application and the development process of dMHSs. Regarding the scope of application, participants of study 1 wished to know for which disease, target group and application purpose (i.e. prevention, acute treatment or aftercare) a specific dMHS was developed before using or recommending it. This was confirmed by results of study 2, which showed that there was an interaction effect of dMHSs and application purpose, confirming the expected heterogeneity in the acceptance of different types of dMHSs among future HCPs. In addition, most students highlighted that the scientific evidence base was essential in order to decide whether to use a dMHS (study 1) or recommend it to patients (study 2). Interestingly, the scientific evidence base was not listed among the most prominent facilitators in a recent review by Borges do Nascimento et al. (125) on factors influencing the use of digital health technologies among practicing HCPs. Other facilitators, such as training and education possibilities, usefulness, usability or adherence promotion campaigns seemed to be more important for this more experienced target group. In study 1, however, the scientific evidence base was one of the most mentioned that students wanted to be informed about and results of study 2 showed that the assessment of the scientific credibility was significantly influencing the intention. Almost all students wished to know whether there is adequate empirical evidence supporting dMHSs, such as whether specific interventions had undergone clinical trials demonstrating effectiveness and efficiency. Without such validation of a guideline-based development process, future HCPs expressed a reluctance to use dMHSs (study 1). In comparison to other target groups (158,159), some medical and psychology students did not just wish to be informed about the quality, safety and effectiveness of dMHSs, but asked for more details on the scientific background (e.g., which research group conducted the study, how many participants were included?).

In combination with the scientific evidence base, future HCPs frequently wished to be informed about the professional background of dMHSs' developers because it would increase the level of trust in interventions and long-term attachment. For instance, they would prefer using or recommending dMHSs that were developed by other medical experts, such as psychotherapists and physicians, than only by business economists. Interestingly, the developers' background did not appear to carry particular significance in prior research among other target groups including experiences HCPs (e.g., 125), indicating that future HCPs might place greater importance on this information. As research has shown that if individuals perceive more trust in product developers, it can significantly influence their behavioral intention to use dMHSs (123), further research should investigate whether including this information in AFIs might increase actual uptake.

Overall, the results from study 1 and 2 on the development process of dMHSs indicate that, for instance, a website hosted by an official association (e.g., the Professional Association of German Psychologists) or public institution (e.g., the Federal Ministry of Health), including a short description of the most important and relevant information on dMHSs might be beneficial for medical and psychology students to make informed decisions. A similar tool already exists for practicing HCPs on DTx, hosted by the German Digital Health Association, but for students, such an overview is missing.

3.2 Strengths and limitations

This dissertation contributes to the understanding of barriers and facilitators related to the acceptance and utilization of dMHS among students as well as the design of recipient-targeted AFIs to close knowledge gaps among future HCPs in Germany. However, there are a few aspects that should be regarded with caution when analyzing the results of the studies.

First, the quantitative study (study 2) focused on psychotherapists in clinical training, which means that the study population already held a university degree in either psychology or medicine and were then in their postgraduate studies to obtain a state-approved permission to practice psychotherapy in Germany or Switzerland. The qualitative study investigating information needs and preferences regarding dMHSs (study 1) focused on medical and psychology students that were comparatively less advanced in their professional careers, thus results cannot be compared to experienced HCPs. Additionally, study 2 focused on future HCPs as potential users of dMHSs, while the study 1 focused on future HCPs as potential providers or recommenders of dMHSs to get a broader picture of this promising and important target group. Furthermore, in the qualitative study on barriers to and facilitators of a dMHS for depression and anxiety within a bCBT program (study 3), the focus was on students as actual users, not specifically differentiating between study programs. However, to promote the integration of dMHSs into the healthcare system, both perspectives, potential users and prescribers, are deemed to be necessary. Thus, gaining insights into both perspectives is considered a strength of this dissertation.

Secondly, the studies were conducted at different times, respectively in the summer of 2020 (study 2), in August and September of 2021 (study 1), and in January and February of 2022 (study 3). For instance, the COVID-19-pandemic surely reshaped the next generation of healthcare (160), which forced both users and HCPs to face new approaches to the management of CMDs. This could have potentially lead to different levels of experience with and acceptance of dMHSs at the timing of data collection. Thus, results are not directly comparable and respective conclusions are limited.

Thirdly, acceptance is a multifaceted concept and there has been a lack of standard measures in research (161). Even though the UTAUT model originated from an extensive review and synthesis of various theoretical models related to technology acceptance and is still a widely recognized framework, it has some limitations in explaining variance in behavioral intention and usage behavior (162). For instance, it

excludes some constructs and contextual factors that may be of high importance for explaining technology acceptance and use, which led to researchers starting to incorporate variables from alternative theoretical frameworks (84). Confirmatory, Venkatesh et al. (122) indicated that many studies in the field of technology research employed either just a subset of the UTAUT model and included other moderators than the ones proposed. Even though we operationalized acceptance according to the UTAUT model in all three studies included in this dissertation as the intention to use dMHSs, we adapted the questions to the context, focusing on individual characteristics, such as attitude and study background. Attitudes have been demonstrated as a partial mediator for the impacts of performance expectancy, effort expectancy, facilitating conditions, and social influence on behavioral intention. Additionally, attitudes directly influence usage behavior (162). Thus, including questions on attitudes in all three studies was considered as necessary.

Moreover, the results of this dissertation focusing mainly on young adults should be interpreted with caution, as research has shown that younger people are often more open to dMHSs (163) and that older patients and HCPs with extensive professional experience often exhibit greater skepticism (86). This is also accompanied by a potential selection bias, as possibly, only those students that were interested in the topic of digital health might have participated, which could have led to slightly overrated results and potentially less identified risks or barriers. In addition, all materials used to gather data for the three studies of this dissertation, included a brief description of dMHSs, which might have positively influenced acceptance. Furthermore, people with lower education seem to prefer more frequently face-to-face settings (163). However, we only included participants that were either already finished with their studies or on their way obtain a university degree. As Perski and Short (161) have argued that what people find acceptable is strongly context-sensitive and interlinked with prevailing cultural and social norms, active provision of more information and further promotion of acceptance for dMHSs specifically targeted and tailored at different groups of population seems necessary. For future research, it is thus crucial to further include user-centered approaches in the design of information strategies, just as we did.

As a strength of all studies included in this dissertation, the diverse sample can be mentioned, which ensured that a broad range of perspectives and experiences could be considered from both users and providers. For instance, in study 1, interviewed students studied in five different federal states of Germany and about half of them had already completed at least one educational program or study program. In study 3, data from students with both symptoms of depression as well as of anxiety could be gathered and perspectives of students from different study programs (i.e., social sciences and humanities, science and engineering, management and business administration, sport, psychology and medicine and related fields) were obtained. However, we did not specifically compare psychology and medical students' experiences with the dMHS with those from students of other programs, which might have been particularly interesting for this dissertation. In general, the proportion of female participants was higher than that of men. This may however reflect the actual gender distribution among medical and psychology students in Germany (164,165). Additionally, the number of 21 students that were interviewed for study 1 might seem relatively small, however, no new relevant content was being obtained from further data collection which indicates that thematic saturation (166) in this qualitative study was reached.

Finally, the results of this dissertation should not be transferred to other countries, because we focused on the German healthcare system with its specific regulations, while study 2 also included psychotherapists in clinical training from Switzerland. For instance, the prescription of DTx in Germany with costs reimbursed by all statutory health insurances is yet still very innovative worldwide, while European countries such as Belgium (167) and Austria (168) have just started to introduce a similar system. Thus, attitudes and preferences might differ across nations.

3.3 Practical implications and future research

Until today, many attempts to implement dMHSs in real-world settings in Germany have not been successful and there is a strong need for AFIs that convey knowledge on dMHSs to various target groups (169). To identify and select appropriate dMHSs' implementation strategies, the Exploration, Preparation, Implementation, and Sustainment (EPIS) framework will be used as theoretic orientation for this section on practical implications (170). The focus of this dissertation can be categorized in the first phase, the exploration phase, which is proposed as a stage in which needs and preferences among a specific target group are accessed to determine person- and intervention-related factors that can be addressed in AFIs. The results of this dissertation lay an important foundation for the next phase, the preparation phase. Here, the focus is on the exploration of different information strategies that address the identified factors to see which strategy is best suited to target users and providers. The implementation phase demands not just activities to deploy AFIs on dMHSs, such as facilitating conditions, but also measures that monitor the success of such AFIs. In the last phase, the sustainment phase, potential progress should be maintained or, if not successful, AFIs need to be adapted. Figure 2 shows an illustration of the EPIS framework.



Figure 2. Own representation of the EPIS framework based on Moullin et al. (170)

3.3.1 Users' perspective

By exploring factors that are associated with dMHSs' acceptance among users, the results of study 1 and 3 can now be used to design AFIs for potential users of dMHSs and prepare implementation. To initiate measures aimed at preventing CMDs and inform about dMHSs, educational environments such as university settings appear to be the most appropriate according to potential users, given that this life stage aligns with a period of elevated risk for the onset of CMDs. As 1 out of 4 aged between 16 to 24 years has experienced at least one CMDs in the past year (171), the objective of educational institutions like universities should encompass not only to offer avenues for personal development and cultivating outstanding professionals, but also to foster the well-being of individuals. Especially in resource-limited settings, like student counseling centers, there is the strong need to enhance the acceptance, dissemination and adoption of digital therapeutic approaches that do not always require guidance. The results of this dissertation suggest that there is a need for well-defined assignments of responsibilities concerning the implementation and sustainment of information strategies on digital services for students' mental health. Addressing identified barriers and leveraging facilitators require coordination and understanding students' needs as well as preferences on dMHSs can help to design specific implementation strategies to support the implementation process. For instance, as a first step embedding bCBT

programs within the university setting could be valuable, as they are recognized as beneficial interventions for addressing anxiety and depression among students (study 3). However, even the best interventions are not effective if students are not properly informed about the available offer (study 1). Thus, for a sustainable implementation in the university setting, continued research on applicable information campaigns including the identified factors in study 1 and 3 seems crucial to increase awareness as well as improve uptake and user engagement with dMHSs (66).

Furthermore, especially the results of study 1 indicate that social media could be an effective tool to address hard-to-reach populations, such as medical and psychology students. As far as I am aware, there had not been any research on the potential impact of social media campaigns on the adoption of dMHSs among students. The findings suggest that utilizing targeted formats on popular platforms like Instagram or Spotify to disseminate information about dMHSs, addressing identified barriers and facilitators, could be a promising strategy for universities given the widespread use of social media among the student population and their preference for recommendations on dMHSs by public bodies. For instance, an Instagram post could be used to refer to a university-hosted website, containing an overview on verified and comprehensive information on various dMHSs tailored to the specific needs of students.

In line with previous research (116,118), the results of this dissertation also show that universities should try to offer dMHSs free of charge or think about alternative acceptable payment models, such as including costs for dMHSs in semester fees to increase uptake. Overall, facilitating conditions, such as financial and technical support as well as guidance from the university, will be needed to ease the dissemination of dMHSs among students.

3.3.2 Future healthcare providers' perspective

The degree to which individuals believe that organizational infrastructures are given to support the use of dMHSs was also shown to be significantly influencing acceptance specifically among future HCPs (study 1 and study 2). Overall, care systems are still being viewed as not being ready for internet-based treatments by HCPs (90). To counteract, the German Federal Ministry of Health published the Digitalization Strategy for Health and Care (German "Digital-Gesetz", DigiG) in March 2023, which was developed with varying stakeholder groups, including patients and HCPs (37). It outlines the development of digital healthcare and long-term care applications, such as dMHSs, as essential elements of digitally supported healthcare procedures.

Furthermore, there are intentions for DTx to incorporate comprehensive telemedicine treatment plans, with the active participation of healthcare professionals (37). It remains to be seen whether this strategy will pave the way for widespread dissemination of dMHSs in Germany.

To further close the large research-to-practice gap regarding digital interventions in healthcare, cost-effectiveness has been shown to be the primary reason for the successful integration of treatments into routine care (87), such as incentives from government agencies. Thus, different governmental strategies are needed to financially support dMHSs adoption. Yet, financial incentives as e.g., those of the HITECH Act in the USA (172), are perceived as lacking in European countries such as Germany (173). However, there are reimbursement schemes such as a German regulation that allows HCPs to charge a fee of about two euros for the initial prescription of DTx and about seven euros for the monitoring and evaluation of DTx that are used for the treatment of CMDs (174). It could be hypothesized that physicians and psychotherapists are either not yet aware of this regulation or perceive the renumeration as too low, which discourages them from prescribing DTx.

In general, the results of this dissertation show that future HCPs still have limited knowledge about and experiences with dMHSs. Among others, HCPs' concerns about increased workload and general effort were identified as limiting factors for the broad dissemination of digital technologies. The fear of HCPs seems to be that such digital solutions are too time-consuming and complex to integrate in daily working routines or could even potentially decrease the quality of delivered care. However, research could show that with sufficient training, technical support, and collegial support, those worries can be reduced, especially when monetary incentives are offered (125). Important facilitators that could be implemented include AFIs such as Continuing Medical Education (CME) seminars for HCPs or written guidelines and videos on official websites, e.g. hosted by professional associations or the Federal Ministry of Health. As results of study 2 showed significant acceptance differences between dMHSs (i.e., telephone, videoconference, VR, unguided and guided), consideration should be given to designing information strategies that focus on specific services, for example only on guided programs or only on DTx. Thus, stakeholders planning to design information strategies or training programs on dMHSs should focus on distinctly informing future HCPs about all kinds of dMHSs and their possible application area, including possible risks and benefits. The results of this dissertation can be used to design such AFIs.

Additionally, there seems to be one more essential factor that might help in overcoming infrastructure hurdles, which is the active involvement of HCPs in the development and implementation of dMHSs (125). This active involvement has been shown to enhance HCPs' capacity to handle applications such as dMHSs and foster independence from colleagues and support centers. Notably, the literature underscores the critical importance of user engagement and collaboration with product developers or pertinent stakeholders throughout the entire process, including design, development, deployment, and continuous utilization. This guarantees that, e.g., dMHSs, are tailored to their intended purpose, with a focus on understanding and meeting the needs and expectations of HCPs (125).

Finally, the results of study 1 and 2, including the identified person- and intervention-related barriers and facilitators, are specifically helpful for universities and education centers for HCPs to design AFIs as they give clear recommendations on how future HCPS could be reached. Even though we expected that future HCPs might have different concerns and preferences regarding dMHSs, the results of this dissertation show that perceived barriers and facilitators to the usage of dMHSs are similar to those that have already been identified in research among other target groups. However, there seems to be some interesting differences that should be considered. For instance, the importance of the scientific evidence base as well as the background of dMHSs' developers were previously not identified as that important in influencing the intention to use dMHSs, thus being specific to future HCPs. Additionally, anonymity seemed to be of higher importance than data security, while the option to get in contact with experts in case of emergency was perceived as crucial before recommending dMHSs to patients. AFIs explicitly designed to convey information on dMHSs to future HCPs should specifically focus on these factors. As a practical example, the student services center could inform medical and psychology students about dMHSs by designing an Instagram post with a short video explaining the advantages of dMHSs such as time and geographic flexibility and reducing concerns by referring to the scientific evidence base and emergency regulations of a dMHS specifically designed for exam anxiety, developed by practicing psychotherapists. Alternatively, a lecture on dMHSs could be held for all students during the freshman week or during a related course shortly before the exam periods begin.

However, although studies have shown that AFIs can increase intention to use dMHSs, effects are on average small. Thus, in order to enhance the effectiveness of interventions, two adjustments are crucial: First, future studies should be targeted more

specifically at a particular dMHS and a specific target population, potentially using the results of this dissertation for a more personalized approach with an intervention that is tailored to barriers and facilitators that are perceived by future HCPs. For instance, further research is needed to examine the optimal ways in which these interventions are able to connect medical and psychology students with dMHSs and how these interventions might enhance prevention in a manner that potentially diminishes the necessity for crisis care. Secondly, it is important to develop and evaluate AFIs using designs that have the capability to assess the incremental value of various intervention components. As it is still unknown which of the identified factors should be combined to design impactful AFIs, methods such as discrete choice experiments (DCEs) are needed. DCEs commonly use stated preference methods and provide the opportunity to investigate complex hypothetical choices of AFIs, by involving combinations of various information components (i.e., attributes), while controlling for interactions (175). For instance, participants are forced to decide between information strategy A and information strategy B, thus having to make trade-offs when engaging in a decision by choosing an information strategy on dMHSs that offers them the greatest benefit (176). Figure 2 provides an example of how such a DCE setting could look like.



Figure 3. A potential DCE-setting to design recipient-targeted AFIs

As studies have shown that there is a relationship between the perceived facilitators and barriers and the extent to which HCPs have adopted digital health (102), recipient-targeted AFIs are expected to increase dissemination across Germany significantly.

4 Conclusion

This dissertation investigated factors (i.e., barriers and facilitators) related to the acceptance of dMHSs to deduce recipient-targeted AFIs for future HCPs in their special role as both potential users and future recommenders. Additionally, it is one of the first to exploit experiences related to the use or non-use of a dMHS within a bCBT program among students. Identified facilitators and barriers across studies were summarized and structured in person-specific (i.e., facilitating conditions, effort and performance expectancy, social influence, concerns) and intervention-specific factors (i.e., features, usability and development of dMHSs), which allows for more effective public health interventions. Generally, positive attitudes towards dMHSs were reported from both users and future providers, while higher acceptance towards blended programs in comparison to other forms of dMHSs indicate that a gradual integration of technology into routine care could be very promising. In summary, the insights gathered from this dissertation can be used for the design of information strategies to reduce skepticism as there seems to be a strong need to convey knowledge on dMHSs to various target groups. Specifically, the results are helpful for universities and education centers for HCPs as they give clear recommendations on how students and future HCPs could be reached. In regards to the EPIS framework, the focus of this dissertation was on the first phase, the exploration phase. Next, the preparation phase can be used to explore the effectiveness of different recipient-targeted information strategies that address the identified factors to conclude which strategies are best suited for students as users on the one hand and future providers on the other.

5 <u>References</u>

1. World Health Organization. Mental Health Atlas 2020. 2021. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240036703

2. World Health Organization. Mental disorders: Key facts. 2022. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-disorders

3. Pearce M, Garcia L, Abbas A, Strain T, Schuch FB, Golubic R, et al. Association Between Physical Activity and Risk of Depression: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Psychiatry. 2022 Jan 1;79(6):550–9.

4. Wainberg ML, Scorza P, Shultz JM, Helpman L, Mootz JJ, Johnson KA, et al. Challenges and Opportunities in Global Mental Health: a Research-to-Practice Perspective. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2017 May;19(5):28.

5. Ferrari AJ, Santomauro DF, Mantilla Herrera AM, Shadid, H E, Erskine, F J, Charlson FJ, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of 12 mental disorders in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet Psychiatry. 2022 Jan 1;9(2):137–50.

6. Santomauro DF, Mantilla Herrera AM, Shadid J, Zheng P, Ashbaugh C, Pigott DM, et al. Global prevalence and burden of depressive and anxiety disorders in 204 countries and territories in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Lancet. 2021 Jan 1;398(10312):1700–12.

7. Fortgang RG, Nock MK. Ringing the Alarm on Suicide Prevention: A Call to Action. Psychiatry. 2021 Jan 1;84(2):192–5.

8. World Health Organization. ICD-11: International Classification of Diseases, 11th Revision.: The global standard for diagnostic health information. 2022. Available from: https://www.bfarm.de/DE/Kodiersysteme/Klassifikationen/ICD/ICD-11/_node.html

9. https://www.apa.org [Internet]. [cited 2023 Sep 11]. Depression. Available from: https://www.apa.org/topics/depression

10. Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2005 Jan 1;62(6):593–602.

11. Lopes L, Kirziner A, Sparks G, Stokes M, Brodie M, Kaiser Family Foundation. KFF/CNN Mental Health In America Survey. 2023. Available from: https://www.kff.org/other/report/kff-cnn-mental-health-in-america-survey/

12. Panchal N, Saunders H, Rudowitz R, Cox C, Kaiser Family Foundation. The Implications of COVID-19 for Mental Health and Substance Use. 2023. Available from: https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/issue-brief/the-implications-of-covid-19-for-men-tal-health-and-substance-use/

13. Li W, Zhao Z, Chen D, Peng Y, Lu Z. Prevalence and associated factors of depression and anxiety symptoms among college students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2022 Nov;63(11):1222–30.

14. Ramcke N. Die Techniker. 2023 [cited 2023 Sep 7]. Studie: Studierenden geht es schlechter als vor der Pandemie. | Die Techniker - Presse & Politik. Available from: https://www.tk.de/presse/themen/praevention/gesundheitsstudien/tk-gesundheitsreport-2023-2149876

15. Auerbach RP, Mortier P, Bruffaerts R, Alonso J, Benjet C, Cuijpers P, et al. 19.1 World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys International College Student Project (WMH-ICS): Prevalence and Distribution of Mental Disorders. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2018 Jan 1;57(10):297.

16. Lipshits-Braziler Y, Gati I, Tatar M. Strategies for Coping with Career Indecision. J Career Assess. 2017 Jan 1;25(2):183–202.

17. Mortier P, Auerbach RP, Alonso J, Axinn WG, Cuijpers P, Ebert DD, et al.

Suicidal thoughts and behaviors among college students and same-aged peers: results from the World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2018 Jan 1;53(3):279–88.

18. American Psychological Association. Worsening mental health crisis pressures psychologist workforce. 2023. Available from: https://www.apa.org/pubs/reports/practitioner/covid-19-2021

19. Xiao H, Carney DM, Youn SJ, Janis RA, Castonguay LG, Hayes JA, et al. Are we in crisis? National mental health and treatment trends in college counseling centers. Psychol Serv. 2017 Jan 1;14(4):407–15.

20. Technische Universität Berlin. Psychologische Beratung während des Studiums [Internet]. [cited 2023 Sep 7]. Available from: https://www.tu.berlin/studieren/beratung/psychologische-beratung

21. Bickham N. TimelyCare. 2022 [cited 2023 Sep 11]. The Stigma of Seeking Mental Health Care for College Students. Available from: https://timelycare.com/blog/the-stigmaof-seeking-mental-health-care-for-college-students/

22. Deutscher Bundestag Wissenschaftliche Dienste. Wartezeiten auf eine Psychotherapie - Studien und Umfragen. WD 9 - 3000 - 05922. 2022;

23. Eisenberg D, Hunt J, Speer N, Zivin K. Mental Health Service Utilization Among College Students in the United States. J Nerv Ment Dis. 2011 May;199(5):301–8.

24. Mowbray CT, Megivern D, Mandiberg JM, Strauss S, Stein CH, Collins K, et al. Campus mental health services: Recommendations for change. Am J Orthopsychiatry. 2006 Apr;76(2):226–37.

25. Sontag-Padilla L, Dunbar MS, Ye F, Kase C, Fein R, Abelson S, et al. Strengthening College Students' Mental Health Knowledge, Awareness, and Helping Behaviors: The Impact of Active Minds, a Peer Mental Health Organization. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2018 Jul;57(7):500–7.

26. Hadler NL, Bu P, Winkler A, Alexander AW. College Student Perspectives of Telemental Health: a Review of the Recent Literature. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2021 Feb;23(2):6.

27. Rotenstein LS, Ramos MA, Torre M, Segal JB, Peluso MJ, Guille C, et al. Prevalence of Depression, Depressive Symptoms, and Suicidal Ideation Among Medical Students: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. JAMA. 2016 Jan 1;316(21):2214–36.

28. Fletcher I, Castle M, Scarpa A, Myers O, Lawrence E. An exploration of medical student attitudes towards disclosure of mental illness. Med Educ Online. 2020 Jan 1;25(1):1727713.

29. Ferrari M, Allan S, Arnold C, Eleftheriadis D, Alvarez-Jimenez M, Gumley A, et al. Digital Interventions for Psychological Well-being in University Students: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res. 2022 Sep 28;24(9):e39686.

30. Schwenk TL, Davis L, Wimsatt LA. Depression, stigma, and suicidal ideation in medical students. JAMA. 2010 Jan 1;304(11):1181–90.

31. Europäische Kommission. eHealth Action Plan 2012-2020. 2012 [cited 2023 Sep 28]. Available from: https://health.ec.europa.eu/publications/ehealth-action-plan-2012-2020_de

32. Dockweiler C, Razum O. Digitalisierte Gesundheit: neue Herausforderungen für Public Health. Gesundheitswesen. 2015 Dec 22;78(01):5–7.

33. Eysenbach G. What is e-health? J Med Internet Res. 2001 Jun 18;3(2):e20.

34. Kacher C, Wiest A, Schumacher N. E-Health: Chancen und Risiken für Ärzte, Patienten und Kostenträger. Zeitschrift für Allgemeinmedizin. 2000;(76):607–12.

35. Haleem A, Javaid M, Singh RP, Suman R. Telemedicine for healthcare: Capabilities, features, barriers, and applications. Sens Int. 2021;2:100117.

36. Butcher CJ, Hussain W. Digital healthcare: the future. Future Healthc J. 2022 Jul;9(2):113–7.

37. German Federal Ministry of Health. GEMEINSAM DIGITAL:

Digitalisierungsstrategie für das Gesundheitswesen und die Pflege [Internet]. 1. Auflage. 2023. Available from: https://www.bundesgesundheitsministerium.de/fileadmin/Dateien/3_Downloads/D/Digitalisierungsstrategie/BMG Broschuere Digitalisierungsstrategie bf.pdf

38. German Federal Ministry of Health. Digitalisierung im Gesundheitswesen [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Sep 13]. Available from: https://www.bundesgesundheitsministerium.de/themen/digitalisierung/digitalisierung-im-gesundheitswesen.html

39. Baumann LA, Baker J, Elshaug AG. The impact of electronic health record systems on clinical documentation times: A systematic review. Health Policy. 2018 Aug;122(8):827–36.

40. Pohlmann S, Kunz A, Ose D, Winkler EC, Brandner A, Poss-Doering R, et al. Digitalizing Health Services by Implementing a Personal Electronic Health Record in Germany: Qualitative Analysis of Fundamental Prerequisites From the Perspective of Selected Experts. J Med Internet Res. 2020 Jan 29;22(1):e15102.

41. Thranberend T, Haas P. Spotlight Healthcare - Electronic health records. BertelsmannStiftung; 2017 [cited 2023 Sep 18]. Report No.: 5. Available from: https://www.bertelsmann-stiftung.de/fileadmin/files/BSt/Publikationen/GrauePublikationen/VV_Spot-Ges_eEPA_EN_final.pdf

42. Krankenhauszukunftsgesetz (KHZG) [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2023 Oct 2]. Available from: https://www.bundesgesundheitsministerium.de/krankenhauszukunftsgesetz

43. German Federal Institute for Drugs and Medical Devices. DiGA - Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen: Rechtliche Grundlagen: Digitale-Versorgung-Gesetz (DVG) und Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen-Verordnung (DiGAV) [Internet]. 2023. Available from: https://www.bfarm.de/DE/Medizinprodukte/Aufgaben/DiGA-und-DiPA/DiGA/_node.html

44. Riper H, Andersson G, Christensen H, Cuijpers P, Lange A, Eysenbach G. Theme issue on e-mental health: a growing field in internet research. J Med Internet Res. 2010 Jan 1;12(5):74.

45. Smuck M, Odonkor CA, Wilt JK, Schmidt N, Swiernik MA. The emerging clinical role of wearables: factors for successful implementation in healthcare. Npj Digit Med. 2021 Mar 10;4(1):45.

46. Kang HS, Exworthy M. Wearing the Future-Wearables to Empower Users to Take Greater Responsibility for Their Health and Care: Scoping Review. JMIR MHealth UHealth. 2022 Jul 13;10(7):e35684.

47. Ahmed A, Aziz S, Alzubaidi M, Schneider J, Irshaidat S, Abu Serhan H, et al. Wearable devices for anxiety & depression: A scoping review. Comput Methods Programs Biomed Update. 2023;3:100095.

48. Shih YH, Wang JY, Chou PH, Lin KH. The effects of treatment via telemedicine interventions for patients with depression on depressive symptoms and quality of life: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Med. 2023 Dec 31;55(1):1092–101.

49. Rohrbach PJ, Dingemans AE, Evers C, Van Furth EF, Spinhoven P, Aardoom JJ, et al. Cost-effectiveness of Internet Interventions Compared With Treatment as Usual for People With Mental Disorders: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. J Med Internet Res. 2023 Jan 5;25:e38204.

50. Weisel KK, Zarski AC, Berger T, Krieger T, Schaub MP, Moser CT, et al. Efficacy and cost-effectiveness of guided and unguided internet- and mobile-based indicated transdiagnostic prevention of depression and anxiety (ICare Prevent): A three-armed randomized controlled trial in four European countries. Internet Interv. 2019 Apr;16:52–64.

51. Klein JP, Knaevelsrud C, Bohus M, Ebert DD, Gerlinger G, Günther K, et al. Internetbasierte Selbstmanagementinterventionen : Qualitätskriterien für ihren Einsatz in Prävention und Behandlung psychischer Störungen. Nervenarzt. 2018 Jan 1;89(11):1277–86.

52. Krämer R, Köhne-Volland L, Schumacher A, Köhler S. Efficacy of a Web-Based Intervention for Depressive Disorders: Three-Arm Randomized Controlled Trial Comparing Guided and Unguided Self-Help With Waitlist Control. JMIR Form Res. 2022 Apr 4;6(4):e34330.

53. Coghlan S, Leins K, Sheldrick S, Cheong M, Gooding P, D'Alfonso S. To chat or bot to chat: Ethical issues with using chatbots in mental health. Digit Health. 2023 Jan;9:20552076231183542.

54. Dowling M, Rickwood D. Online Counseling and Therapy for Mental Health Problems: A Systematic Review of Individual Synchronous Interventions Using Chat. J Technol Hum Serv. 2013 Jan;31(1):1–21.

55. Bielinski LL, Trimpop L, Berger T. Die Mischung macht's eben? Blended-Psychotherapie als Ansatz der Digitalisierung in der Psychotherapie. Psychotherapeut. 2021 Sep;66(5):447–54.

56. Zhou X, Edirippulige S, Bai X, Bambling M. Are online mental health interventions for youth effective? A systematic review. J Telemed Telecare. 2021 Dec;27(10):638–66.

57. Atik E, Stricker J, Schückes M, Pittig A. Efficacy of a Brief Blended Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Program for the Treatment of Depression and Anxiety in University Students: Uncontrolled Intervention Study. JMIR Ment Health. 2023 Aug 25;10:e44742.

58. Donnelly MR, Reinberg R, Ito KL, Saldana D, Neureither M, Schmiesing A, et al. Virtual Reality for the Treatment of Anxiety Disorders: A Scoping Review. Am J Occup Ther. 2021 Nov 1;75(6):7506205040.

59. Freeman D, Reeve S, Robinson A, Ehlers A, Clark D, Spanlang B, et al. Virtual reality in the assessment, understanding, and treatment of mental health disorders. Psychol Med. 2017 Jan 1;47(14):2393–400.

60. Torous J, Bucci S, Bell IH, Kessing LV, Faurholt-Jepsen M, Whelan P, et al. The growing field of digital psychiatry: current evidence and the future of apps, social media, chatbots, and virtual reality. World Psychiatry Off J World Psychiatr Assoc WPA. 2021 Jan 1;20(3):318–35.

61. Lattie EG, Stiles-Shields C, Graham AK. An overview of and recommendations for more accessible digital mental health services. Nat Rev Psychol. 2022 Jan 26;1(2):87–100.

62. Andersson G, Carlbring P, Holmström A, Sparthan E, Furmark T, Nilsson-Ihrfelt E, et al. Internet-based self-help with therapist feedback and in vivo group exposure for social phobia: a randomized controlled trial. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2006 Jan 1;74(4):677–86.

63. Harrer M, Adam SH, Baumeister H, Cuijpers P, Karyotaki E, Auerbach RP, et al. Internet interventions for mental health in university students: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res. 2019 Jan 1;28(2):1759.

64. Harith S, Backhaus I, Mohbin N, Ngo HT, Khoo S. Effectiveness of digital mental health interventions for university students: an umbrella review. PeerJ. 2022 Jan 1;10:13111.

65. Ebert DD, Baumeister H, editors. Digitale Gesundheitsinterventionen: Anwendungen in Therapie und Prävention [Internet]. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2023 [cited 2024 Mar 30]. Available from: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-662-65816-1

66. Lattie EG, Adkins EC, Winquist N, Stiles-Shields C, Wafford QE, Graham AK. Digital Mental Health Interventions for Depression, Anxiety, and Enhancement of Psychological Well-Being Among College Students: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res. 2019 Jan 1;21(7):12869.

67. GKV-Spitzenverband. Bericht des GKV-Spitzenverband. GKV-Spitzenverband; 2023. Available from: https://www.gkv-spitzenverband.de/media/dokumente/kranken-versicherung_1/telematik/digitales/2023_DiGA_Bericht_GKV-Spitzenverband.pdf

68. Bertelsmann Stiftung. Länderberichte - Stand der Digital-Health-Entwicklung in 17 untersuchten Ländern. [cited 2023 Sep 13]. Available from: https://www.bertelsmannstiftung.de/de/unsere-projekte/der-digitale-patient/projektthemen/smarthealthsystems/standder-digital-health-entwicklung

69. Grobe TG, Weller L, Braun A, Szecsenyi J. Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen - DiGA. Berlin: Barmer Institut für Gesundheitssystemforschung; 2024. 236 p. (Barmer Arztreport).

70. Padmanabhan P, Redlich M, Richter L, Silberzahn T. E-Health Monitor 2023/24. Deutschlands Weg in die digitale Gesundheitsversorgung - Status quo und Perspektive [Internet]. MWV Medizinisch Wissenschaftliche Verlagsgesellschaft 2024; [cited 2024 Mar 29]. Available from: https://www.mckinsey.com/de/~/media/mckinsey/locations/europe%20and%20middle%20east/deutschland/news/presse/2024/2024-01-24%20e-health%20moniter%202023 24/a health monitor 2023 24 abaek ndf ndf

health%20monitor%202023-24/e_health_monitor_2023_24_ebook-pdf.pdf

71. Bretz J. DiGa-Spotlight - October 2023. Flying Health. 2023 [cited 2024 Mar 29]. Available from: https://www.flyinghealth.com/diga-spotlight-oktober-2023/

72. Deutsches Ärzteblatt. 2023. Mangelndes Wissen über Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen behindert Verordnungen. Available from: https://www.aerzteblatt.de/nachrichten/146443/Mangelndes-Wissen-ueber-Digitale-Gesundheitsanwendungen-behindert-Verordnungen

73. Statista. [cited 2024 Mar 29]. Themenseite: Krankenversicherung. Available from: https://de.statista.com/themen/649/krankenversicherung/

74. Ross J, Stevenson F, Lau R, Murray E. Factors that influence the implementation of e-health: a systematic review of systematic reviews (an update). Implement Sci. 2016 Dec;11(1):146.

75. AlQudah AA, Al-Emran M, Shaalan K. Technology Acceptance in Healthcare: A Systematic Review. Appl Sci. 2021 Nov 9;11(22):10537.

76. Cranen K, Drossaert CHC, Brinkman ES, Braakman-Jansen ALM, IJzerman MJ, Vollenbroek-Hutten MMR. An exploration of chronic pain patients' perceptions of home telerehabilitation services: Patients' perceptions of home telerehabilitation. Health Expect. 2012 Dec;15(4):339–50.

77. Venkatesh, Morris, Davis. User Acceptance of Information Technology: Toward a Unified View. MIS Q. 2003 Jan 1;27(3):425.

78. Markus Blut, Alain Yee Loong Chong, Zayyad Tsiga, Viswanath Venkatesh. Meta-Analysis of The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT): Challenging Its Validity and Charting A Research Agenda In The Red Ocean. J Assoc Inf Syst. 2021 Jan 1;1–128.

79. Ammenwerth E. Technology Acceptance Models in Health Informatics: TAM and UTAUT. Stud Health Technol Inform. 2019 Jan 1;263:64–71.

80. Philippi P, Baumeister H, Apolinário-Hagen J, Ebert DD, Hennemann S, Kott L, et al. Acceptance towards digital health interventions - Model validation and further development of the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology. Internet Interv. 2021 Jan 1;26:100459.

81. Schröder J, Berger T, Meyer B, Lutz W, Hautzinger M, Späth C, et al. Attitudes Towards Internet Interventions Among Psychotherapists and Individuals with Mild to Moderate Depression Symptoms. Cogn Ther Res. 2017 Jan 1;41(5):745–56.

82. Wu D, Lowry PB, Zhang D, Tao Y. Patient Trust in Physicians Matters—Understanding the Role of a Mobile Patient Education System and Patient-Physician Communication in Improving Patient Adherence Behavior: Field Study. J Med Internet Res. 2022 Dec 20;24(12):e42941.

83. Leigh S, Ashall-Payne L. The role of health-care providers in mHealth adoption. Lancet Digit Health. 2019 Jan 1;1(2):58–9.

84. Rouidi M, Elouadi A, Hamdoune A. Acceptance and use of telemedicine technology by health professionals: Development of a conceptual model. Digit Health. 2022 Jan;8:205520762210816.

85. Ebert DD, Berking M, Cuijpers P, Lehr D, Pörtner M, Baumeister H. Increasing the acceptance of internet-based mental health interventions in primary care patients with depressive symptoms. A randomized controlled trial. J Affect Disord. 2015 Jan 1;176:9–17.

86. Mayer G, Gronewold N, Alvarez S, Bruns B, Hilbel T, Schultz JH. Acceptance

and Expectations of Medical Experts, Students, and Patients Toward Electronic Mental Health Apps: Cross-Sectional Quantitative and Qualitative Survey Study. JMIR Ment Health. 2019 Jan 1;6(11):14018.

87. Topooco N, Riper H, Araya R, Berking M, Brunn M, Chevreul K, et al. Attitudes towards digital treatment for depression: A European stakeholder survey. Internet Interv. 2017 Jan 1;8:1–9.

88. Radić M, Donner I, Waack M, Brinkmann C, Stein L, Radić D, et al. Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen: Die Akzeptanz steigern [Internet]. 118th ed. 2021. Available from: https://www.aerzteblatt.de/archiv/217790/Digitale-Gesundheitsanwendungen-Die-Akzeptanz-steigern

89. Stiftung Gesundheit. Im Fokus: Einsatz von Digitalen Gesundheitsanwendungen. Stiftung Gesundheit. 2024 [cited 2024 Mar 5]. Available from: https://www.stiftung-gesundheit.de/studien/im-fokus/

90. Gerlinger G, Mangiapane N, Sander J. Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen (DiGA) in der ärztlichen und psychotherapeutischen Versorgung. Chancen und Herausforderungen aus Sicht der Leistungserbringer. Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz. 2021 Jan 1;64(10):1213–9.

91. Dockweiler C, Kupitz A, Palmdorf S, Hornberg C. Onlinetherapie bei depressiven Störungen: Eine Akzeptanzanalyse aus der Perspektive der Behandelnden. Nervenarzt. 2020 Jan 1;91(3):243–51.

92. De Witte NAJ, Carlbring P, Etzelmueller A, Nordgreen T, Karekla M, Haddouk L, et al. Online consultations in mental healthcare during the COVID-19 outbreak: An international survey study on professionals' motivations and perceived barriers. Internet Interv. 2021 Jan 1;25:100405.

93. Wangler J, Jansky M. Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen (DiGA) in der Primärversorgung – Erfahrungen und Beobachtungen von Hausärzt*innen hinsichtlich der Anwendung von DiGA. Prävent Gesundheitsförderung. 2023 Nov;18(4):483–91.

94. Dahlhausen F, Zinner M, Bieske L, Ehlers JP, Boehme P, Fehring L. Physicians' Attitudes Toward Prescribable mHealth Apps and Implications for Adoption in Germany: Mixed Methods Study. JMIR MHealth UHealth. 2021 Jan 1;9(11):33012.

95. Brouwer W, Oenema A, Crutzen R, De Nooijer J, De Vries NK, Brug J. What makes people decide to visit and use an internet-delivered behavior-change intervention? A qualitative study among adults. Health Educ. 2009 Oct 16;109(6):460–73.

96. Ebert DD, Franke M, Kählke F, Küchler AM, Bruffaerts R, Mortier P, et al. Increasing intentions to use mental health services among university students. Results of a pilot randomized controlled trial within the World Health Organization's World Mental Health International College Student Initiative. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res. 2019 Jan 1;28(2):1754.

97. Baumeister H, Terhorst Y, Grässle C, Freudenstein M, Nübling R, Ebert DD. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on psychotherapists' acceptance of blended therapy. PloS One. 2020 Jan 1;15(8):0236995.

98. Donovan CL, Poole C, Boyes N, Redgate J, March S. Australian mental health worker attitudes towards cCBT: What is the role of knowledge? Are there differences? Can we change them? Internet Interv. 2015 Jan 1;2(4):372–81.

99. Baumeister H, Nowoczin L, Lin J, Seifferth H, Seufert J, Laubner K, et al. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on diabetes patients' acceptance of Internet-based interventions for depression: a randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2014 Jan 1;105(1):30–9.

100. Hein HJ, Glombiewski JA, Rief W, Riecke J. Effects of a video intervention on physicians' acceptance of pain apps: a randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open. 2022 Jan 1;12(4):060020.

101. Lin J, Faust B, Ebert DD, Krämer L, Baumeister H. A Web-Based Acceptance-Facilitating Intervention for Identifying Patients' Acceptance, Uptake, and Adherence of Internet- and Mobile-Based Pain Interventions: Randomized Controlled Trial. J Med Internet Res. 2018 Jan 1;20(8):244.

102. Feijt MA, Kort YA, Bongers IM, IJsselsteijn WA. Perceived Drivers and Barriers to the Adoption of eMental Health by Psychologists: The Construction of the Levels of Adoption of eMental Health Model. J Med Internet Res. 2018 Jan 1;20(4):153.

103. Hennemann S, Beutel ME, Zwerenz R. Ready for eHealth? Health Professionals' Acceptance and Adoption of eHealth Interventions in Inpatient Routine Care. J Health Commun. 2017 Jan 1;22(3):274–84.

104. Meng J, Hussain SA, Mohr DC, Czerwinski M, Zhang M. Exploring User Needs for a Mobile Behavioral-Sensing Technology for Depression Management: Qualitative Study. J Med Internet Res. 2018 Jul 17;20(7):e10139.

105. Paula W, Breguez GS, Machado EL, Meireles AL. Prevalence of anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation symptoms among university students: a systematic review. Braz J Health Rev. 2020 Jan 1;3(4):8739–56.

106. Wende D. "Was kostet eine Krankheit?" Eine einfache Frage, die nur kompliziert beantwortet werden kann. DE: BARMER; 2022 [cited 2024 Apr 2]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.30433/GWA2022-114

107. Ebert DD, Cuijpers P, Muñoz RF, Baumeister H. Prevention of Mental Health Disorders Using Internet- and Mobile-Based Interventions: A Narrative Review and Recommendations for Future Research. Front Psychiatry. 2017 Jan 1;8:116.

108. Stiftung Gesundheit. Studie: Akzeptanz für Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen (DiGA) steigt – gleichzeitig bleiben Vorbehalte beim Datenschutz. Stiftung Gesundheit. 2022 [cited 2024 Apr 3]. Available from: https://www.stiftung-gesundheit.de/aerzte-im-zukunfts-markt-gesundheit-2022/

109. Lau T. Deutsches Ärzteblatt. 2023 [cited 2024 Apr 3]. Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen: Zu wenig Vertrauen in die Apps. Available from: https://www.aerzteblatt.de/archiv/234860/Digitale-Gesundheitsanwendungen-Zu-wenig-Vertrauen-in-die-Apps

110. Dohrmann M, Elbel GK, Teuber I, Langenberg T, Grabe M, Wallersheim A. Ein Jahr DiGA - Chancen für gesetzliche Krankenkassen. 2021. Available from: https://www2.deloitte.com/de/de/pages/life-sciences-and-healthcare/articles/digitale-gesund-heitsanwendungen-diga-studie.html

111. Samerski S, Müller H. Digitale Gesundheitskompetenz in Deutschland - gefordert, aber nicht gefördert? Ergebnisse der empirischen Studie TK-DiSK. Z Für Evidenz Fortbild Qual Im Gesundheitswesen. 2019 Aug;144–145:42–51.

112. Meskendahl D, Bachmann T. Marktentwicklung digitaler Gesundheitsanwendungen (DiGA-Report) [Internet]. Spitzenverband Digitale Gesundheitsversorgung; 2023. Available from: https://digitalversorgt.de/?lang=en

113. Moshe I, Terhorst Y, Philippi P, Domhardt M, Cuijpers P, Cristea I, et al. Digital interventions for the treatment of depression: a meta-analytic review. Psychol Bull [Internet]. 2021b; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000334

114. Schuster R, Pokorny R, Berger T, Topooco N, Laireiter AR. The Advantages and Disadvantages of Online and Blended Therapy: Survey Study Amongst Licensed Psychotherapists in Austria. J Med Internet Res. 2018 Jan 1;20(12):11007.

115. Borghouts J, Eikey E, Mark G, De Leon C, Schueller SM, Schneider M, et al. Barriers to and Facilitators of User Engagement With Digital Mental Health Interventions: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res. 2021 Mar 24;23(3):e24387.

116. Dederichs M, Weber J, Pischke CR, Angerer P, Apolinário-Hagen J. Exploring medical students' views on digital mental health interventions: A qualitative study. Internet Interv. 2021 Jan 1;25:100398.

117. Malloy JA, Partridge SR, Kemper JA, Braakhuis A, Roy R. Co-design of Digital Health Interventions for Young Adults: Protocol for a Scoping Review. JMIR Res Protoc. 2022 Oct 24;11(10):e38635.

118. Ryan G, Marley I, Still M, Lyons Z, Hood S. Use of mental-health services by Australian medical students: a cross-sectional survey. Australas Psychiatry Bull R Aust N Z Coll Psychiatr. 2017 Jan 1;25(4):407–10.

119. Mendes-Santos C, Nunes F, Weiderpass E, Santana R, Andersson G. Understanding Mental Health Professionals' Perspectives and Practices Regarding the Implementation of Digital Mental Health: Qualitative Study. JMIR Form Res. 2022 Jan 1;6(4):32558.

120. van Daele T, Karekla M, Kassianos AP, Compare A, Haddouk L, Salgado J, et al. Recommendations for policy and practice of telepsychotherapy and e-mental health in Europe and beyond. J Psychother Integr. 2020 Jan 1;30(2):160–73.

121. Geukes C, Stark AL, Dockweiler C. eHealth Literacy als Grundlage zur Entwicklung digitaler Technologien in der Gesundheitsförderung und Prävention? Eine systematische Übersicht der Literatur. Prävent Gesundheitsförderung. 2022 May;17(2):163–9.

122. Venkatesh, Thong, Xu. Consumer Acceptance and Use of Information Technology: Extending the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology. MIS Q. 2012;36(1):157.

123. Cao J, Kurata K, Lim Y, Sengoku S, Kodama K. Social Acceptance of Mobile Health among Young Adults in Japan: An Extension of the UTAUT Model. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022 Nov 17;19(22):15156.

124. Sander J, Bolinski F, Diekmann S, Gaebel W, Günther K, Hauth I, et al. Online therapy: an added value for inpatient routine care? Perspectives from mental health care professionals. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2021 Jan 1;

125. Borges Do Nascimento IJ, Abdulazeem H, Vasanthan LT, Martinez EZ, Zucoloto ML, Østengaard L, et al. Barriers and facilitators to utilizing digital health technologies by healthcare professionals. Npj Digit Med. 2023 Sep 18;6(1):161.

126. The Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. A Shared Nationwide Interoperability Roadmap. 2023 [cited 2023 Dec 13]. Available from: https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/hie-interoperability/nationwide-interoperability-roadmap-final-version-1.0.pdf

127. Dittrich F, Albrecht UV, Von Jan U, Malinka C, Ansorg J, Jung J, et al. The Digital Healthcare Act – a Turning Point in the German Digitisation Strategy?: Results of a Survey in Orthopaedics and Trauma Surgery. Z Für Orthop Unfallchirurgie. 2021 Jun;159(03):259–65.

128. German Federal Ministry of Health. Digital-Gesetz (DigiG). 2023 [cited 2023 Sep 18]. Available from: https://www.bundesgesundheitsministerium.de/ministerium/gesetzeund-verordnungen/guv-20-lp/digig.html

129. Ho TQA, Le LKD, Engel L, Le N, Melvin G, Le HND, et al. Barriers to and facilitators of user engagement with web-based mental health interventions in young people: a systematic review. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry [Internet]. 2024 Feb 14 [cited 2024 Apr 3]; Available from: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00787-024-02386-x

130. Zhou LL, Owusu-Marfo J, Asante Antwi H, Antwi MO, Kachie ADT, Ampon-Wireko S. "Assessment of the social influence and facilitating conditions that support nurses' adoption of hospital electronic information management systems (HEIMS) in Ghana using the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) model. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2019 Dec;19(1):230.

131. Morgan TJH, Laland KN. The Biological Bases of Conformity. Front Neurosci. 2012 [cited 2023 Dec 13];6. Available from: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fnins.2012.00087/abstract

132. Zakerabasali S, Ayyoubzadeh SM, Baniasadi T, Yazdani A, Abhari S. Mobile Health Technology and Healthcare Providers: Systemic Barriers to Adoption. Healthc Inform Res. 2021 Oct 31;27(4):267–78.

133. Tabaeeian RA, Hajrahimi B, Khoshfetrat A. A systematic review of telemedicine systems use barriers: primary health care providers' perspective. J Sci Technol Policy Manag. 2022 Dec 22 [cited 2023 Dec 14]; Available from: https://www.emerald.com/in-sight/content/doi/10.1108/JSTPM-07-2021-0106/full/html

134. Lal S, Nguyen V, Theriault J. Seeking mental health information and support online: experiences and perspectives of young people receiving treatment for first-episode psychosis. Early Interv Psychiatry. 2018 Jun;12(3):324–30.

135. Crisp DA, Griffiths KM. Participating in Online Mental Health Interventions: Who Is Most Likely to Sign Up and Why? Depress Res Treat. 2014;2014:1–11.

136. Smail-Crevier R, Powers G, Noel C, Wang J. Health-Related Internet Usage and Design Feature Preference for E-Mental Health Programs Among Men and Women. J Med Internet Res. 2019 Mar 18;21(3):e11224.

137. Huberty J, Vranceanu AM, Carney C, Breus M, Gordon M, Puzia ME. Characteristics and Usage Patterns Among 12,151 Paid Subscribers of the Calm Meditation App: Cross-Sectional Survey. JMIR MHealth UHealth. 2019 Nov 3;7(11):e15648.

138. Sayal K, Roe J, Ball H, Atha C, Kaylor-Hughes C, Guo B, et al. Feasibility of a randomised controlled trial of remotely delivered problem-solving cognitive behaviour therapy versus usual care for young people with depression and repeat self-harm: lessons learnt (e-DASH). BMC Psychiatry. 2019 Dec;19(1):42.

139. James SL, Abate D, Abate KH, Abay SM, Abbafati C, Abbasi N, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet. 2018 Nov;392(10159):1789–858.

140. Lambert MJ, Barley DE. Research summary on the therapeutic relationship and psychotherapy outcome. Psychother Theory Res Pract Train. 2001;38(4):357–61.

141. Bordin ES. The generalizability of the psychoanalytic concept of the working alliance. Psychother Theory Res Pract. 1979;16(3):252–60.

142. Norwood C, Moghaddam NG, Malins S, Sabin-Farrell R. Working alliance and outcome effectiveness in videoconferencing psychotherapy: A systematic review and noninferiority meta-analysis. Clin Psychol Psychother. 2018 Nov;25(6):797–808.

143. Tong F, Lederman R, D'Alfonso S, Berry K, Bucci S. Digital Therapeutic Alliance With Fully Automated Mental Health Smartphone Apps: A Narrative Review. Front Psychiatry. 2022 Jun 22;13:819623.

144. Tremain H, McEnery C, Fletcher K, Murray G. The Therapeutic Alliance in Digital Mental Health Interventions for Serious Mental Illnesses: Narrative Review. JMIR Ment Health. 2020 Aug 7;7(8):e17204.

145. Kilburg A, Masanneck L, Knitza J, Leber A, Ziemssen T, Betz K, et al. Impulspapier: Evidenz in der Digitalen Medizin. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Digitale Medizin; 2023 [cited 2023 Dec 19] p. 1–5. Available from: https://digitale-medizin.org/fileadmin/user_upload/PDF/DGDM_Impulspapier_AG_Evidenz_Ansicht.pdf

146. Jakob R, Harperink S, Rudolf AM, Fleisch E, Haug S, Mair JL, et al. Factors Influencing Adherence to mHealth Apps for Prevention or Management of Noncommunicable Diseases: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res. 2022 Jan 1;24(5):35371.

147. Garrido S, Millington C, Cheers D, Boydell K, Schubert E, Meade T, et al. What Works and What Doesn't Work? A Systematic Review of Digital Mental Health Interventions for Depression and Anxiety in Young People. Front Psychiatry. 2019 Nov 13;10:759.

148. Atik E, Schückes M, Apolinário-Hagen J. Patient and Therapist Expectations for a Blended Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Program for Depression: Qualitative Exploratory Study. JMIR Ment Health. 2022 Dec 30;9(12):e36806.

149. Bevan N, Carter J, Earthy J, Geis T, Harker S. New ISO Standards for Usability, Usability Reports and Usability Measures. In: Kurosu M, editor. Human-Computer Interaction Theory, Design, Development and Practice. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2016 [cited 2024 Apr 4]. p. 268–78. (Lecture Notes in Computer Science; vol. 9731). Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-39510-4_25

150. Lord S, Moore SK, Ramsey A, Dinauer S, Johnson K. Implementation of a Substance Use Recovery Support Mobile Phone App in Community Settings: Qualitative Study of Clinician and Staff Perspectives of Facilitators and Barriers. JMIR Ment Health. 2016 Jun 28;3(2):e24.

151. Townsend L, Zippay A, Caler K, Forenza B. Technology and Opportunity: People with Serious Mental Illness and Social Connection. J Soc Soc Work Res. 2016 Jun 1;7(2):371–93.

152. Muuraiskangas S, Mattila E, Kyttälä P, Koreasalo M, Lappalainen R. User Experiences of a Mobile Mental Well-Being Intervention Among Pregnant Women. In: Serino S, Matic A, Giakoumis D, Lopez G, Cipresso P, editors. Pervasive Computing Paradigms for Mental Health [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2016 [cited 2023 Dec 19]. p. 140–9. (Communications in Computer and Information Science; vol. 604). Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-32270-4_14

153. Crooks RE, Bell M, Patten SB, Wiebe S, Holroyd-Leduc J, Bulloch AG, et al. Mind the gap: Exploring information gaps for the development of an online resource hub for epilepsy and depression. Epilepsy Behav. 2017 May;70:18–23.

154. Wallin E, Norlund F, Olsson EMG, Burell G, Held C, Carlsson T. Treatment Activity, User Satisfaction, and Experienced Usability of Internet-Based Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Adults With Depression and Anxiety After a Myocardial Infarction: Mixed-Methods Study. J Med Internet Res. 2018 Mar 16;20(3):e87.

155. Urech A, Krieger T, Möseneder L, Biaggi A, Vincent A, Poppe C, et al. A patient *post hoc* perspective on advantages and disadvantages of blended cognitive behaviour therapy for depression: A qualitative content analysis. Psychother Res. 2019 Nov 8;29(8):986–98.

156. Baumeister H, Grässle C, Ebert DD, Krämer LV. Blended Psychotherapy – verzahnte Psychotherapie: Das Beste aus zwei Welten? PiD - Psychother Im Dialog. 2018 Dec;19(04):33–8.

157. Cerga-Pashoja A, Doukani A, Gega L, Walke J, Araya R. Added value or added burden? A qualitative investigation of blending internet self-help with face-to-face cognitive behaviour therapy for depression. Psychother Res. 2020 Nov 16;30(8):998–1010.

158. Torous J, Nicholas J, Larsen ME, Firth J, Christensen H. Clinical review of user engagement with mental health smartphone apps: evidence, theory and improvements. Evid Based Ment Health. 2018 Jan 1;21(3):116–9.

159. Larsen ME, Huckvale K, Nicholas J, Torous J, Birrell L, Li E, et al. Using science to sell apps: Evaluation of mental health app store quality claims. NPJ Digit Med. 2019 Jan 1;2:18.

160. Getachew E, Adebeta T, Muzazu SGY, Charlie L, Said B, Tesfahunei HA, et al. Digital health in the era of COVID-19: Reshaping the next generation of healthcare. Front Public Health. 2023 Feb 15;11:942703.

161. Perski O, Short CE. Acceptability of digital health interventions: embracing the complexity. Transl Behav Med. 2021 Jul 29;11(7):1473–80.

162. Dwivedi YK, Rana NP, Jeyaraj A, Clement M, Williams MD. Re-examining the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT): Towards a Revised Theoretical Model. Inf Syst Front. 2019 Jun;21(3):719–34.

163. Lincke L, Ulbrich L, Reis O, Wandinger E, Brähler E, Dück A, et al. Attitudes toward innovative mental health treatment approaches in Germany: E-mental health and home treatment. Front Psychiatry. 2022 Jan 1;13:889555.

164. Statista. Statista. 2023 [cited 2023 Dec 19]. Studierende der Medizin nach Geschlecht bis 2022/2023. Available from: https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/200758/umfrage/entwicklung-der-anzahl-der-medizinstudenten/

165. Ärzteblatt DÄG Redaktion Deutsches. Deutsches Ärzteblatt. 2022 [cited 2023 Dec 19]. Psychologiestudium: Frauenanteil bei mehr als 75 Prozent. Available from: https://www.aerzteblatt.de/nachrichten/137761/Psychologiestudium-Frauenanteil-bei-mehr-

als-75-Prozent

166. Guest G, Bunce A, Johnson L. How Many Interviews Are Enough? An Experiment with Data Saturation and Variability. Field Methods. 2006 Feb;18(1):59–82.

167. mHealthBelgium. Belgian platform for medical mobile applications [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2023 Nov 28]. Available from: https://mhealthbelgium.be/

168. Parlament Österreich. Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Nov 28]. Available from: https://www.parlament.gv.at/fachinfos/rlw/Digitale-Gesundheitsanwendungen

169. Folker AP, Mathiasen K, Lauridsen SM, Stenderup E, Dozeman E, Folker MP. Implementing internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy for common mental health disorders: A comparative case study of implementation challenges perceived by therapists and managers in five European internet services. Internet Interv. 2018 Mar;11:60–70.

170. Moullin JC, Dickson KS, Stadnick NA, Rabin B, Aarons GA. Systematic review of the Exploration, Preparation, Implementation, Sustainment (EPIS) framework. Implement Sci. 2019 Dec;14(1):1.

171. Polanczyk GV, Salum GA, Sugaya LS, Caye A, Rohde LA. Annual Research Review: A meta-analysis of the worldwide prevalence of mental disorders in children and adolescents. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2015 Mar;56(3):345–65.

172. Esdar M, Hüsers J, Weiß JP, Rauch J, Hübner U. Diffusion dynamics of electronic health records: A longitudinal observational study comparing data from hospitals in Germany and the United States. Int J Med Inf. 2019 Nov;131:103952.

173. Gaebel W, Lukies R, Kerst A, Stricker J, Zielasek J, Diekmann S, et al. Upscaling e-mental health in Europe: a six-country qualitative analysis and policy recommendations from the eMEN project. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2021 Sep;271(6):1005–16.

174. National Association of Statutory Health Insurance Physicians. Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen (DIGA). 2024 [cited 2023 Dec 20]. Available from: https://www.kbv.de/html/diga.php

175. Reed Johnson F, Lancsar E, Marshall D, Kilambi V, Mühlbacher A, Regier DA, et al. Constructing experimental designs for discrete-choice experiments: report of the ISPOR Conjoint Analysis Experimental Design Good Research Practices Task Force. Value Health J Int Soc Pharmacoeconomics Outcomes Res. 2013 Jan 1;16(1):3–13.

176. Szinay D, Cameron R, Naughton F, Whitty JA, Brown J, Jones A. Understanding Uptake of Digital Health Products: Methodology Tutorial for a Discrete Choice Experiment Using the Bayesian Efficient Design. J Med Internet Res. 2021 Oct 11;23(10):e32365.

6 Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen for her support, time and valuable comments she has given me while I was working at the Institute of Occupational, Social and Environmental Medicine. I especially profited from her expertise in guantitative research methods and in technology acceptance research. Furthermore, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Adrian Loerbroks for his continuous support and supervision of my dissertation. I am very grateful for the time he offered me, his expertise in qualitative research methods and his constructive feedback that he has given me on all parts of my dissertation. Furthermore, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Peter Angerer for giving me the opportunity to conduct my dissertation while working at his institute. Additionally, I would like to thank all the co-authors of the published papers that are included in this dissertation for our effective and valuable collaboration. I also thank the Research Committee of the Faculty of Medicine of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf for supporting my doctoral project in the field of the acceptance facilitation regarding dMHSs under the supervision of Dr. Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen. I dedicate my dissertation to my grandfather, Ottmar Braun, who sadly passed away in November 2022. He motivated me to pursue this academic path and to obtain my doctoral degree. I cannot thank him enough for his unwavering support and I know he would be so proud. Lastly, I would like to thank my husband, Patrick Hüter, for always believing in me, encouraging me and having my back.